

Unicentre CH-1015 Lausanne http://serval.unil.ch

Year : 2012

THE CXCR7/CXCR4/CXCL12 AXIS IN HUMAN NEUROBLASTOMA: INVOLVEMENT IN MALIGNANT PROGRESSION

Julie Liberman

Julie Liberman, 2012, The CXCR7/CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in human neuroblastoma: involvement in malignant progression

Originally published at : Thesis, University of Lausanne

Posted at the University of Lausanne Open Archive. http://serval.unil.ch

Droits d'auteur

L'Université de Lausanne attire expressément l'attention des utilisateurs sur le fait que tous les documents publiés dans l'Archive SERVAL sont protégés par le droit d'auteur, conformément à la loi fédérale sur le droit d'auteur et les droits voisins (LDA). A ce titre, il est indispensable d'obtenir le consentement préalable de l'auteur et/ou de l'éditeur avant toute utilisation d'une oeuvre ou d'une partie d'une oeuvre ne relevant pas d'une utilisation à des fins personnelles au sens de la LDA (art. 19, al. 1 lettre a). A défaut, tout contrevenant s'expose aux sanctions prévues par cette loi. Nous déclinons toute responsabilité en la matière.

Copyright

The University of Lausanne expressly draws the attention of users to the fact that all documents published in the SERVAL Archive are protected by copyright in accordance with federal law on copyright and similar rights (LDA). Accordingly it is indispensable to obtain prior consent from the author and/or publisher before any use of a work or part of a work for purposes other than personal use within the meaning of LDA (art. 19, para. 1 letter a). Failure to do so will expose offenders to the sanctions laid down by this law. We accept no liability in this respect.



Faculté de biologie et de médecine

Laboratoire d'Oncologie Pédiatrique

THE CXCR7/CXCR4/CXCL12 AXIS IN HUMAN NEUROBLASTOMA: INVOLVEMENT IN MALIGNANT PROGRESSION

Thèse de doctorat ès sciences de la vie (PhD)

présentée à la

Faculté de biologie et de médecine de l'Université de Lausanne

par

Julie LIBERMAN

Master en recherche biologie de l'Ecole Nationale Supérieure de Chimie de Montpellier et de l'Université Montpellier I&II (France)

Jury

Prof. Thierry Pedrazzini (CHUV, UNIL), Président Dr. Nicole Gross (CHUV, UNIL), Directeur de thèse Prof. Sergio Fanconi (CHUV, UNIL), co-Directeur de thèse Dr. Marcus Thelen (IRB), Expert Prof. Curzio Rüegg (UNIFr), Expert

Lausanne 2012

I Université de Lausanne Faculté de biologie et de médecine

Ecole Doctorale Doctorat ès sciences de la vie

Imprimatur

Vu le rapport présenté par le jury d'examen, composé de

| Président | Monsieur | Prof, | Thierry | Pedrazz | ini |
|-----------------------|----------|---------|-----------|---------|-----|
| Directeur de thèse | Madame | Dr N | icole Gi | OSS | |
| Co-directeur de thèse | Monsieur | Prof. 9 | Sergio Fa | anconi | |
| Experts | Monsieur | Prof. | Marcus | Thelen | |
| 2 | Monsieur | Prof. | Curzio | Rüegg | |

le Conseil de Faculté autorise l'impression de la thèse de

Madame Julie Liberman

Master en recherche biologie Université de Montpellier, France

intitulée

THE CXCR7/CXR4/CXCL12 AXIS IN HUMAN NEUROBLASTOMA: INVOLVEMENT IN MALIGNANT PROGRESSION

Lausanne, le 9 mars 2012

pour Le Doyen de la Faculté de Biologie et de Médecine Prof, Thierry Pedrazzini

Table of contents

| Résumé | 9 |
|---|----|
| Summary | 11 |
| Abbreviations | 13 |
| Introduction | 15 |
| Oncogenesis | 15 |
| Tumour microenvironment | |
| Chemokines and their receptors | |
| Chemokine/chemokine receptor axes: complex players in tumorigenesis | 17 |
| The CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in tumorigenesis | 20 |
| The CXCR7 receptor in tumorigenesis | 21 |
| Neuroblastoma: Clinical and biological characterizations | 23 |
| Histology of NB tumours | 25 |
| Clinical prognostic consideration | 26 |
| Genomic and biologic markers in NB | 26 |
| Risk assessment | 28 |
| Neuroblastoma cell lines | 28 |
| Neuroblastoma and chemokines | 29 |
| The CXCR4 and CXCR7 receptors in neuroblastoma | 29 |
| Aims of the project | 33 |
| Materials and methods | 35 |
| Patients and tissue-microarray (TMA) | 35 |
| Cell lines | 36 |
| RNA isolation | |
| Qualitative RT-PCR and semi-quantitative real-time PCR | |
| Plasmid constructs and transduction | 37 |
| Cell surface expression of CXCR7 and CXCR4 by flow cytometry | |
| Immunofluorescence | 39 |
| Differentiation assay | 39 |
| Apoptosis assay | 39 |
| CXCL12 ELISA | 40 |

| | Immunoblotting | 40 |
|---|---|------|
| | ERK 1/2 and Akt phosphorylation | 41 |
| | Cell viability | 41 |
| | Soft agar assay | 42 |
| | Chemotaxis assay | 42 |
| | In vivo studies | 42 |
| | Statistical analyses | 43 |
| R | esults | . 45 |
| | Expression of CXCR7, and its ligand CXCL12 in NB tissues | 45 |
| | CXCR7 is preferentially expressed by mature neural cells in differentiated NB tumours | 47 |
| | CXCR7 is not expressed in the microenvironment of NB tumours and metastases | 52 |
| | CXCL12 is predominantly associated to the vascular and stromal structures of NBs | 52 |
| | Expression of the CXCR7 and CXCR4 receptors in NB cell lines | 55 |
| | CXCR7 and NB differentiation in vitro | 57 |
| | Differentiation of NB cells by treatment with all-trans retinoic acid and bromodeoxyuridine | 57 |
| | Expression of early neuronal and glial differentiation markers | 60 |
| | Expression of CXCR7 upon neuronal and glial differentiation of NB cells in vitro | 61 |
| | Overexpression of the two CXCL12 receptors in NB cell lines | 63 |
| | The CXCR7/CXCL12/CXCL11 and the CXCR4/CXCL12 axes activate ERK 1/2 cascade in NB cell lines | 66 |
| | Akt activation is neither mediated by CXCR4 nor by CXCR7 in NB cell lines | 69 |
| | Impact of CXCR7 on NB growth in a two dimensional (2D) culture system | 71 |
| | CXCR7 alters in vitro NB growth in a three dimensional (3D) environment | 74 |
| | CXCR7 affects CXCR4-mediated NB cell migration in vitro | 75 |
| | CXCR7 impairs in vivo NB growth upon subcutaneous implantation of NB cells | 76 |
| | CXCR7 anti-proliferative effect may not require the presence of CXCL12 in a heterotypic environment | 78 |
| | CXCR7 delays CXCR4-mediated in vivo growth in an orthotopic environment | 79 |
| D | iscussion | . 81 |
| | Background of the study | 81 |
| | Distinct expression patterns for the CXCR7 and CXCR4 receptors in NB tumours | 81 |
| | Differential expression of the two CXCL12 receptors in NB cell lines | 83 |
| | CXCR7 association with NB differentiation | 83 |
| | Individual role of the CXCR7 receptor in NB | 86 |
| | CXCR7 and CXCR4 signaling cascade | 86 |
| | Ligand-dependent role for the CXCR7 receptor in NB growth and chemotaxis | 87 |
| | Opposite ligand-independent functions for the CXCR7 and CXCR4 receptors in NB | 88 |
| | Distinct roles for the two CXCL12 receptors in NB | 89 |

| Impact of CXCR7 on CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated signaling in NB | |
|---|-------------|
| CXCR7, in association with CXCR4, affects ERK 1/2 cascade activation | 89 |
| CXCR7 affects CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated growth promoting effects in vitro | |
| CXCR7 impairs CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated NB chemotaxis | |
| CXCR7 delays CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated growth promoting effects in vivo | |
| Two hypothetic models for the negative regulation of the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis-mediated s | ignaling by |
| CXCR7 in NB | |
| CXCR7 as a ligand scavenger in NB? | |
| Heterodimerization of CXCR7 and CXCR4 in NB cell lines? | |
| Two distinct or combined models? | |
| Conclusion and perspectives | 99 |
| Acknowledgement | 101 |
| References | 103 |
| Annexe: Chemokines and their cognate receptors | 119 |
| CURRICULUM VITAE | 121 |

<u>Résumé</u>

Le neuroblastome (NB) est la tumeur maligne solide extra-crânienne la plus fréquente chez le jeune enfant. L'évolution clinique est très hétérogène, et les NBs de haut risque échappent encore aux traitements les plus agressifs. Diverses études ont montré que les chimiokines et leurs récepteurs, particulièrement l'axe CXCR4/CXCL12, sont impliqués dans la progression tumorale. Dans le NB, l'expression de CXCR4 est corrélée à un pronostic défavorable. De récentes études ont identifié l'expression d'un autre récepteur, CXCR7, présentant une forte affinité pour le ligand CXCL12. Cependant, son implication potentielle dans l'agressivité des NBs reste encore inconnue.

Notre étude a pour objectif d'analyser le rôle de CXCR7 dans le comportement malin du NB, et son influence sur la fonctionnalité de l'axe CXCR4/CXCL12. Les profils d'expression de CXCR7 et CXCL12 ont d'abord été évalués sur un large échantillonnage de tissus de NB, incluant des tissus de tumeurs primaires et de métastases, provenant de 156 patients. CXCL12 est fortement détecté dans les vaisseaux et le stroma des tumeurs. Contrairement à CXCR4, CXCR7 n'est que très faiblement exprimé par les tumeurs indifférenciées. Néanmoins, l'expression de CXCR7 augmente dans les tumeurs matures, et se trouve spécifiquement associée aux cellules neurales différentiées, telles que les cellules ganglionnaires. L'expression de CXCR7 est faiblement détectée dans un nombre réduit de lignées de NB, mais peut-être induite suite à des traitements avec des agents de différenciation *in vitro*.

La surexpression de CXCR7, CXCR4 et une combinaison des deux récepteurs dans les lignées IGR-NB8 et SH-SY5Y a permis l'analyse de leur fonction respective. En réponse à leur ligand commun, chaque récepteur induit l'activation de la voie ERK 1/2, mais pas celle de la voie Akt. Contrairement à CXCR4, l'expression exogène de CXCR7 réduit fortement la prolifération des cellules de NB *in vitro*, et *in vivo* dans un modèle d'injection sous-cutanée de souris immunodéprimées. CXCR7 altère également la migration des cellules induite par l'axe CXCR4/CXCL12. De plus, l'utilisation d'un modèle orthotopique murin a démontré que la croissance tumorale induite par CXCR4 peut être fortement retardée lorsque les deux récepteurs sont co-exprimés dans les cellules de NB. Aucune induction de métastases n'a pu être observée dans ce modèle.

Cette étude a permis d'identifier un profil d'expression opposé et des rôles distincts pour CXCR7 et CXCR4 dans le NB. En effet, contrairement à CXCR4, CXCR7 présente des propriétés non tumorigéniques et peut être associé au processus de différenciation du NB. De plus, nos analyses suggèrent que CXCR7 peut réguler les mécanismes induits par CXCR4. Ces données ouvrent donc de nouvelles perspectives de recherche quant au rôle de l'axe CXCR7/CXCR4/CXCL12 dans la biologie des NBs.

<u>Summary</u>

Neuroblastoma (NB) is a typical childhood and heterogeneous neoplasm for which efficient targeted therapy for high-risk tumours is not yet identified. The chemokine CXCL12, and its receptors CXCR4 and CXCR7 have been involved in tumour progression and dissemination in various cancer models. In the context of NB, CXCR4 expression is associated to undifferentiated tumours and poor prognosis, while the role of CXCR7, the recently identified second CXCL12 receptor, has not yet been elucidated.

In this report, CXCR7 and CXCL12 expression were evaluated using a tissue micro-array (TMA) including 156 primary and 56 metastatic NB tissues. CXCL12 was found to be highly associated to NB vascular and stromal structures. In opposite to the CXCR4 expression pattern, the neural-associated CXCR7 expression was extremely low in undifferentiated tumours, while its expression increased in maturated tissues and was specifically associated to the differentiated neural tumour cells. As determined by RT-PCR, CXCR7 expression was only found in a minority of NB cell lines. Moreover, its expression in two CXCR7-negative NB cell lines was further induce upon treatment with differentiation agents *in vitro*.

The relative roles of the two CXCL12 receptors was further assessed by overexpressing individual CXCR7 or CXCR4 receptors, or a combination of both, in the IGR-NB8 and SH-SY5Y NB cell lines. *In vitro* functional analyses indicated that, in response to their common ligand, both receptors induced activation of ERK 1/2 cascade, but not Akt signaling pathway. CXCR7 strongly reduced *in vitro* growth, in contrast to CXCR4. Sub-cutaneous implantations of CXCR7-expressing NB cells showed that CXCR7 also drastically reduced *in vivo* growth. Moreover, CXCR7 impaired CXCR4-mediated chemotaxis, and altered CXCR4-mediated growth when CXCR4/CXCR7-expressing NB cells were engrafted orthotopically in mouse adrenal gland, a CXCL12-producing environment. In such model, CXCR7 alone, or in association with CXCR4, did not induce NB cell metastatic dissemination.

In conclusion, the CXCL12 receptors, CXCR7 and CXCR4, revealed opposite expression patterns and distinct functional roles in NB. While CXCR4 favours NB growth and chemotaxis, CXCR7 elicits anti-tumorigenic properties and may be associated with NB differentiation. Importantly, CXCR7 may act as a negative modulator of CXCR4 signaling, further opening new research perspectives for the role of the global CXCR7/CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in NB.

Abbreviations

| Akt: | "Ak" transforming |
|----------|---|
| AG: | Adrenal gland |
| BrdU: | Bromodeoxyuridine |
| cAMP: | Cyclic adenosine monophosphate |
| COG: | Children's oncology group |
| CXCR: | CXC receptor |
| CXCL: | CXC ligand |
| DMEM: | Dubelcco's modified eagle's medium |
| DNA: | Deoxyribonucleic acid |
| dNTP: | Desoxyribonucleotides triphosphate |
| ECL: | Enhanced chemiluminescence |
| ECM: | Extracellular matrix |
| EDTA: | Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid |
| EGF: | Epidermal growth factor |
| ERK 1/2: | Extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1 and 2 |
| FACS: | Fluorescence activated cell sorting |
| FCS: | Fetal calf serum |
| GAPDH: | Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase |
| GFP: | Green fluorescent protein |
| GGN: | Ganglioneuroma |
| GGNB: | Ganglioneuroblastoma |
| GPCR: | G protein-coupled receptor |
| H/E: | Haematoxylin/Eosin |
| HPRT1: | Hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase-1 |
| HRP: | Horse radish peroxydase |
| IFN: | Interferon |
| IGR: | Institut Gustave Roussy |
| IGF-1: | Insulin growth factor-1 |
| IL: | Interleukin |
| INSS: | International neuroblastoma staging system |

| I-TAC: | Interferon-inducible T cell chemoattractant |
|----------|---|
| LOH: | Loss of heterozygosity |
| MAPK: | Mitogen-activated protein kinases |
| MS: | Mass screening |
| MTS/PMS: | 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-y1)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4- |
| | sulphophenyl)-2H tetrazolium/ phenazine methosulfate |
| NB : | Neuroblastoma |
| NBnd : | Not differentiated neuroblastoma |
| NSE : | Neuron specific enolase |
| OD : | Optical density |
| PBS : | Phosphate buffer solution |
| PE: | Phycoerythrin |
| PFA: | Paraformaldehyde |
| PI3K: | Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases |
| PT: | Primary tumour |
| RA: | (all-trans) Retinoic acid |
| RNA: | Ribonucleic acid |
| RT: | Room temperature |
| RT-PCR: | Reverse-transcriptase PCR |
| SD: | Standard deviation |
| SDF-1: | Stromal cell-derived factor-1 |
| SDS-PAGE | Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis |
| SEM: | Standard error of the mean |
| SG: | Sympathetic ganglion |
| TBS: | Tris buffer solution |
| TNF-α: | Tumour necrosis factor-α |
| TGF-β: | Transforming growth factor-β |
| UnNB: | Undifferentiated neuroblastoma |
| VEGF: | Vascular endothelial growth factor |

Introduction

Oncogenesis

Oncogenesis or carcinogenesis is literally the creation of cancer. From the last decades, pivotal advances have enriched our understanding of processes by which normal cells are transformed into cancer cells. In particular, cancer research have pointed out "cancer to be a disease involving dynamic changes in the genome" (1). These modifications involve gene mutations, which ultimately reprogram a normal cell to undergo uncontrolled cell division and deregulated homeostasis, thus forming a malignant tumour mass. Such mutations may result from the action of endogenous chemical products generated during physiological processes such as cell death, or exogenous factors including chemicals, radiation, and viruses. Moreover, germ-line transmission of already mutated genes also contributes to the occurrence of aggressively growing tumour cells, and may be responsible for rare familial cancer syndromes (2;3). Various types of human cancers, as well as their associated tumour subtypes in specific organs, have been described, revealing a considerable and complex list of cancer cell genotypes. Beyond genetic alterations, a multistep approach has been proposed to characterize human oncogenesis. This model reflects the acquisition of eight essential alterations, the so-called « hallmarks of cancer », that affect normal cell physiology (phenotype) and collectively dictate malignant growth of transformed cells (1;4):

- Sustaining proliferative signaling and evading anti-growth signals,
- Resisting programmed cell death (apoptosis),
- Enabling replicative immortality,
- Deregulating cellular energetics (metabolism),
- Avoiding immune destruction,
- Inducing angiogenesis,
- Activating invasion,
- Inducing metastasis

To date, cancer research has been focusing on either hallmark, with the aim to elucidate new anti-cancer drugs able to prevent cancer formation, or to cure those that already developed.

Tumour microenvironment

Besides the diversity of cancer cell genotypes and phenotypes, the complexity of carcinogenesis lies as well in the fact that a tumour is not just a mass of individual infinitely growing cancer cells, but it is also strikingly linked to its specific surrounding tissues (4). Indeed, tumour environment has recently gained considerable interest, as it has been observed that the tumour and its microenvironment form a functional entity, which continuously evolves as the tumour progresses (5;6). Tumour cells are embedded in a microenvironment which is composed of stromal cells, such as fibroblasts, endothelial cells, infiltrating immune cells, and of non-cellular compartments, including secreted soluble factors and the solid-state structural extracellular matrix (ECM) (7). It has been proposed that tumour cells receive signals from the microenvironment and bilaterally communicate with host stromal cells (8).

During cancer progression, these cellular communications dramatically alter the cellular and molecular composition of a particular tumour microenvironment to support cancer cell proliferation, migration, and invasion (8;9). In particular, it has been recently proposed that anti-tumorigenic functions mediated by immune effector cells, recruited to the tumour site, were downregulated in response to tumour-derived signals (7). Therefore, the constant and mutual exchange of various mitogenic and trophic factors between each cell type within the tumour vicinity, results in a functional interdependence between tumour cells and their microenvironment.

Interestingly, tumour microenvironment may also display both pro- and antitumorigenic properties, thus acting either as a tumour suppressor or enhancer. In particular, host-derived soluble cytokines, such as interferon- γ (IFN- γ), has been proposed to reduce tumour formation by controlling inflammation and immunity (10). On the other hand, tumour cells have been shown to exploit host-derived cytokines, such as tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and interleukin-6 (IL-6), to increase resistance to apoptosis, and to promote or enhance angiogenesis and tumour dissemination (11;12).

The process of tumour dissemination, or metastasis, consists of a long series of sequential, interrelated selective steps that only few cells are able to complete and is tightly link to the tumour microenvironment. Globally, the multistep process of metastasis starts with tumour cell detachment from the primary tumour, followed by invasion of the ECM and surrounding vessels (intravasation), and finally with tumour cell escape from vessel

(extravasation) to invasion of secondary organs (13;14). Accumulated evidences indicate that molecular factors present in the microenvironment of specific secondary organs may influence the implantation, growth and neoangiogenesis of various types of cancer cells, thus increasing aggressive cancer cell invasion potential (metastasis) in those tissues (15-17). For instance, a recent study reported that transient interactions between breast carcinoma cells with normal fibroblasts may increase tumour cell malignancy and expand the tumour cell metastatic capacity, through a transforming growth factor β (TGF- β)-dependent mechanism (18). The acquisition of motility and invasive properties allowing tumour cells to invade adjacent tissues is a key process of tumour dissemination. Importantly, soluble proteins other than growth factors, such as chemokines, secreted by the tumour itself and/or by its environment, have been shown to enhance invasive tumour cell motility potential (19).

Chemokines and their receptors

Chemokines are a super family of chemoattracting, small cytokine-like proteins. Based on the positions of the two conserved cystein residues in their N- termini, chemokines are divided into four families: CC, CXC, CX3C, and C (20-22). The two main families are the CXC and CC chemokines, which interact with seven-transmembrane CXC and CC receptors, respectively (CXCR and CCR, respectively) (23). To date, at least 50 chemokines and 20 chemokine receptors have been identified (22). Chemokines bind with the extracellular domain of their receptors, which comprises the N-terminus and three extracellular loops (24). On the other hand, the chemokine receptor intracellular domain couples with heterotrimeric G proteins which, upon binding of chemokines, mediate biological responses such as cytoskeletal rearrangement, firm integrin-dependent adhesion to endothelial cells and directional migration. Association of chemokine(s) with their corresponding receptor(s) is ubiquitous as some chemokines bind to multiple receptors, while some receptors may recognize multiple chemokine ligands (Annexe).

Chemokine/chemokine receptor axes: complex players in tumorigenesis

Chemokines and their receptors have been originally described as essential mediators of leukocyte directional migration, particularly during infection and inflammation,

and further emerged as crucial players in all stages of tumour development (19;20;25;26). Both tumour and stromal cells express a large pattern of chemokines/chemokine receptors axes (27;28), suggesting that chemokine receptors, associated to their corresponding chemokine ligands, represent major paracrine/autocrine complex players within the tumour and its microenvironment. For instance, the expression of chemokines, such as CCL5, CXCL1, CXCL3, CXCL8, CXCL10, CXCL12, and their corresponding receptors on tumour cells have been associated with both autocrine and paracrine tumour growth stimulation (27).

The binding of chemokines to their cognate G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) elicits typical cellular responses essential in tumour biology, such as directional migration, through activation of classical mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) or phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases (PI3K) signaling cascades (28;29). In particular, recent studies have shown that tumour cells express patterns of chemokine receptors that "match" chemokines which are specifically expressed in organs to which these cancers commonly metastasize, suggesting that chemokine/chemokine receptor axes may play a pivotal role in determining the metastatic destination of tumour cells (30-34). For instance, the CXCR4/CXCL12 and CCR7/CCL21 axes have been mentioned as essential players in predicting breast cancer cell dissemination to lung and lymph node, respectively (35). In melanoma, the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis was highly associated with pulmonary and liver metastasis formation, whereas the CXCR3/CXCL9, CCR7/CCL21, and CCR10/CCL27 axes were preferentially implicated in lymph node and skin metastases, respectively (36;37).

Beside their implication in promoting tumour growth and dissemination, some chemokine/chemokine receptor axes may be directly or indirectly, via complex interaction with stromal cells or tumour/host-secreted cytokines, involved in tumour angiogenesis (27;38). Angiogenesis is a biological process of new blood vessel formation from pre-existing ones, and is fundamental to many physiological as well as pathological processes, such as tumorigenesis (39;40). The process of angiogenesis is regulated by many angiogenic growth factors and proteins, including the chemokine superfamily. Specific members of the chemokine superfamily can act as pro-angiogenic molecules and support the formation of new blood vessels. For instance, CXCL8 and CCL2 have been proposed as potent mediators of angiogenesis, by enabling survival and proliferation of endothelial cells in tumours (41;42).

The role played by chemokines and their receptors in tumour physiopathology is complex as some chemokines favour tumour growth, dissemination and/or angiogenesis, as

mentioned above, while others may elicit anti-tumour properties. For instance, the chemokine CXCL11 has been shown to elicit anti-tumorigenic property *in vivo*, in the context of lymphoma, by promoting CXCR3-positive immune T cell infiltration to the tumour site (43). In addition, the chemokine CXCL10 was shown to present angiostatic activities, limiting tumour progression (44).

Globally, chemokine-mediated pro-tumorigenic, or inversely anti-tumorigenic effects are part of a complex signaling network involving multiple soluble factors, such as cytokines, which may be specific to the type of tumour and to its microenvironment (Figure 1).



From R.Somasundaram, D. Herlyn/Seminars in Cancer Biology (2009)

Figure 1: Role of chemokines and chemokine receptors in tumorigenesis

Chemokines secreted by tumour cells can induce autocrine tumour growth stimulation by binding to chemokine receptors on tumour cells, can promote angiogenesis by activating endothelial cells, or can attract leukocytes such as dendritic cells (DC), lymphocytes, macrophages (M ϕ) and neutrophils from the periphery to the tumour site. Stromal cells within the tumour, including fibroblasts, DC, lymphocytes, M ϕ and neutrophils, may be activated by tumour cells through cytokines or chemokines secretion. The activated stromal cells may then secrete cytokines (such as TNF- α , TGF- β , IL-1, IL-10) and chemokines (such as CCL2, CXCL8, CXCL12) that can directly or indirectly promote tumour growth (paracrine tumour growth stimulation), angiogenesis, and metastasis. Thus, tumour cell growth stimulation can occur through autocrine and/or paracrine loops. Chemokine receptor-positive tumour cells can migrate toward stromal derived chemokines produced in distant organs (bone marrow, gut, lung, lymph node and skin) resulting in disease progression and metastasis.

The CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in tumorigenesis

CXCL12, also known as stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1), is a homeostatic chemokine that binds to the CXCR4 chemokine receptor. CXCL12 was initially cloned from bone marrow-derived stromal cells and further characterized as a pre-B-cell growthstimulating factor, as recombinant CXCL12 supported the proliferation of a stromal celldependent B-cell line (45). Initial studies reported a pivotal role for the CXCR4 chemokine receptor in the pathogenesis of HIV infection, particularly as a co-receptor for entry of Ttropic (X4) HIV viruses into CD4-positive T cells (46). In parallel, various reports have shown that CXCL12 supports the survival and growth of a variety of normal cell types, such as hematopoietic progenitors and germ cells, and, in association with its receptor CXCR4, regulate migration of leukocytes and hematopoietic progenitors cells in physiological processes (22;47-49). Further investigation clearly showed that the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis plays a pivotal role in hematopoiesis, development, and organization of the immune system (50). Indeed, deletion of either the *cxcl12* or *cxcr4* gene is lethal at a relatively late stage of mouse embryogenesis. In addition, the cxcr4 and cxcl12-deficient mice exhibited common particular phenotypes presenting defects in the cardiovascular, gastrointestinal, central nervous, and in the immune systems (46-49).

CXCL12 is a highly conserved chemokine that has 99% homology between mouse and human, enabling CXCL12 to act across species barriers what further facilitates human CXCL12 chemokine receptor investigation in mouse models.

Once CXCL12 binds to CXCR4, the receptor may form a complex with the G protein subunits, leading to activation of multiple downstream targets (such as MAPK, and Akt effectors), and resulting in part, in inhibition of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) production and intracellular calcium mobilization (22) (Figure 2).



Figure 2 : Ligand-bound CXCR4 signaling.

Binding of CXCL12 to CXCR4 activates G protein subunits (G α ,G β and G γ), leading to inhibition of cAMP production, and activation of calcium (Ca²⁺) flux, MAPK and PI3K/Akt signaling cascades. These signaling pathway activations mediate tumour proliferation, survival and chemotaxis.

In the context of cancer, CXCR4 is the most commonly found chemokine receptor on tumour cells. At least 23 different types of cancer, including breast, ovarian, colon and prostate cancers and melanoma, express a functional axis (28;31). Besides its critical role in tumour cell growth, survival and angiogenesis in multiple cancers, including breast, lung, colon and prostate carcinomas (22), this receptor/ligand pair has been particularly shown to mediate organ-specific cancer cells homing, particularly in CXCL12-producing organs such as liver and bone marrow (22;51;52). Consequently, the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis represents to date a major investigation target in tumorigenesis.

The CXCR7 receptor in tumorigenesis

CXCR4 has long been considered as the unique receptor for CXCL12, and as the only mediator of CXCL12-induced biological effects. However, CXCR7 formerly called RDC1, has been recently identified as an alternate receptor for CXCL12. This new chemokine receptor has been demonstrated to bind with high affinity to CXCL12 and with low affinity to a second chemokine, interferon-inducible T cell chemoattractant (I-TAC; also known as CXCL11). CXCR7 was shown to be expressed on activated endothelial cells, fetal liver cells, T lymphocyte, neuronal cells and on few other cell types (53-56). Moreover, *in vivo* investigation have detailed that *Cxcr7*-mice died in the first week after birth, and mainly presented cardiovascular defects (57-59).

Despite its phylogenetic relation and ligand binding properties, CXCR7 does not mediate typical chemokine responses such as G protein-coupled receptor-mediated calcium mobilization (53;54;60;61). Although coupling of the CXCR7 receptor with G proteins is still under debate (61;62), the possibility that the receptor is able to induce signal transduction is suggested by reports demonstrating MAPK and Akt pathway activation upon CXCR7expressing cell exposure to CXCL12 (63-65). On the other hand, a G protein-independent β arrestin-mediated pathway has been shown to play a pivotal role in the biology of GPCRs (66). Recently, it has been demonstrated that CXCR7 interacts with β -arrestin in a liganddependent manner (67) (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Ligand-bound CXCR7 signaling.

Binding of CXCL12 to CXCR7 activates MAPK, Akt, and β -arrestin-dependent pathways. Whether the CXCL12/CXCR7 axis signals through G protein-mediated pathways is still under debate.

Recent studies particularly identified a specific role for CXCR7 as a CXCL12 scavenger. Indeed, by sequestrating CXCL12, CXCR7 allowed rapid dynamic changes in the ligand distribution and thereby imposed a control of CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated migration (68-71). In addition, CXCR7 was shown to mediate similar function regarding its other chemokine ligand CXCL11 (72) (Annexe). CXCR7 association with T lymphocyte migration, B cell survival, and increased adhesion property of renal progenitor cells into injured renal tissue, was also reported (22;60;73), further arising debate whether CXCR7 functions like a classical GPCR or a decoy receptor.

CXCR7 has been reported to be highly expressed in several tumours, and particularly in the endothelial cells-associated vasculature (22;33;65), suggesting a role in regulating immunity, angiogenesis, and organ-specific metastasis (22). *In vivo* growth assessment in different mouse models revealed a pivotal role for CXCR7 in enhancing growth and neovascularisation of prostate and colon cell-derived tumours, and enabling organ-specific dissemination of breast and lung cancer cells (33;65;74). Moreover, in a human Burkitt's lymphoma cell model, CXCR7 was shown to favour CXCL12-mediated migration of CXCR4/CXCR7-expressing tumour cells into lymph nodes, suggesting that, in association, the two CXCL12 receptors may enhance tumour dissemination (75). Combined CXCR4/CXCR7 expression has been detected in T- and B-cell subsets, endothelial cells, human renal progenitor cells, as well as in primary human tumours and tumour cell lines (53;60;75;76). In human rhabdomyosarcomas, either CXCR7 or CXCR4 receptor was shown to enhance *in vivo* invasive tumour cell potential, suggesting that targeting the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis alone without simultaneous blockage of CXCR7 would be an inefficient strategy for inhibiting CXCL12-mediated pro-metastatic tumour cell responses (77). In addition, CXCR7 receptor expression was proposed to be related with poor prognosis in breast, lung, and pancreatic carcinomas (22).

Neuroblastoma: Clinical and biological characterizations

Among childhood solid tumours, neuroectodermal tumours originate from the multipotent neural crest cells, which are generated in the early embryo and give rise to the central and peripheral nervous systems. Neuroectodermal tumours include several paediatric cancers such as neuroblastomas (NBs), Ewing sarcomas, medulloblastomas, and melanomas (78).

NB accounts for 7 to 10% of all childhood malignancies (79). This neoplasm was shown to recapitulate characteristics and features of its originating pluripotent neural crest cells, with an extensive heterogeneity, pluripotential differentiation and migratory abilities, indicating that NB results from defects in mechanisms that control normal development (80-83). The median age at diagnosis for NB patients is about 18 months, approximately 40% of patients are diagnosed by one year of age, 75% by four years of age and 98% by ten years of age (84). The origin and migration pattern of immature neuroblasts during foetal development explains the multiple anatomic sites where these tumours occur. Tumours may occur in the abdominal cavity (40% adrenal, 25% paraspinal ganglia) or involve other sites (15% thoracic, 5% pelvic, 3% cervical tumours, 12% miscellaneous). Location of NB varies with age of patients, while infants are more likely to have thoracic and cervical tumours, older children more frequently present abdominal NBs (85).

As shown in Figure 4, NB tumours are divided into four different stages according to the International Neuroblastoma Staging System (INSS).



Figure 4: International Neuroblastoma Staging System (INSS) *Stage 1*

- Localized tumour with complete gross excision and/or microscopic residual disease
- Ipsilateral lymph nodes negative for tumour (nodes attached to the primary tumour may be positive for tumour)

Stage 2A

- Localized tumour with incomplete gross resection
- Representative ipsilateral non adherent lymph nodes negative for tumour microscopically

Stage 2B

- Localized tumour and/or complete gross excision, with ipsilateral non adherent lymph nodes positive for tumour
- Enlarged contralateral lymph nodes, which are negative for tumour microscopically

Stage 3

- Unresectable unilateral tumour infiltrating across the midline and/or regional lymph node involvement
- Alternately, localized unilateral tumour with contralateral regional lymph node involvement *Stage 4*

• Any primary tumour with dissemination to distant lymph nodes, bone, bone marrow, liver, skin, and/or other organs (except as defined for stage 4S)

Stage 4S

- Localized primary tumour (as defined for stages 1, 2A, or 2B) with dissemination limited to skin, liver, and/or bone marrow (<10% involvement)
- Limited to infants

Of note, NB classification is in constant evolution as clinical protocols are systematically updated. Although the INSS classification has been redefined in 2007 by the new International Neuroblastoma Risk Group (INRG) classification composed of four NB categories: L1/L2 for localized tumours, M for metastatic disease (stage 4), and MS for stage 4s, the INSS is still a relevant reference.

NB displays a remarkable clinical diversity, ranging from spontaneous regression to fatal progression and dissemination (80;85). A favourable outcome, essentially due to spontaneous maturations and regressions, is generally associated to low stages and localized tumours, and represents 80-90% 3-year event-free survival rate. However, stage 3 (large, progressing tumours) and stage 4 (metastatic tumours) NBs have bad prognosis and are extremely difficult to treat, due to the rapidly progressive, metastatic and drug-resistant disease. Interestingly, the spontaneous regression of NB is often observed in patients under one year-old presenting a stage 4s NB. Thus, stage 4s NB is associated with a good prognosis even if patients presenting a unique and unexplained pattern of metastatic spread limited to bone marrow, liver, and skin. Inversely, patients older than one year with metastatic disease to privileged sites such as bone, bone-marrow and liver, have very severe prognosis; with long-term survival still less than 40% (86;87).

Histology of NB tumours

Histologically, neural crest tumours can be classified as NB, ganglioneuroblastoma (GGNB), and ganglioneuroma (GGN), depending on the degree of maturation/differentiation of the tumour (88). Most of NBs are undifferentiated and small round blue cell ("neuroblast") tumours, characterized by the presence of neuritic processes, neuropil and/or Homer-Wright rosettes (neuroblasts surrounded by eosinophilic neuropil). The typical tumour shows uniform neuroblasts with scant cytoplasm and hyperchromatic nuclei. GGNBs and GGNs show a higher degree of histological differentiation with a predominant stroma and more mature cells (88). The most differentiated form consists in the completely benign GGN which is typically composed of clusters of mature ganglions cells surrounded by a dense stroma of Schwann cells; whereas GGNB is composed of both mature ganglion cells and immature neuroblasts, Schwann cells, and has an intermediate malignant potential.

Because of the presence of different histological components, the pathologist must evaluate the tumour thoroughly; the regions with different gross appearance may demonstrate a different histology. Neuron specific enolase (NSE), neurofilament protein (NF), chromogranin, synaptophysin, glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), and S-100 are known neuroblastic, glial and shwannian markers usually used for immunohistochemical detection of NB, GGNB, and GGN tissues (89).

Shimada and colleagues have developed a classification system based on histopathological features, such as the presence or absence of schwannian stroma, the degree of differentiation, and the mitosis-karyorrhexis index (MKI) (88).

Clinical prognostic consideration

Stage of tumour at time of diagnosis, age of patient, bone marrow involvement, and clearance have been shown to be the most important clinical prognostic factors (91;92). Moreover, NB was found to secrete catecholamine metabolites excreted in urine, thus offering a non invasive diagnostic technique. Mass screening (MS) with the use of specific catecholamine markers was thus considered for alternative screening for NB in infants. Several studies have been performed for the relevance of MS in NB, showing that most tumours identified by this method revealed to be tumours with a favourable prognosis. However, MS was not shown to reduce either the disease-related mortality or the yearly numbers of aggressive NBs, and is still under debate whether such technique may be adopted as a relevant clinical prognostic factor (87;93).

Beside clinical consideration, biological features encountered in tumour cells are essential prognostic factors being used for NB risk classification and treatment assignment.

Genomic and biologic markers in NB

Chromosome alterations

During the last 2 decades, the genetic alterations of NB tumours have been explored through a panel of techniques including array-CGH. Many chromosomal abnormalities have been identified in NB, and evaluated to determine their value in assigning prognosis (94-97). NB can be classified into subtypes that are predictive of clinical behaviour based on these patterns of genetic changes. The oncogene *MYCN* amplification, the first genetic alteration described in NB, is observed in 25-30% of cases and is strongly associated to advanced-stage disease and poor outcome. Deletion of the short arm of chromosome 1 is one of the most common chromosomal abnormalities present in NB, and is associated with a high risk of relapse and poor prognosis. The 1p chromosome region likely harbours tumour suppressor genes or genes that control neuroblast differentiation. Deletion of 1p is more common in near-diploid tumours and is associated with a more advanced stage of the disease. Most of

the deletions of 1p are located in the 1p36 area of the chromosome (98-100). The other segmental copy number alterations mainly include deletions of chromosome 1p, 3p, 4p, 9p, 11q, 18q and gain of 1q, 2p and 17q (101-103). Partial 17q gain is frequently observed in primary tumours in association with segmental alterations, whatever MYCN status. The recurrent segmental alterations are thought to lead to the loss of putative tumour suppressor genes and/or to the gain of oncogenes (104;105). The expression profiles of these regions, where genetic alterations occur, suggest some candidate genes involved in NB progression (106;107). Tumours from the youngest patients with lower stages of the disease are often hyperdiploid or near-triploid, and numerical chromosomal alterations without structural rearrangements are associated with a favourable outcome (108-110).

Molecular markers

Abnormal patterns of expression for some molecular markers can also distinguish different NB clinical groups. It has been proposed that the three neurotrophin TrkA, TrkB, and TrkC receptors (encoded by *NTRK1*, *NTRK2* and *NTRK3*, respectively) and their ligands nerve growth factor (NGF), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), and neurotrophin-3 (NT3), respectively, are important regulators of survival, growth, and differentiation of neural cells (87). Indeed, the TrkA/NGF signaling have been associated to NB differentiation, while the TrkB/BDNF autocrine pathway has been proposed to contribute to either enhanced angiogenesis and drug resistance (111-114). Interestingly, *NTRK1* gene expression is correlated with lower stage disease and absence of *MYCN*-amplification (115;116), while the expression of *NTRK2* gene is strongly associated with *MYCN*-amplified tumours.

Other biological markers have been identified and associated with NB poor prognosis include the increase of the multidrug resistance 1 transporter (MDR1), the multidrug resistance-related protein (MRP), high telomerase activity, as well as the lack of expression of glycoprotein CD44 on the tumour cell surface (117-123).

More recently, studies have implicated various activating *anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK)* gene mutations in both familial and sporadic cases of NB. Importantly, somatic *ALK* mutations have been associated with NB aggressive forms. The protein product of *ALK* is a tyrosine kinase, an enzyme that regulates the activity of other proteins through phosphorylation. Abnormal activity of the ALK protein has been implicated in other various solid tumours, including non-small-cell lung cancers (124-127).

<u>Risk assessment</u>

Using both clinical and biological criteria, low, intermediate, and high-risk groups have been defined to adapt patient treatment strategies. In the Children's Oncology Group (COG), riskgroup assignment is currently based on INSS stage, age of the patient, *MYCN* copy number, tumour cell ploidy, and Shimada tumour histopathology. Low-risk patients have an excellent event-free survival with surgical excision of tumour only, while high-risk patients require treatment with multi-agent chemotherapy, surgery, and radiotherapy, followed by consolidation with high-dose chemotherapy and peripheral blood stem cell rescue.

Neuroblastoma cell lines

The neural crest is a transitory structure of the vertebrate embryo formed by the lateral borders of the neural tube. Multi-potent neural crest cells migrate ventrally and laterally to contribute to a variety of tissues such as the peripheral nervous system, medullary cells of the adrenal gland, calcitonin producing cells of thyroid, pigmented cells, and ectomesenchymal derivatives. Growth and differentiation specific factors encountered by migratory neural crest cells are thought to influence their development and lineage specific differentiation (90).

Most NB cell lines originate from the more aggressive tumours, and present, like their tumour of origin, an important biological heterogeneity. A model has been proposed leading to a classification of established NB cell lines in the three following morphological types: the neuroblastic (N), the flat or substrate adherent (S) and the intermediate (I) types. These distinct variants were proposed to recapitulate the sympathetic nervous systems development from neural crest cells, by reflecting their derivation from multi-potent neural crest precursors. Indeed, N-type cells display properties of embryonic sympathoblasts, whereas S-type cells harbour those of schwannian, glial or melanocytic progenitor cells or ectomesenchymal derivatives. I-type cells are rather classified as morphologically intermediate cells, regarding their potential to differentiate into N- or S-type cells (80;128;129).

Neuroblastoma and chemokines

Over the last years, a multiple number of chemokine receptors such as CCR1, CCR5, CCR6, CCR9, CXCR1, CXCR2, CXCR4, CXCR5, and CXCR6 were found expressed in NB, suggesting that several chemokine/chemokine receptor axes may either contribute to NB progression or inversely, elicit anti-tumorigenic properties (130).

For instance, the chemokine IL-8 (also known as CXCL8) and its receptors (CXCR1 and CXCR2) were proposed to displayed angiogenic properties in NBs, while CCL5 (also known as RANTES) was shown to induce cell death in CCR5-positive NB cells (131;132).

As efficient targeted therapies for high-risk and metastatic NB tumours are not yet identified, various studies have been focused on the identification of chemokines that either promote or inhibit the metastatic spread of NB cells. For instance, studies have reported that CXCR5-positive neuroblastic cells in aggressive tumours might easily disseminate to CXCL13-producing distal sites, such as the bone marrow (133;134). On the other hand, the CXCL13 ligand was also shown to be specifically produced by schwannian stroma in favourable stroma-rich tumours, and was proposed to potentially limit dissemination of CXCR5-expressing neuroblasts to distal sites of metastasis (134). In parallel, a study demonstrated that, although secreted by the bone marrow stroma cells, the CXCL10 chemokine elicited anti-malignancy functions, such a growth and migration inhibitory potentials, through its interaction with a CXCR3-like receptor in NB cells (135).

The CXCR4 and CXCR7 receptors in neuroblastoma

The CXCR4/CXCL12 axis has been largely shown to participate in tumour development and progression. Indeed, reports have proposed a predominant role of the CXCR4 receptor and its ligand CXCL12 in mediating invasion of malignant tumour cells to sites of metastasis in several cancer models (31).

In NB, the CXCR4 receptor expression was shown to correlate with poor prognosis, thus warranting its implication in the aggressive behaviour of NB tumours (136-138). Moreover, Nevo *et al.* reported that NB cells highly expressing CXCR4, have a different profile of metastasis-associated gene products than cells expressing low levels of this receptor (139). Indeed, high CXCR4-positive NB cells were shown to differentially express genes that are known to enhance tumour progression, such as the oncogene c-kit receptor,

previously reported to increase NB cell proliferation in vitro (140), as well as the IL-8 chemokine and the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), two known angiogenic factors (141). Nonetheless, the specific involvement of the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in cell invasion is still under debate. Even though the receptor CXCR4 has been previously demonstrated as an essential mediator of aggressive NB cell dissemination to the CXCL12-producing bone marrow (138), contradicting reports have been published on the relative contribution of the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in NB invasion (137;142-145). Moreover, CXCR4 was found on either metastatic stage 4 and non-metastatic stage 3 NB tumours, further supporting a more general and complex role of the receptor in advanced stage disease (137). By using in vivo growth and metastasis assessment in an orthotopic NB mouse model (146), we previously showed that CXCR4 strongly increased growth of primary tumours and liver metastases, without altering the frequency or the localisation of metastases (137). Our data thus pointed to a predominant and tumour type-specific growth-promoting influence of CXCR4 in NB. High levels of CXCL12 were detected in the adrenal gland (primary tumour site), as in the liver (preferred site of metastasis), suggesting an essential and paracrine role for CXCL12 in increasing NB tumour growth and survival. These observations strengthened a pivotal role for CXCR4 in NB growth and underlined the impact of a CXCL12-producing microenvironment on NB tumour cell behaviour. However, the mechanisms by which the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis influences NB tumour growth are yet to be identified and may strongly depend on complex signals from the microenvironment.

The identification of CXCR7, as a second receptor for CXCL12, has added considerable complexity and also new perspectives for the implication of the CXCR4/CXL12 axis in tumour biology. The contribution of CXCR7 in tumour progression and dissemination has already been proposed in different tumour systems (22).

In addition, a very recent study reported that CXCR7 was expressed in some NB cell lines and that the receptor might enhance NB migration *in vitro* in presence of CXCL12producing mesenchymal cells (147). Moreover, this study reported a higher *CXCR7* gene expression in NB tumours (from 19 patients) as compared to control neuronal tissues. As a relevant player in NB pathogenesis, CXCR7 expression in larger panel of NB tissues and its contribution to NB progression should be further elucidated.

Importantly, CXCR7 and CXCR4 share a common ligand, CXCL12 which elicits higher affinity to the newly discovered CXCR7 receptor than to CXCR4 (53). Moreover, several evidences suggest that the two CXCL12 receptors may interact to enhance tumour progression. Consequently, investigating the functional impact of the CXCL12/CXCR7 axis on CXCR4 functionality in NB might help to gain further insight into NB pathogenesis, and more precisely into the particular and atypical role of CXCR4 in NB.

Aims of the project

The CXCR4/CXCL12 axis may have a crucial role in conferring aggressive behaviour to many types of cancer, especially in the context of NB. Nonetheless, the specific involvement of the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in NB cell proliferation, survival, and invasion is still under debate. The recent identification of CXCR7, as a second CXCL12 high affinity receptor, has shed a new light on the role of the CXCR4/CXL12 axis in tumour biology. As several hypotheses on CXCR7 function(s) and possible interactions between the two CXCL12 receptors have been proposed in different tumour systems, research is now focusing on the roles and relationships between these two very closely related receptors. As few investigations on CXCR7 have been reported so far in NB, it appears essential to explore, not only the individual role of CXCR7, but also to address the global CXCL12/CXCR4/CXCR7 system that may confer malignant behaviour to NB.

Therefore, the present project aims at exploring the functional role and signaling networks mediated by CXCR7, and its impact on the CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated signaling in NB.

We first investigated the expression of CXCR7 and CXCL12 in a large panel of NB tissues by using tissue-microarray technology. Then, individual CXCR7, CXCR4, and a combination of the two receptors were ectopically expressed in two NB cell lines, and the resulting *in vitro* growth, survival and migration properties of CXCR7 or/and CXCR4-expressing NB cells were explored. Proliferative and invasive capacities of these transduced cells were further evaluated *in vivo*, by using either heterotypic or orthotopic NB mouse models.

Materials and methods

Patients and tissue-microarray (TMA)

The TMA is composed of tumour samples from 156 patients with neuroblastic tumours treated and followed in four clinical centers: Bicêtre hospital and Gustave Roussy Institute (Villejuif, France), the American Hospital (Reims, France), CHU Sainte Justine (Montréal, Canada), and Shiga University hospital (Otsu, Japan). These patients were diagnosed between July 1988 and April 2002. On average, four tissue cylinders with a 0.6 mm diameter were obtained and transferred into a recipient paraffin block using a manual tissue arrayer (Alphelys, Plaisir, France) at the Institut Gustave Roussy, France. NB samples consisted of 156 primary tumours, 56 metastases (48 lymph nodes, 6 hepatic and 2 cutaneous metastases) and 65 controls (50 adrenal glands and 15 sympathetic ganglia). Clinical parameters of the patients and associated tumours are detailed in Table 1 (p46). Immunohistochemical study on patient tissues was performed after patients' informed consent and according to the ethical regulations of the institution. All Immunohistochemical procedures on TMA tissues were carried out at the Institute of Pathology of Lausanne. 5-μm sections of the TMA blocks were deparaffinated in a xylol bath for 10 min, rinsed with xylol, rehydrated by transfers in alcohol baths for 5 min with decreasing concentration (100%, 95%, 70%, and 40%), and finally in H_20 . Then, sections were washed for 5 min in 3% H_2O_2 to inhibit endogenous peroxydase. For antigen retrieval, slides were incubated in a cooking-pot with a Tris-EDTA buffer pH 9.0 for 1 min and 30 sec as soon as the steamer is under pressure. They were then incubated with the monoclonal mouse anti-human CXCL12 antibody (clone 79018, R&D systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) and the monoclonal mouse anti-human CXCR7 antibody (clone 9C4, kind gift from Pr. M. Thelen, IRB, Bellinzona, Switzerland) in Dako REAL[™] antibody diluent (Dako), overnight at 4°C. Incubation with secondary antibody was performed using EnVision[™] HRP-antibodies (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark) for 30 min, followed by treatment with 100 μ l DAB (Dako) at 1/50 dilution for 8 min. Slides were then incubated in hematoxylin bath for 10 s, and then dehydrated in baths with increasing alcohol concentration (70%, 95%, and 100%), and finally in xylol. Washes between each step were done in TBS pH 7.6. Slides were mounted using Eukitt Mounting Medium (EMS, Hatfield, PA, USA). Immunostaining scores (0-4) were established for each stained tissue by semi-
quantitative optical analysis by two independent investigators, blinded for clinical data, at the Institute of Pathology of Montreal. The percentage of positive cells in each sample was scored as follows: 0, all cells negative ; 1+, up to 25% of cells were positive ; 2+, 26% to 50% ; 3+, 51% to 75% ; 4+, more than 75%.

Cell lines

Two main cell lines were used in this study: the IGR-NB8 and the SH-SY5Y N-type NB cell lines (90). The IGR-NB8 cell line is derived from a xenotransplanted human stage 3 abdominal NB. IGR-NB8 xenograft and cell line are para-diploid with 1p36 LOH and *MYCN* amplification. The SH-SY5Y cell line originates from the SK-N-SH cell line which derives from highly involved bone marrow of a 4-year-old girl with stage 4 NB and exhibits *MYCN* single copy. Other well-characterized cell lines used in this study include the N-type IGR-N91, IMR-32, SK-N-SH, LAN-1, SJNB-12, GI-M-EN, and CLB-Ber-Lud2; the I-type SK-N-BE(2c), SH-IN and LAN-5; and the S-type SK-N-AS and SH-EP NB cell lines (90); the SW480 colon cancer cell line (148); the PC-3 prostate cancer cell line (149); and the breast cancer cell line MCF-7 (53). Unless specified, all cell lines were cultured in Dubelcco's modified Eagle's medium (D-MEM) (Gibco, Paisley, UK), supplemented with 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Gibco) and 10% heat inactivated Foetal Calf Serum (FCS) (Sigma-Aldrich, S^t Louis, MO, USA), and under standard culture conditions in a humidified incubator at 37°C with 5% CO₂.

RNA isolation

1 µg of total RNA was extracted from cell lines using the RNeasy Mini kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany), and reverse-transcribed using PrimeScript[™] RT reagent Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (TAKARA Bio Inc., Shiga, Japan). The quality of each RNA sample was verified by a Nanodrop (Agilent Technologies).

Qualitative RT-PCR and semi-quantitative real-time PCR

CXCR4 and *CXCR7* mRNAs relative expressions were measured in cell lines by qualitative RT-PCR (standard) and semi-quantitative real-time PCR.

For standard procedure, 1 μ l of cDNA was added to 5 U/ μ l GoTaq[®] Hot Start Polymerase (Promega, Madison, MI, USA), specific buffer, 0.2 mM dNTPs and 1 μ M specific primer pairs. The PCR reaction consisted of 2 min at 95°C, followed by 30 cycles of 30 s at 95°C, 30 s at

60°C, and 30 s at 72°C, with a final extension step of 5 min at 72°C. For CXCR3 detection, 35 cycles were processed with a 30 s annealing step at 58°C as described elsewhere (150). To visualize the amplification products, RT-PCR reactions were loaded on 2% agarose gels.

Real-time PCR was performed using the ABI PRISM 7900 HT real-time PCR system (Applied Biosystem) with SYBR Green[©] detection (Qiagen). The expression levels of *CXCR4* and *CXCR7* transcripts for each sample were calculated relatively to the level of the housekeeping gene *HPRTI*. The $\Delta\Delta C_t$ method was used to evaluate the relative gene expression. PCR program corresponded to: 2 min at 50°C for stabilization, 5 min at 95°C for SYBR activation, 40 cycles of three repeated steps of amplification (10 s at 95°C, 30 s at 60°C, 15 s at 95°C). Human-specific pairs of primers :

CXCR7 (5'-TGGGCTTTGCCGTTCCCTTC-3' and 5'-TCTTCCGGCTGCTGTGCTTC-3'), *CXCR4* (5'-TATCTGTGACCGCTTCTACC-3' and 5'-GCAGGACAGGATGACAATAC-3'), *CXCR3* (5'-TGCCAATACAACTTCCCACA-3' and 5'-CGGAACTTGACCCCTACAAA-3'), *GAPDH* (5'-AGATCATCAGCAATGCCTCC-3' and 5'-GTGGCAGTGATGGCATGGAC-3'), *HPRT1* (5'-TGACACTGGCAAAACAATGCA-3' and 5'-GGTCCTTTTCACCAGCAAGCT-3').

Plasmid constructs and transduction

The complete coding sequence of *CXCR7* (1.089 kb) was amplified by PCR from a pcDNA3 plasmid containing *CXCR7* (kindly provided by Prof. Marcus Thelen, Bellinzona) using 5' and 3' primers containing *Xhol* and *EcoRl* sites as follows: sense: 5'-GCGC<u>CTCGAG</u>ATGGATCTGCA-TCTCTTCGACTACT-3'; antisense: 5'-GCGC<u>GAATTC</u>TCATTTGGTGCTCTGCTCCA-3'. The amplified cDNA was subcloned into the pMigr vector (kind gift from F. Louache, Institut Gustave Roussy, Villejuif, France) containing IRES-EGFP sequence. The pMigr plasmid containing complete coding region of *CXCR4* (1.1 kb) was already used and described elsewhere (137;146). CXCR7 and CXCR4 expression in vectors were verified by DNA sequencing.

The pMigr-EGFP vectors encoding for EGFP with or without *CXCR4* or *CXCR7* genes was inserted by retroviral-mediated infection into IGR-NB8 and SH-SY5Y cells. For the transfection of the two receptor in the IGR-NB8 cell line, the pMigr-CXCR7 vector was inserted into NB8 cells, preliminary transduced with the pMigr-CXCR4 vector.

The day before transduction, 2×10^{6} 293T cells were plated on 6-well plates in DMEM, 10% FCS. 250 µl of a DNA solution containing 10 µg of pMIGR vector, 20 µg of pHit60 and 2.5 µg

of pCG, was mixed with 250 μ l CaCl₂ 0.5 M, and incubated at room temperature (RT) for 10 min. The CaCl₂/DNA mix was added to a HBS buffer pH 7.1 (280 mM NaCl, 10 mM KCl, 1.5 mM Na₂HPO4-2H₂O, 12 mM Glucose, 50 mM HEPES), incubated for 15 min at RT, and then added onto 293T cells. Cells were incubated at 37°C for 16 h. Viral medium was replaced by fresh culture medium containing 10 mM sodium butyrate (Sigma). After 8 h incubation at 37°C, transfection medium was then replaced by fresh DMEM/10% FCS and cells were incubated again for 20 h at 37°C. Viral supernatant was harvested, supplemented with 8 μ g/ml polybrene (Sigma, S^t Louis, MO, USA), filtrated through a 0.45 μ m filter (Milian SA, Geneva, Switzerland) and added to NB cells, preliminary seeded in a 6-well plate the day before, at a density of 2×10⁵ cell per well. After 20 h incubation of NB cells at 37°C, viral supernatant was replaced by fresh DMEM/10% FCS. This step was repeated every 48 h for at least two weeks. Infection efficiency was then evaluated by fluorescence-activated cell sorting for green fluorescent protein (GFP) expression using the FACS ArialTM cell sorter (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA).

Cell surface expression of CXCR7 and CXCR4 by flow cytometry

For CXCR4 cell surface detection, NB cells were collected, washed in FACS buffer (PBS supplemented with 0.5% BSA and 2 mM EDTA), and stained with phycoerythrin(PE)-labelled monoclonal mouse anti-human CXCR4 antibody (clone 12G5, BD Pharmingen, San Jose, CA, USA) for 20 min at 4°C. Cells were then washed three times in FACS buffer and analyzed by FACScan (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA). For the detection of CXCR7 expression levels, cells were collected with 0.02% EDTA in PBS pH 7.2, washed once with PBS, blocked 20 min at 4°C with 10% goat serum (Sigma) in PBS, and then incubated 1 h at 4°C with the monoclonal mouse anti-human CXCR7 antibody clone 9C4 (kind gift of Dr. Marcus Thelen, Bellinzona, Switzerland), diluted in PBS containing 1% goat serum. Then, cells were washed with PBS prior to incubation with Alexa Fluor[®] 647-labelled secondary antibody (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) for 20 min at 4°C in PBS supplemented with 1% goat serum. Cells were washed three times in PBS before analyses. For each condition, a total of 10⁴ events were analysed.

Immunofluorescence

10⁵ cells were plated in Lab-Tek^R Chamber Slide[™] System (Nunc, Ny, USA), 48 h before immunofluorescence analysis. Cells were processed as previously described (63). Briefly, cells were washed twice with PBS, fixed in 4% PFA (Fluka, Buchs, Switzerland) for 10 min at room temperature (RT), and then permeabilized with SAP buffer (0.1% saponin (sigma)-0.05%NaN₃ in PBS) for 15 min at RT. Cells were washed twice with SAP buffer before 20 min blocking at RT in SAP buffer supplemented with 10% goat serum (Sigma). Incubation of fixed cells with anti-CXCR7 (clone 9C4) or anti human β₃-tubulin antibodies (clone 2G10, Sigma-Aldrich, S^t Louis, MO, USA) in SAP buffer supplemented with 1.5% goat serum (dilution: 1/100 and 1/1000 respectively) was performed. Then, cells were washed three times in SAP buffer, and incubated for 30 min at RT with Cy3-conjugated secondary antibody (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, West Grove, PA, USA). DAPI (Sigma) was added for nuclear staining, and Slides were mounted using DAKO[°] Fluorescent mounting medium (Dako, Carpinteria, CA, USA). Imaging was performed using a camera DFC345 FX (Leica Microsystems Schweiz AG, Switzerland) and analysed with the Leica Application Suite (LAS) software.

Differentiation assay

In vitro neuronal or glial differentiation assays was performed by treating NB cells with All-Trans Retinoic Acid (RA) or Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU), respectively, as previously described (151-153). RA (Sigma, S^t Louis, USA) was dissolved in DMSO to a concentration of 3.5 mg/ml and stored in light protected vials at -20°C. Aliquots of stock solution were freshly thawed for each experiment and diluted in DMEM, 10% FCS. NB cells were plated 24 h before treatment with either 10 μ M RA or BrdU. Untreated cells or cells cultured in DMSO were used as controls. Treated and untreated cells, as well as supernatants, were collected at day 3, 7, 14, and 30 for RNA, protein extractions and CXCL12 ELISA assay. Medium containing each differentiating agent was renewed every three days.

Apoptosis assay

Cells were harvested by trypsinization, washed twice with ice-cold PBS, resuspended in 1 ml of ice-cold PBS, and fixed with 3 ml of 100% ice-cold ethanol for 1 h at 4°C. For staining with propidium iodide (PI) (Sigma), cells were washed twice in ice-cold PBS and incubated for at

least 30 min at RT in 0.2 ml of PBS containing 200 μ g/ml RNase A and 10 μ g/ml PI. The stained cells were analyzed using a FACScan flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson). In parallel, NB cells were treated for 48h with 1 μ g/ml Doxorubicin (Sigma) as positive control.

CXCL12 ELISA

Supernatant of cultured NB cell was harvested and filtrated through a 0.45 µm filter (Milian SA, Geneva, Switzerland), to quantify the release of the ligand CXCL12 by NB cell lines. The CXCL12 production was measured as well in NB cell lines, normal mouse adrenal gland tissue, and sub-cutaneous xenografts. Cultured NB cells were washed once with PBS pH 7.2 and suspended in 400 µl lysis buffer (Sigma), supplemented with a protease inhibitor cocktail (Complete mini, EDTA-free, Roche, Mannheim, Germany). Snap frozen tumours and mouse tissues were cut in small pieces and suspended in the above described lysis buffer. Sonication for 30 s followed by centrifugation for 15 min at 20'000 g were performed. Total protein amount was quantified using the Bradford method (Biorad Laboratories, Richmond, CA, USA). CXCL12 extra- and intra-cellular levels were measured using an ELISA kit (R&D Systems, Minnesota, MN, USA) in triplicates according to the manufacturer's guide.

Immunoblotting

Cultured cells were harvested by trypsinization, washed once with PBS pH 7.2, and then suspended in 30 µl of Lysis buffer (Sigma), supplemented with a protease inhibitor cocktail (Complete mini, EDTA-free, Roche, Mannheim, Germany). Cell extracts were then agitated for 15 min at 4°C and centrifugated at 20'000 g for 10 min. Total protein amount was quantified using the Bradford method (Biorad Laboratories, Richmond, CA, USA). Protein extracts (25–50 µg) were loaded on 10% SDS-PAGE and transferred on nitrocellulose membranes. Blots were saturated with 5% milk, 0.1 % Tween 20 in TBS and revealed using the polyclonal rabbit anti-human enolase-2 (Cell Signaling) at a dilution of 1/1000, and the monoclonal mouse anti-human vimentin (clone RV202, GeneTex®, Irvine, CA, USA) at a dilution of 1/500. Binding of the first antibody was revealed by incubation with either goat anti-mouse IgG (Jackson ImmunoResearch) or goat anti-rabbit IgG (Nordic Immunological Laboratories). Bound antibodies were detected using the Lumi-light western blotting substrate (Roche) according manufacturer's instructions.

ERK 1/2 and Akt phosphorylation

Following overnight serum starvation, cells were either unstimulated or stimulated with 100 ng/ml human recombinant CXCL12 or CXCL11 (PeproTech, Rocky Hill, NJ, USA) for indicated time, or pre-treated with 1 µM of the specific CXCR4 blocker 4F-benzoyl TN14003 (kind gift of N.Fujii, Kyto, Japan) prior to ligand stimulation. Cells were washed once in cold PBS and then lysed by the addition of 200 μ l 4x concentrated sample buffer (250 mM Tris-HCl at pH 6.8, 10% SDS, 40% Glycerol, 16% β-mercaptoethanol, 0.04% Bromo-phenol-blue). Lysates were sonicated for 15 s in cold water to shear DNA and reduce sample viscosity, and heated at 95°C for 5 min to denaturate proteins. Diluted samples were separated on SDS-PAGE gels, and then transferred to Immobilon-P membranes (Millipore, Volketswil, Switzerland). Membranes were sequentially blocked for 1 h in TBS-Tween 0.01% containing 2% ECL Advance[™] Blocking Agent (Amersham[™] ECL Advance[™] Western Blotting Detection Kit, GE Healthcare, Buckinghamshire, UK) at RT, incubated overnight at 4°C with the phosphop44/42 MAPK (thr202/Tyr204) or Phospho-Akt (Ser 473) antibodies (Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA, USA) followed by 30 min incubation with HRP-labelled rabbit secondary antibody (Dako) at RT. The ECL system (GE Healthcare, Buckinghamshire, UK) was used for detection. The first antibody was removed by incubation of the membrane for 20 min at 50°C in a stripping solution containing 2% SDS, 65.5 mM Tris-HCL pH 6.8, and 100 mM β-mercaptoethanol. Membranes were then blocked and probed with the antibodies against total p44/42 MAPK or total Akt (Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA, USA) for 1 h at RT followed by 30 min incubation with the secondary antibody and proteins were revelated using the ECL system. When stipulated, cells were treated with 10 ng/ml recombinant human IGF-1 (PrepoTech) for 1 h, or 50 ng/ml recombinant human EGF (R&D Systems) for 5 min as positive controls for AKT or ERK 1/2 cascade activation, respectively (154;155).

Cell viability

10⁴ cells in 100 μl DMEM containing 2% or 10% FCS were plated in triplicates in a 96-well plate (Corning Inc, Corning, NY, USA). Cell viability after 0, 24, 48, 72 and 96 h was assessed using the MTS/PMS cell proliferation kit (Promega) according to the manufacturer's protocol. When specified, cells were treated with 100 ng/ml CXCL12 or CXCL11 (Peprotech) in 2% FCS. OD was measured using an ELISA reader (Dynatech MRX Microplate Reader,

Dynatech Laboratories, Chantilly, VA, USA). Values were set to an OD 0 as a baseline (time point 0 h).

Soft agar assay

Anchorage-independent colony formation assay, modified from a previously described bioassay of human tumour stem cells (156), was performed using double-layer soft agar in 6-well plates (Corning) with a top layer of 0.175% agar (DifcoTM Agar Noble, BD Biosciences, MA, USA) and a bottom layer of 0.35% agar. Briefly, 5×10^4 NB cells were suspended in 0.175% agar diluted in DMEM/10% FCS, and laid on the top of the supporting agar layer. 100 µl per well of fresh medium were added weekly. When stipulated, fresh medium supplemented with 100 ng/ml CXCL12 was weekly added to the top of the double-layer soft agar. Colonies were allowed to form in an incubator at 37°C for at least two weeks. Colony cell viability was assessed using the MTS/PMS cell proliferation kit (Promega), and viable colonies were counted using light microscopy (Leica Laborluc D).

Chemotaxis assay

Cell migration was measured using Transwell Costar[®] cell culture chambers with polycarbonate filters of 8 μ m porosity (BD Biosciences), as previously described (137). Briefly, 2×10⁵ cells suspended in DMEM/2% FCS were seeded in the upper compartment of the chambers system. The lower compartment was filled with DMEM/2% FCS supplemented or not with 100 ng/ml CXCL12 (PrepoTech). The cells were allowed to settle down for 4 h. After washing with PBS, membranes were fixed for 10 min in 4% PFA (Fluka, Buchs, Switzerland) in PBS at RT. After three washing steps in PBS, membranes were stained with haematoxylin (Polysciences, Warrington, PA, USA) for 3 min at RT. The non-migrated cells were carefully scraped from the upper side of the filter, and migrated cells on the lower side were counted by light microscopy (Leica Laborluc D).

In vivo studies

All animal experiments were carried out with Swiss athymic nude mice (Balb/C nu/nu), in accordance with established guidelines for animal care of the Swiss veterinary services. For surgical and ultrasonic procedures, mice were anaesthetized using isoflurane (Baxter) and received paracetamol as analgesia the day before the surgery.

For heterotypic assays, groups of three mice were subcutaneously injected in the flank with 2×10^5 cells suspended in 200 µl 1:1 mix of DMEM and BD MatrigelTM Basement Membrane Matrix (BD Biosciences, Bedford, MA, USA). The grafted animals were then weekly monitored with calipers for tumour growth assessment. The tumour volume was calculated using the formula: volume = (length×width²)/2. Standard H/E and immunostaining procedures on *s.c* tumours were performed at the Mouse Pathology Facility of Epalinges. To evaluate cell proliferation and vascular structure of tumours, 4 µm-thick paraffin-embedded tissues were incubated with the monoclonal anti-human Ki67 (clone MIB-1, Dako, Carpinteria, CA, USA) at a dilution of 1/50, and the polyclonal anti-human CD31 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) at a dilution of 1/200. Immunostaining was analysed at the Institute of Pathology of Lausanne.

For orthotopic assays, seven animals per cell line were engrafted with NB cells directly in the left adrenal gland, as previously described (137;146). Briefly, the implantation was performed through a midline incision practiced under microscope. A total of 5×10^5 cells in 15 µl DMEM were injected in the adrenal gland using a 22G needle connected to a Hamilton syringe. The abdominal wall and skin were closed with a continuous suture of 4/0 Safil[®] Quick⁺ (B Braun). Tumour take and growth were followed by ultrasound imaging every 10 days at the Lausanne Cardiovascular Assessment Facilities. Macroscopic metastases were assessed by gross examination.

Statistical analyses

TMA analyses were performed using SAS software, version 8.2 (SAS Institute). The Student's t-test was used to assess correlation between the expression of CXCR7 and CXCL12, and clinical data. Event-free survival was computed from the time of surgery of the primary tumour to the time of first event (local relapse, metastasis, or death) or at last follow-up. Overall survival was computed from the time of surgery to the time of death or last follow-up. Differences in survival between patients with a low (inferior to the median score) versus a high (superior to the median score) level of CXCR7 and CXCL12 expression were assessed on a log-rank test, and displayed using the Kaplan-Meier procedure.

For *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments, statistical analyses (Student's t-test, Mann-Whitney test, Two-way ANOVA) were performed using GraphPadPrism 5.0 (GraphPad Software Inc., San

Diego, CA, USA). *p<0.05 was considered to represent significance, **p \leq 0.01 and ***p \leq 0.001 were interpreted to be highly significant.

<u>Results</u>

Expression of CXCR7, and its ligand CXCL12 in NB tissues

There is now a body of evidences that chemokine receptors, associated to their corresponding chemokine ligands, represent major paracrine/autocrine complex players within the tumour and its microenvironment (8). Defining the precise pattern of expression of chemokine/chemokine receptor in NB appears thus essential to elucidate their functional role within the tumour. To that purpose we screened a NB TMA, including a panel of 156 primary NB tumours, 56 metastatic and 65 control normal tissues, such as normal adrenal gland (AG) and normal sympathetic ganglion (SG), for CXCR7 and CXCL12 expression. Clinical parameters of the patients and associated tumours are detailed in Table 1.

Expression of the receptor and its ligand were semi-quantitatively assessed as an immunostaining score (0-4), representing percentage of positive cells, in three distinct cell populations within each tissue sample: neural, endothelial and stromal compartments. Neuroblasts and tumour ganglion cells were included in the neural compartment of NBs, while adrenal medulla and normal ganglion cells represented the neural part of AG and SG, respectively. Fibroblasts in tumours and AG, and Schwann cells in tumours and SG were attributed to the stroma.

| Patient at diagnosis | (N = 156) |
|---|-------------|
| Age (mo) | |
| Median (range) | 26 (0-151) |
| < 12 mo, n (%) | 78 (50) |
| ≥ 12 mo, n (%) | 78 (50) |
| Follow-up (mo) | |
| Median (range) | 101 (1-243) |
| Survival | |
| Alive at time of last follow-up, n (%) | 117 (75) |
| INSS stage | |
| 1, n (%) | 31 (20) |
| 2, n (%) | 19 (12) |
| 3, n (%) | 32 (21) |
| 4 <i>,</i> n (%) | 58 (37) |
| 4S, n (%) | 16 (10) |
| N- <i>myc</i> oncogene analysis | |
| Amplified, n (%) | 19 (14) |
| Non amplified, n (%) | 114 (86) |
| Unknown, n (%) | 23 (14) |
| Children's Oncology Group Risk Classification | |
| Low, n (%) | 54 (35) |
| Intermediate, n (%) | 44 (28) |
| High, n (%) | 58 (37) |
| Neuroblastoma type | |
| Standard, n (%) | 101 (65) |
| Mass screening, n (%) | 55 (35) |
| Sample type | |
| Primary tumour, n | 156 |
| Metastasis, n | 56 |
| Control normal tissues, n | 65 |
| Adrenal Gland, n (%) | 50 (77) |
| Sympathetic ganglion, n (%) | 15 (23) |
| Differentiation Stage | |
| NBnd, n (%) | 130 (83) |
| UnNB, n (%) | 36 (23) |
| GGNB, n (%) | 20 (12) |
| GGN, n (%) | 6 (3) |

Table 1. TMA : clinical characteristics

mo : month

n : number of cases

INSS : International Neuroblastoma Staging System

NB : neuroblastoma

NBnd : not differentiated NB

UnNB : undifferentiated NB

GGNB : ganglioneuroblastoma

GGN : ganglioneuroma

CXCR7 is preferentially expressed by mature neural cells in differentiated NB tumours

As shown in Figure 5A and in Table 2, a low CXCR7 expression (median score of 0.92) was globally observed in neural cells in 76% of primary tumours (PTs), while an even lower staining was measured in the vascular structure, and in the stroma of 33% and 58% of PTs, respectively (median score of 0.15 and 0.48, respectively). Thus, CXCR7 staining, albeit low, was generally localized in the neural compartment of NBs.

No significant variations of the neural CXCR7 expression were noted between NB PTs, metastases and control tissues (median score of 0.92, 0.93 and 0.78, respectively, Table 2).

The neural-associated CXCR7 expression was then further evaluated in different NB tissues regarding their pattern of differentiation. To that extent, we analysed the receptor expression in undifferentiated tumours (UnNBs), in differentiated tumours such as ganglioneuroblastomas (GGNBs) and ganglioneuromas (GGNs), and finally in not differentiated (NBnd) NBs which include all NB tumours except GGNBs and GGNs. Our data first showed that CXCR7 expression was particularly associated to GGNBs and GGNs, as compared to UnNBs (Figure 5B). Moreover, CXCR7 staining was almost restricted to the more mature neural elements of GGNBs and GGNs, such as tumour ganglion cells, while no similar staining was observed in normal ganglion cells in SG tissues. As shown in Figure 5C, the neural-associated CXCR7 staining score was significantly enhanced in NBnd tumours (median score of 0.81±0.43, p<0.05), in GGNB (median score of 0.93±0.65, p<0.05), and in GGN (median score of 0.57±0.37). In addition, all GGN tissues expressed CXCR7 as compared to other tumours. Thus, CXCR7 is preferentially expressed by the more mature elements in differentiated tumours.





(A) Semi-quantitative assessment of CXCR7 expression in the neural, endothelial and stromal cell compartments of NB primary tumours. Columns represent the average of the immunostaining score of each cell compartment. Percentage (%) of chemokine receptor positive tumours indicates the % of positive tissues. (B) Immunohistochemical analysis of CXCR7 in Undifferentiated tumour (UnNB), Ganglioneuroblastoma (GGNB), Ganglioneuroma (GGN) and control normal sympathetic ganglion (SG) tissues. Black arrows represent CXCR7-positive tumour ganglion cells. (C) CXCR7 expression level (median score) in not differentiated tumours (NBnd), UnNBs, differentiated tumour tissues, (D) and in tumours of patient according to the age of patient at diagnosis. Student's t-test: *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

| | Nei | ural cells | | Endot | helial cells | | Stromal cells | | | | |
|----------------------|---------------------------|------------|---------|----------------|--------------|---------|----------------|------------|---------|--|--|
| | Primary tumour Metastasis | | Control | Primary tumour | Metastasis | Control | Primary tumour | Metastasis | Control | | |
| CXCR7 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Positive tissues (%) | 76 | 75 | 63 | 33 | 33 | 26 | 58 | 53 | 24 | | |
| Number of cases | 119 | 42 | 41 | 52 | 19 | 17 | 92 | 30 | 16 | | |
| Median score | 0.92 | 0.93 | 0.78 | 0.15 | 0.18 | 0.14 | 0.48 | 0.45 | 0.2 | | |
| p-value | | ns | ns | | ns | ns | | ns | 0.01 | | |
| CXCL12 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Positive tissues (%) | 77 | 92 | 70 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 98 | 98 | 93 | | |
| Number of cases | 121 | 52 | 46 | 156 | 56 | 65 | 153 | 55 | 61 | | |
| Median score | 0.82 | 1.04 | 0.59 | 3.12 | 3.13 | 3 | 1.97 | 1.93 | 1.98 | | |
| p-value | | 0.02 | 0.01 | 1 1 1 | ns | 0.01 | | ns | ns | | |

Table 2. Expression of CXCR7 and CXCL12 in NB primary tumours, metastases and control tissues

Control represents normal adrenal gland and sympathetic ganglion tissues

Median score means average tumour score, established by semiquantitative analysis of the immunostaining

p-value (Student's t-test) refers to primary tumour. ns : not significant ; p < 0.05 : significant ; $p \le 0.01$: very significant

We next analysed CXCR7 expression in different NB clinical groups (Table 3). The neuroblast-associated CXCR7 expression did not vary between NB stages 1-2 versus 3-4, as well as in NB stages 4 versus 4S (p=0.54 and p=0.07, respectively). Thus, CXCR7 expression in neural compartment of tumours is independent of NB clinical stages. However, the receptor expression significantly increased in tumours from less than 1 year-old patients (p=0.02, Figure 5D). Most children of less than 1 year of age present tumours with the potential to regress spontaneously, or to mature into benign differentiated tumours such as GGNs. Our analyses thus suggest an association of CXCR7 expression with a favourable outcome. *MYCN* oncogene amplification is linked with more aggressive tumours and poor prognosis (85). However, when the MYCN status in NB tumours was considered, no correlation with CXCR7 expression did not correlate with overall nor even-free survival of patients (Figure 6). Therefore, even though CXCR7 is expressed by mature tumour cells in differentiated GGNB and GGN tissues, our TMA analyses did not allow us to assign CXCR7 a statistically significant and favourable prognosis value.

| | Neural cells | | | | | Endothelial cells | | | | | Stromal cells | | | | |
|----------------------|--------------|------|---------------------|---------------------|---------------------|------------------------|------|----------------------|----------------------|----------------------|---------------|------|-----------------------|------|------|
| INSS stage | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 4S | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 4S | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 4S |
| CXCR7 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Positive tumours (%) | 61 | 78 | 87 | 67 | 93 | 41 | 26 | 53 | 43 | 18 | 54 | 52 | 75 | 48 | 50 |
| Number of cases | 19 | 15 | 28 | 39 | 15 | 13 | 5 | 17 | 25 | 3 | 17 | 10 | 24 | 28 | 8 |
| Median score | 0.94 | 1.04 | 0.98 | 0.87 | 0.94 | 0.14 | 0.05 | 0.23 | 0.21 | 0.01 | 0.4 | 0.39 | 0.63 | 0.55 | 0.29 |
| p-value | | 0.5 | 54 ⁽⁺⁾ | | 0.07 ⁽⁻⁾ | 0.208 ⁽⁺⁾ (| | 0.004 ⁽⁻⁾ | 0.001 ^(§) | 0.157 ⁽⁺⁾ | | | 0.0002 ⁽⁻⁾ | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| CXCL12 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Positive tumours (%) | 77 | 89 | 93 | 84 | 87 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 96 | 93 |
| Number of cases | 24 | 17 | 29 | 49 | 14 | 31 | 19 | 32 | 58 | 16 | 31 | 19 | 32 | 56 | 15 |
| Median score | 0.77 | 0.89 | 0.84 | 0.79 | 0.98 | 3.09 | 3.05 | 3.16 | 3.16 | 3.06 | 1.95 | 2.45 | 1.97 | 1.93 | 1.91 |
| p-value | 0.83(+) | | 0.25 ⁽⁻⁾ | 0.14 ⁽⁺⁾ | | | | 0.42 ⁽⁻⁾ | 0.25(+) | | | | 0.99 ⁽⁻⁾ | | |

Table 3. Expression of CXCR7 and CXCL12 in NB clinical groups

INSS : International Neuroblastoma Staging System

Median score means average tumour score, established by semiquantitative analysis of the immunostaining p-value (Student's t-test) : ⁽⁺⁾ represents p-value between stages 1-2 and stages 3-4 ; ⁽⁻⁾ represents p-value between stage 4 and stage 4s ; ^(§) represents p-value between stage 1 and stage 4 ; p < 0.05 (significant); $p \le 0.01$ and $p \le 0.001$ (highly significant)



Figure 6: Survival of patients grouped by NB tumour cell expression of CXCR7. Graphs represent Kaplan-Meier analyses of overall survival (p=0.9) and event-free survival (p=0.83) of patients. All NB tissues were classified regarding their neural-associated pattern of CXCR7 immunostaining score: CXCR7^{inf} represents NB tumours with a CXCR7 score inferior to the median, while CXCR7^{sup} represents NB tumours with a staining score superior to the median.

CXCR7 is not expressed in the microenvironment of NB tumours and metastases

As mentioned above, CXCR7 expression was almost undetectable in the stromal and vascular compartments of NB PTs and metastases (Table 2). Indeed, as all median scores were inferior to 0.5 in NB PTs, metastases and in control normal tissues, no relevant CXCR7 expressions were taken into account (statistical variations in Table 2). Similarly, no relevant variations of receptor expression were observed in the different NB clinical groups (Table 3).

CXCL12 is predominantly associated to the vascular and stromal structures of NBs

In parallel, our TMA analyses revealed that the CXCL12 ligand was strongly expressed in endothelial cells in all PTs (median score of 3.12), and highly associated to the stroma (median score of 1.97), while weakly expressed in the neural compartment (median score of 0.82) in NB PTs (Figure 7A, 7B, Table 2). Thus, these data showed that the CXCR7 ligand is likely associated to the tumour microenvironment.

In particular, tumour endothelial cells expressed higher levels of CXCL12 when compared to normal tissues (p=0.01, Table 2). Although vascular CXCL12 expression was found independent of NB clinical stages (Table 3), it increased in tumours from patients over one year-old (p=0.02, Figure 7C).

In parallel, even though intense basal CXCL12 levels were observed in the stromal compartment of tumours and controls (mean scores of 1.9, Table 2), its expression was

further enhanced in the schwannian stroma of GGNBs and GGNs (albeit not statistically significant probably due to the low number of analysed GGN tissues in our TMA), as compared to stromal elements present in UnNBs (Figure 7D). No particular pattern of stroma-associated CXCL12 expression was noted in the different NB clinical stages (Table 3).

Finally, neural-associated ligand expression, albeit low, enhanced in 92% of metastatic samples as compared to PTs, as well as in 77% of PTs as compared to controls (Table 2). However, it was not correlated with NB clinical (Table 3) nor differentiation stages (data not shown).





(A) Semi-quantitative assessment of CXCL12 expression in the neural, endothelial and stromal cell compartments of NB tissues. Columns represent the average of the CXCL12 immunostaining score in each cell compartment. Percentage (%) of chemokine positive tumours indicates the % of positive tissues. (B) Immunohistochemical analysis of CXCL12 in undifferentiated tumour (UnNB), Ganglioneuroblastoma (GGNB), Ganglioneuroma (GGN) and control normal sympathetic ganglion (SG) tissues. Red arrows represent CXCL12-positive endothelial cells. (C) Ligand expression level (median score) in tumours of patient according to the age of patient at diagnosis, and (D) in not differentiated tumours (NBnd), UnNBs, and differentiated tumour tissues. Student's t-test: *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

Expression of the CXCR7 and CXCR4 receptors in NB cell lines

To corroborate our TMA analyses, we next assessed CXCR7 expression in a panel of well-characterized N-, I- and S-type NB cell lines (90). As illustrated in Figure 8, RT-PCR analyses did not reveal any *CXCR7* expression in all selected I-type NB cell lines (SK-N-Be(2c), LAN-5, SH-IN), while 5/9 N-type cell lines (IGR-N91, LAN-1, IMR-32, CLB-Ber-Lud2, SJN-B12) and 1/2 S-type cell line (SH-EP) expressed the receptor. In contrast, *CXCR4* expression was expressed in almost all selected NB cell lines.



Figure 8: Expression of the CXCL12 receptors in NB cell lines

Qualitative RT-PCR analyses for *CXCR7* and *CXCR4* mRNA expression level in a panel of NB cell lines. *GAPDH* was used as gene of reference. The prostate cancer cell line PC-3 and the breast cancer cell line MCF-7 were used as positive controls for *CXCR7* expression.

As only a minority of NB cell lines expressed *CXCR7*, we further asked whether external stimuli, such as serum deprivation or presence of the ligand CXCL12, could regulate the receptor expression (Figure 9).



Figure 9: Induction of both *CXCR7* and *CXCR4* expression in NB cell lines upon exposure to CXCL12 The IGR- NB8 and SH-SY-5Y NB cell lines were cultured in stressful condition (2% serum) and exposed to 100 ng/ml CXCL12, for indicated time points. (A) Qualitative RT-PCR analyses for *CXCR7* mRNA expression level in the IGR- NB8 and SH-SY-5Y NB cell lines. (B) RT-PCR analyses for *CXCR4* mRNA expression level in the IGR-NB8 and SH-SY-5Y NB cell lines. *GAPDH* was used as gene of reference.

As shown in Figure 9A, *CXCR7* expression was not further induced in the CXCR7negative IGR-NB8 and SH-SY-5Y NB cell lines in either stressful culture condition (2% serum) or in presence of CXCL12. Similar observation was noted when NB cells were exposed to the other CXCR7 ligand, CXCL11 (data not shown). Moreover, no induction of *CXCR4* expression in the CXCR4-negative IGR-NB8 cell line was observed in 2% serum, and in presence of CXCL12 (Figure 9B).

The two CXCL12 receptors seem to be differentially expressed by NB cell lines. To evaluate functional implications of both CXCR7 and CXCR4 receptors, we next quantified and compared CXCR7 and CXCR4 surface expressions in selected RT-PCR-positive NB cells by flow cytometry (Figure 10).



A CXCR7 cell surface expression

128 0% Events SH-SY-5Y SK-N-AS SK-N-SH LAN-5 128 128 28 128 99% 1.6% 93% **99.9**% vents Events



(A) CXCR7 cell surface expression was analysed by flow cytometry. Grey dotted line : cells stained without the primary Ab. Black line : cells stained with anti-CXCR7 antibody clone 9C4. (B) CXCR4 cell surface expression. Grey dotted line: cells stained with PE-conjugated secondary antibody. Black line: cells stained with anti-CXCR7 or CXCR4 positive cells.

Very low cell surface expression of the CXCR7 receptor was detected in most of the selected NB cells, while 25% of IMR-32 cells harboured a moderate CXCR7 cell surface expression (Figure 10A). In addition, heterogeneous CXCR4 surface expression was measured in NB cell lines, for which rather moderate or intense expression levels were detected (Figure 10B), as already described (137;157).

Taken together, our data showed a distinct expression pattern of the two CXCL12 receptors in NB cell lines.

CXCR7 and NB differentiation in vitro

Our TMA and *in vitro* observations showed that the CXCR7 receptor was preferentially expressed in the more mature elements of tumours, and in a minority of NB cell lines. Taken together, these data thus suggest that CXCR7 may be associated to NB cell differentiation.

To further confirm this hypothesis, we performed NB differentiation assay *in vitro*. All-trans retinoic acid (RA) and bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) have been fully characterized as primordial tools to evaluate the *in vitro* capacity of NB cell lines to differentiate towards the neuronal and glial lineages, respectively (151;158-161). As N- and I-type NB cell subtypes were shown to progress towards neuronal and glial fates upon either all-trans retinoic acid (RA) or Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) treatment, respectively (158), the N-type IGR-NB8 and the I-type SK-N-Be(2c) NB cell lines were used in this study.

Differentiation of NB cells by treatment with all-trans retinoic acid and bromodeoxyuridine

The IGR-NB8 and the SK-N-Be(2c) cell lines were exposed to 10 μ M of either RA or BrdU for 30 days. To detect morphological changes in NB cells, we used an antibody directed against β_3 -tubulin (162). NB cell morphology changes appeared as early as 3 days after both RA or BrdU treatment, and persisted during all the differentiation induction experiment (30 days), as previously observed (158) (Figure 11).



Figure 11: Morphological features of NB cells upon RA or BrdU treatment in vitro The IGR-NB8 and the SK-N-Be(2c) cell lines were exposed to 10 μ M all-trans Retinoic Acid (RA) or 10 μ M 5-bromo-2-deoxyuridine (BrdU). Pictures represent immunofluoresence staining of β_3 -tubulin (red) and DAPI (blue). (A) 3 day-treatment of the IGR-NB8 cell line; (B) 3 day-(upper panel) and 30 day-(lower panel) treatment of the SK-N-Be(2c) cell line.

Indeed, RA-treated NB cells elaborated enhanced neuritic processes and proliferated by forming interconnected cell clumps (Figures 11A and 11B). During BrdU treatment, NB cells presented glial-like morphology, with large flat cytoplasm and enhanced adherence capacity to the flask surface, which was fully acquired after 30 days of treatment (Figure 11B). Morphological changes were not detected in the untreated (DMEM, 10%FCS), nor in the DMSO-treated control cell lines.

To further confirm the RA and BrdU-induced differentiation *in vitro*, we assessed the influence of differentiation agents on NB growth and apoptosis (Figure 12).





(A,B) Growth of the SK-N-Be(2c) and the IGR-NB8 cell lines was followed upon treatment with differentiation agents for 96 h. Columns represent OD mean \pm SEM of two independent experiments. (C) Apoptosis was measured by detection of the sub-G₁ apoptotic cell using the PI staining method. Such assay was performed after 7 days of treatment with both 10 μ M RA and BrdU. Treatment of NB cells with 1 μ g/ml doxorubycin (Dox) for 48 h was used as positive control.

As previously described (158), RA enhanced SK-N-Be(2c) cell growth for 72 h, as compared to cells exposed to DMSO, before inducing a growth arrest in those cells at 96 h (Figure 12A). In parallel, the proliferation of IGR-NB8 cells already slowed down after 72 h of RA treatment, as compared to DMSO-treated control cells (Figure 12B). BrdU-treatment induced a reduction of both SK-N-Be(2c) and IGR-NB8 cell growth, as compared to non treated cells.

Then, we evaluated the percentage of apoptotic cells after exposure of NB cells to either RA or BrdU. Doxorubicin (dox) is a cytotoxic drug known to induce NB cell death *in vitro*. As positive control, cells were thus treated in parallel with 1 μ g/ml doxorubicin, which is known to induce apoptosis in approximatively 50% of NB cells (118). A slight induction of

mortality was noted for the SK-N-Be(2c) cell line when treated with RA, which was also reported in a previous study (158), while no effect was observed upon treatment with BrdU, as compared to control cells. None of the treatments induced apoptosis of IGR-NB8 cells (Figure 12C).

Taken together, these data showed that both RA and BrdU treatments affected NB cell growth, without promoting apoptosis, further confirming the *in vitro* RA/BrdU-induced differentiation capacity of NB cells.

Expression of early neuronal and glial differentiation markers

Neurone specific enolase (NSE), also known as enolase-2, and vimentin have been proposed as early markers of neuronal and glial phenotypes, respectively (159;163). Finally, to further characterize the neuronal- and glial-like profile of *in vitro* differentiated NB cells, we evaluated the expression levels of both proteins after 3, 7 and 30 days of RA and BrdU treatments (Figure 13).





As shown in Figure 13 (upper panel), the expression of vimentin in SK-N-Be(2c) cells did not change at day 3, but enhanced at day 7 until day 30 of BrdU treatment, when compared to not treated cells. Inversely, NSE expression in SK-N-Be(2c) cells decreased from

day 7 in presence of BrdU, and was totally abolished after 30 days of treatment. However, RA-induced differentiation did not further enhance NSE expression, due to the already high endogenous protein expression levels in those cells.

The IGR-NB8 cell line expresses high levels of both enolase-2 and vimentin (Figure 13, lower panel). Then, we could not detect any increase in both protein expressions upon RA or BrdU treatment, respectively. Nonetheless, a slight reduced expression of vimentin was observed after 7 and 30 days of RA treatment.

Expression of CXCR7 upon neuronal and glial differentiation of NB cells in vitro

With the aim to evaluate the putative implication/association of the CXCR7 receptor in NB differentiation, we evaluated whether *CXCR7* expression changed upon neuronal and/or glial differentiation of NB cells *in vitro*. As shown in Figure 14, *CXCR7* expression was induced in IGR-NB8 cells after 3 days of RA treatment (p<0.01), whereas its expression was weakly detectable upon BrdU exposure. Similar RA-induced CXCR7 expression pattern was detected in the SK-N-Be(2c) and the SH-SY5Y cell lines (data not shown). These data suggest that *CXCR7* induction, albeit weak, may occur when NB cells undergo neuronal rather than glial differentiation.



Figure 14: Expression level of CXCR7 mRNA upon differentiation of NB8 cells *in vitro* Semi-quantitative real-time PCR analyses of CXCR7 mRNA expression level in the IGR-NB8 cell line

after 3 days of treatment with 10 μ M RA or BrdU. Expression levels of *CXCR7* transcripts were calculated relatively to the level of the housekeeping gene *HPRTI*. The breast cancer cell line MCF-7 was used as positive control for *CXCR7* expression. Columns indicate results in triplicates and were representative of two independent experiments. Error bars indicate S.D. Student's t-test: *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

However, overall induced-receptor expression remained weak, as compared to the *CXCR7* endogenous expression levels in the MCF-7 positive control cell line. Of note, the CXCR7 receptor has been shown to be functional in the MCF-7 cells, particularly in presence of its ligand CXCL12 (164). However, it does not mean that comparable levels of *CXCR7* transcripts are required in NB cells to express a functional receptor. Then, to assess the putative implication of RA-induced *CXCR7* expression, we next measured CXCR7 protein expression in differentiated cells. No CXCR7 expression could be detected during the 30 days of differentiation induction experiment, neither at the surface membrane as assessed by flow cytometry, nor in the intracellular space as measured by immunofluorescence (data not shown).

As detected levels of *CXCR7* expression were low, we asked whether cell culture conditions were adequate to induce receptor expression. Our TMA data showed that CXCL12 was markedly enhanced in the stroma of differentiated tumours (Figure 7D). Consequently, we postulated that a CXCL12-producing environment might favour CXCR7 induction in differentiating NB cells. Induction experiment was thus repeated in presence of the ligand. However, CXCL12 did not further enhanced CXCR7 expression in the SK-N-Be(2c) cell line (Figure 15), nor in the IGR-NB8 cell line (data not shown), after RA treatment.



Figure 15: Expression level of CXCR7 mRNA upon neuronal differentiation of the SK-N-Be(2c) cells in vitro

Real-time PCR analyses of *CXCR7* mRNA expression level in the SK-N-Be(2c) cell line after 3 days of treatment with 10 μ M RA and BrdU, and in presence or in absence of 100 ng/ml CXCL12. Expression levels of *CXCR7* transcripts were calculated relatively to the level of the housekeeping gene *HPRTI*. The breast cancer cell line MCF-7 was used as positive control for *CXCR7* expression. The experiment was performed in triplicates. Error bars indicate S.D. Student's t-test: **p<0.01.

Importantly, these results were not biased by an autocrine production of the ligand, as no CXCL12 was released by NB cells during *in vitro* differentiation treatment (Figure 16).



Figure 16: CXCL12 release upon differentiation of NB cells in vitro

The release of CXCL12 was measured by ELISA in the IGR-NB8 and the SK-N-Be(2c) cell lines after 3 days of treatment with 10 μ M RA or BrdU. A gradient of human recombinant CXCL12 and normal medium corresponding to DMEM+10% FCS were also measured as positive and negative controls respectively. Columns indicate results in triplicates.

Regarding the above results, further investigation will be necessary to determine the putative involvement of CXCR7 in cell maturation and whether it might represent a neural and/or a differentiation marker for NB.

Overexpression of the two CXCL12 receptors in NB cell lines

With the identification of CXCR7, research has focused on interactions between the two CXCL12 receptors. As the functional role of CXCR7 in NB is still elusive, we analyzed the relative contribution of CXCR7 alone, or together with CXCR4 in mediating NB biological functions *in vitro*. In that purpose, we overexpressed CXCR7, CXCR4 or a combination of the two receptors in the CXCR4/CXCR7-negative IGR-NB8 cell line (respectively NB8x7, NB8x4 and NB8x4x7 cell lines). CXCR7 was also ectopically overexpressed in the SH-SY5Y cell line (SHSYx7 cells), which already showed a high CXCR4 endogenous expression (Figure 10B).

Transfection efficiency was analysed by assessing the cell surface and intra-cellular expression of CXCR7 and CXCR4 in transduced cell lines (Figure 17). In parallel, expression

levels of *CXCR7* and *CXCR4* transcripts were measured by semi-quantitative real-time PCR (Figure 18).



Figure 17: Expression of the CXCL12 receptors in NB transduced cell lines

(A) Both NB8pMigr and SHSYpMigr cell lines represented control cells transduced with the pMigr empty vector. Percent of CXCR7 and CXCR4 positive transduced cells, and the mean fluorescent intensity (brackets) for CXCR7 and CXCR4 staining are indicated. Dark and grey lines : cells stained without anti-CXCR7 and anti-CXCR4 Abs, respectively; Green and blue lines: cells stained with anti-CXCR7 and anti-CXCR4 Abs, respectively. (B) Immunofluorescence for CXCR7 expression in the permeabilized NB8 and SHSY transduced cell lines. Control staining represents incubation of cells without the primary antibody.



Figure 18: Semi-quantitative real-time PCR analyses for CXCR7 and CXCR4 expression (A, B) Semi-quantitative real-time PCR analyses for CXCR7 and CXCR4 mRNA expression level, respectively, in the NB8pMigr, CXCR4-expressing NB8x4, CXCR7-expressing NB8x7, and CXCR7/CXCR4-expressing NB8x4x7 cell lines. Expression levels of CXCR7 and CXCR4 transcripts were calculated relatively to the level of the housekeeping gene HPRTI. Experiment was performed in triplicates. Error bars indicate SEM.

CXCR7 was highly expressed at the cell surface of the NB8x7 and the NB8x4x7 cell lines (Figure 17A). Similarly, CXCR4 surface expression was also strongly detected in the NB8x4 and the NB8x4x7 cell lines. In addition, neither *CXCR7* nor *CXCR4* expression was induced in the CXCR4-expressing NB8x4 or in the CXCR7-expressing cell lines, respectively, showing the specificity of receptor transfection (Figure 18).

Interestingly, surface expression of CXCR7 was slightly higher in the NB8x4x7 (mean fluorescent intensity of 60) than in the SHSYx7 cell lines (mean fluorescent intensity of 44), whereas that of CXCR4 was similar in both cell lines (Figure 17A).

Moreover, a reduced CXCR7 surface expression level was detected in the double receptor-positive NB8x4x7 cells (mean fluorescent intensity of 60), as compared to NB8x7 cells (mean fluorescent intensity of 457) (Figure 17A). Intra-cellular CXCR7 staining also decreased in the NB8x4x7 group as compared to the NB8x7 group (Figure 17B). These observations was further confirmed by real-time PCR analyses (Figure 18A), suggesting that the CXCR7 receptor expression might be modulated by a translational control, or affected by transfection process.

In contrast, CXCR4 surface expression was slightly enhanced in the NB8x4x7 cells (mean fluorescent intensity of 47), as compared to NB8x4 cells (mean fluorescent intensity of 33) (Figure 17A). An increase of *CXCR4* mRNA expression was also found by real-time PCR in the NB8x4x7 cells, as compared to NB8x4 cells (Figure 18B).

Taken together, these data suggest a mutual CXCR7 and CXCR4 expression regulation in the NB8x4x7 cell line. Of note, the CXCR4 surface expression was not altered upon ectopic expression of CXCR7 in the CXCR4-positive SHSYx7 cell line (Figure 17A). No alteration of the *CXCR4* endogenous expression was noted in those cells by semi-quantitative real-time PCR analyses (data not shown), suggesting that ectopic CXCR7 expression did not affect CXCR4 endogenous expression in SHSYx7 cells.

The CXCR7/CXCL12/CXCL11 and the CXCR4/CXCL12 axes activate ERK 1/2 cascade in NB cell lines

Extracellular regulated kinases 1 and 2 (ERK 1/2) are known key regulators of pathways involved in the control of growth and survival signals. Several studies strongly link the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis to enhanced NB growth and survival (165), and activation of the ERK 1/2 cascade in response to CXCL12 binding to CXCR4 has been previously reported in NB (137). Although it has been proposed that CXCR7 (alone) does not mediate typical chemokine receptors signals, such as calcium mobilization (61), CXCR7/CXCL12-mediated ERK1/2 activation have been detected in different models (63;64).

Therefore, to assess the functionality of (co-)transduced receptors in NB cells, we first monitored CXCL12-mediated ERK 1/2 phosphorylation in NB transduced cell lines (Figure 19).





Immunobloting of phospho-ERK (pERK) and total ERK (T-ERK) in transduced cells, treated with 100 ng/ml CXCL12, in presence or in absence of the CXCR4 blocker TN14003.

As shown in Figure 19, ERK 1/2 cascade was highly activated in all transduced cells after CXCL12 stimulation. Thus, CXCR7, as CXCR4, was able to activate downstream pathways in response to the CXCL12 ligand. Interestingly, a constant ERK 1/2 activation was maintained until 30 min after CXCL12 stimulation in the NB8x4 cells, whereas a peak of intensity from 5 to 10 min followed by a signal decrease was observed in the NB8x7 and NB8x4x7 cell lines. These data suggest that CXCR7 and CXCR4 may mediate different CXCL12-induced downstream pathways, and that CXCR7 may affect CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated signaling in NB8x4x7 cells.

In addition, ERK 1/2 activation was lost in CXCR4-expressing NB8x4 cells upon addition of the specific CXCR4 inhibitor (TN14003), confirming that this activation was specific to the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in those cells. However, CXCL12-mediated ERK1/2 activation in NB8x4x7 cells was not completely inhibited by TN14003 treatment, suggesting that ERK1/2 activation is partially mediated through CXCR7.

In the SHSYx7 cell line, CXCR7 alone was not able to mediate ERK 1/2 activation, as no signal was detected after addition of the TN14003 inhibitor. However, the receptor slightly weakened the intensity of the CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated ERK 1/2 activation in those cells, as compared to that observed in the SHSYpMigr control cell line.

These data suggest that CXCR7, upon exposure to CXCL12, may not activate ERK 1/2 by its own in SHSYx7 cells in contrast to NB8x4x7 cells, and that the receptor differently affect the *in vitro* CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated ERK 1/2 activation in these two double receptor-positive NB cell lines.

The CXCR7 receptor is also known to bind to another chemokine ligand, CXCL11. Thus, we next addressed the functionality of the receptor by evaluating ERK 1/2 activation in CXCR7-expressing NB transduced cells in presence of CXCL11. As shown in Figure 20, CXCR7 was able to activate ERK 1/2 cascade in the NB8x7 and NB8x4x7 cell lines upon CXCL11 engagement, but not in the CXCR7-expressing SHSYx7 cells. These observations showed that the two CXCR7/CXCR4-expressing SHSYx7 and NB8x4x7 cell lines might differently respond to CXCL11, as observed above after stimulation of these cells with CXCL12.

Interestingly, the CXCL11-induced signaling by CXCR7 was sustained after 30 min of CXCL11 exposure in the NB8x7 cell line, while the signal weakened after 10 min in NB8x4x7 cells. These data suggested that CXCR4 might interfere with CXCR7 response to CXCL11.



Figure 20: CXCL11 mediated ERK 1/2 activation in NB cell lines

Immunobloting of phospho-ERK (pERK) and total ERK (T-ERK) in transduced cells treated with 100 ng/ml CXCL11. Cells were treated with 50 ng/ml EGF for 5 min as positive control for ERK1/2 activation.

Importantly, CXCR7/CXCL11-mediated ERK 1/2 cascade activation was not biased by the presence of the other CXCL11 receptor, CXCR3, as no detectable mRNA expression level of this receptor was noticed in CXCR7-positive cell lines (Figure 21).



Figure 21: Expression of CXCR3 in the CXCR7-positive cell lines Qualitative RT-PCR analyses for CXCR3 mRNA expression level in the NB8, and the SHSY transduced cell lines. *GAPDH* was used as gene of reference.

Akt activation is neither mediated by CXCR4 nor by CXCR7 in NB cell lines

Akt is a downstream effector of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)–dependent signaling cascade. Activation of Akt mediates diverse cellular functions, including cell proliferation, survival, and its signaling network is considered as a key determinant of the biological aggressiveness of tumours (166). In various models, binding of CXCL12 to its receptors CXCR4 and CXCR7 has been previously reported to activate the Akt pathway (22;63-65;165). The PI3K/Akt pathway is thus a potential candidate to transmit CXCR7/CXCL12/CXCL11 and CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated signals in NB. Consequently, we next measured the activation of Akt by phosphorylation, in NB transduced cell lines upon CXCL12 or CXCL11 exposure.

While IGF-1 induced Akt activation in all NB transduced cell lines (Figure 22A), as previously described (154), no phospho-Akt was detected upon stimulation of NB cells with CXCL12, in contrast to the positive control SW480 cell line (Figure 22B). Therefore, neither CXCR4/CXCL12 nor CXCR7/CXCL12 axes were able to signal through the Akt pathway in NB cells.





(A) Immunobloting of phospho-Akt (pAKT) and total Akt (T-AKT) in transduced cells stimulated with either 100 ng/ml CXCL12 at indicated time points, or 10 ng/ml IGF-1 for 1 h. (B) Left panel: CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated Akt activation in the CXCR4-positive SW480 colon cancer cell line. Right panel: flow cytometry analyses of the CXCR4 surface expression in the SW480 cell line. Percent represents CXCR4 positive SW480 cells.

Similarly, no activation of the Akt pathway was detected in any CXCR7-positive NB cells upon CXCL11 stimulation (Figure 23A), in contrast to the positive control PC3 cell line (Figure 23B).



Figure 23: Akt activation unpon stimulation of NB cells with CXCL11

(A) Immunobloting of phospho-Akt (pAKT) and total Akt (T-AKT) in transduced cells treated with either 100 ng/ml CXCL11 or 10 ng/ml IGF-1. (B) CXCR7/CXCL11-mediated AKT activation in the CXCR7-expressing PC-3 prostate cancer cell line (left panel). Immunofluorescence staining for CXCR7 expression in PC-3 cells (right panel); control staining represents incubation of cells without the primary anti-CXCR7 antibody.

Impact of CXCR7 on NB growth in a two dimensional (2D) culture system

As we showed above that the CXCR7/CXCL12 and the CXCR4/CXCL12 axes potentiated ERK 1/2 activation, we next addressed the impact of CXCR7, CXCR4 and the combination of the two receptors in mediating growth of NB cells *in vitro* in absence and in presence of the chemokine ligand.

Ectopic expression of CXCR7 slightly enhanced NB8x7 cell proliferation in 2% serum, as compared to NB8pMigr control cells (p<0.05, Figure 24A). However, CXCR7 did not affect the growth of NB8x7 cells in 10% serum, as compared to NB8pMigr cells. In contrast, CXCR4 highly increased both NB8x4 and NB8x4x7 cell growth in 10% and 2% serum, as compared to control NB8pMigr cells (p<0.001). Interestingly, a slight but significant additive effect (p-value not shown) of CXCR4 and CXCR7 on NB8x4x7 cell growth was noted in either 10% or 2% serum (mean OD value at 96h of 0.41 and 0.19, respectively), as compared to NB8x4 cell
growth in those culture conditions (mean OD value at 96h of 0.36 and 0.14, respectively). Moreover, CXCL12 stimulated growth of CXCR4-expressing NB8x4 and NB8x4x7 cells (p<0.001), but had no impact on CXCR4-non expressing NB8x7 cell growth. Interestingly, an additive growth promoting effect of both receptors in NB8x4x7 cells was also noted in presence of the ligand. Altogether, our data suggest that the CXCR7/CXCL12 axis alone may not mediate *in vitro* NB growth, and that the CXCR7 receptor may further increase the CXCR4-mediated growth promoting effect in such 2D culture system.

In parallel, CXCR7 did not influence the CXCR7/CXCR4-expressing SHSYx7 cell growth in 10% nor in 2% serum, comparing to the mock transduced control SHSYpMigr cells (Figure 24B). Presence of the ligand CXCL12 significantly increased the proliferation of CXCR4expressing SHSYpMigr cells as compared to stress conditions (p<0.05), but such effect was lost in the SHSYx7 cell line (p<0.05). In contrast to the growth-promoting effect observed in NB8x4x7 cells, these data reveal the existence of a competition between the CXCL12 receptors, as CXCR4/CXCL12 signaling is impaired when the two receptors are co-expressed in SHSYx7 cells.



Figure 24: Impact of ectopic CXCR7 expression on NB growth *in vitro In vitro* growth of (A) NB8 and (B) SH-SY transduced cell lines were measured by PMS/MTS cell proliferation kit in normal (10% FCS), or stress (2% FCS) culture conditions, and in presence of 100 ng/ml CXCL12 (in 2% FCS). Dotted lines represent max OD values at 96 h for NB8pMigr control cell line growth in 10% (black) and 2% (grey) serum. Graphs represent mean OD values ± SEM of at least three independent experiments. Student's t-test: *p<0.05, ***p<0.001.

As the CXCR7/CXCL11 axis was also shown to activate ERK 1/2 cascade, we also evaluated the impact of the other CXCR7 ligand, CXCL11 on CXCR7-expressing NB cell growth

using similar *in vitro* proliferation assay (data not shown). We did not observe any CXCL11 influence on either NB8x7 or NB8x4x7 cell growth, as compared to NB8pMigr or NB8x7 cell growth, respectively, nor on that of SHSYx7 cells, as compared to SHSYpMigr cells, suggesting that the CXCR7/CXCL11 axis is not able to mediate *in vitro* NB growth in 2D culture conditions.

CXCR7 alters in vitro NB growth in a three dimensional (3D) environment

Soft agar assay is an essential tool to evaluate the *in vitro* tumorigenicity of tumour cells, based on their ability to form colonies in an anchorage-independent manner. We therefore examined whether *in vitro* clonogenic properties of NB cell were influenced by exogenous CXCR7, CXCR4 or a combination of the two receptors in such 3D culture condition (Figure 25).



Figure 25: Impact of ectopic CXCR7 expression on NB growth in 3D culture system *in vitro* Clonogenic growth of the (A) NB8 and the (B) SHSY transduced cell lines in soft agar assay. Columns represent mean values ± SEM of two independent experiments. Student's t-test: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

As shown in Figure 25A, CXCR4 significantly enhanced the clonogenic ability of NB8x4 and NB8x4x7 cell lines (p<0.01 and p<0.05 respectively), in absence of the ligand, when compared to the NB8pMigr cell line. Inversely, CXCR7 expression in NB8x7 cells resulted in significantly decreased colonies number (p<0.05). In contrast to 2D culture system, CXCR7 was not able to influence CXCR4-mediated NB8x4x7 growth in such 3D model, as no significative effects were noted between the clonogenic abilities of NB8x4 and NB8x4x7 cells.

Interestingly, CXCR7 significantly decreased the number of colonies derived from the SHSYx7 cell line, in absence (p<0.001) and in presence (p<0.01) of CXCL12, as compared to the SHSYpMigr cell line (Figure 25B). Addition of the ligand markedly increased the clonogenic capacity of the CXCR4-positive SHSYpMigr cell line (p<0.001), without affecting that of SHSYx7 cells. These data thus suggest that CXCR7 may also affect the CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated SHSYx7 growth in *in vitro* 3D culture.

CXCR7 affects CXCR4-mediated NB cell migration in vitro

Chemotaxis is a major feature of aggressive tumour cells *in vitro*, and a critical indicator of NB cell metastatic dissemination potential *in vivo*. As the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis has been previously shown to mediate chemotaxis of NB cells (137), we next addressed the role of CXCR7 on NB cell migration and its impact on CXCR4/CXCL12 axis mediated chemotaxis. As illustrated in Figure 26, overexpression of both receptors did not modify the migratory capacities of transduced cells in the absence of ligand. The presence of CXCL12 enhanced the migration of both CXCR4-expressing NB8x4 (p<0.05, Figure 26A) and SHSYpMigr (p<0.05, Figure 26B) cells, while no effect was noted for the CXCR7-expressing NB8x7, NB8x4x7 and SHSYx7 cell lines. These results suggest that CXCR7 may not be involved in NB chemotaxis but may affect CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated migration.





Chemotaxis of transduced (A) NB8 and (B) SHSY cells toward 100 ng/ml CXCL12. Each experiment was performed in duplicate. Columns represent mean values \pm SEM of two independent experiments. Student's t-test: *p<0.05.

In addition, we observed that CXCR7 might not promote NB chemotaxis in presence of its other ligand CXCL11 (preliminary data, not shown in this report).

CXCR7 impairs in vivo NB growth upon subcutaneous implantation of NB cells

As the *in vivo* environment is a major player in tumour biology, we first addressed the ability of CXCR7 to regulate and/or impair the CXCR4-mediated NB growth in heterotypic conditions *in vivo*. To that purpose, NB8 transduced cell lines were subcutaneously implanted in the flanks of nude mice. Three animals per cell line were injected in both left and right flanks (n=6) (Figure 27).



Figure 27: Effect of CXCR7 on NB growth in a model of subcutaneous injection in nude mice (A) *In vivo* tumour take (number of sites with tumour/total sites) and growth (mean tumour volume ± SEM) after *s.c* implantation of NB cells in nude mice. Two-way ANOVA: **p<0.01. (B) *s.c.* tumour weight at sacrifice (day 33). Student's t-test : **p<0.01.

Overall tumour take was reduced in the group of mice injected with NB8x7, as only 3/6 sites presented a tumour versus 6/6 sites for the other groups. Moreover, CXCR7 ectopic expression in NB8 cells was shown to drastically reduce both the growth and the volume of NB8x7-derived tumours, as compared with tumours derived from the control cell line (p<0.01, Figure 27A). At day 33 after implantation, mice in the NB8pMigr, NB8x4 and NB8x4x7–implanted groups had developed tumours with a mean volume of 1605, 835 and 655 mm³, respectively, which required sacrifice of all animals. At sacrifice, the mean volume of tumours from the group engrafted with NB8x7 was 120 mm³.

As shown in Figure 27B, tumour weight was significantly reduced in the group of mice engrafted with the NB8x7 cells, as compared to the group implanted with the control NB8pMigr cell line (p<0.01). Thus, these data support CXCR7 as a critical actor of NB growth regulation *in vivo*. However, both growth and size of NB8 cell-derived tumours were not significantly affected by the presence of CXCR4 alone, nor in association with CXCR7 in such conditions.

The tumour histology and microenvironment organization was then evaluated by H/E, CD31 and Ki67 staining in paraffin-embedded sections of *s.c.* tumours (Figure 28).



Figure 28: Histology of s.c. tumours in nude mice

Paraffin-embedded sections of *s.c.* tumours, derived from the NB8pMigr, NB8x4, NB8x7 and NB8x4x7 cell lines, were stained with H&E. To evaluate cell proliferation and vascular structure, tumours were stained with anti-Ki67 and anti-CD31 antibodies.

Although CXCR7 strongly reduced volume and growth of *s.c* NB8x7-derived xenografts, no particular phenotype (such as induced-differentiation or necrosis) was noted in those tumours as compared to those of the other groups. Moreover, the histology of all tumours, with undifferentiated neuroblasts (small blue round cells), presented similar pattern of vascularisation and proliferation rates.

CXCR7 anti-proliferative effect may not require the presence of CXCL12 in a heterotypic environment

To evaluate a putative functionality of the CXCL12 ligand in CXCR7-mediated effect in our heterotypic mouse model, we measured the concentration of CXCL12 in NB transduced cell lines, associated *s.c* xenografts, and in a normal mouse adrenal gland tissue. As previously demonstrated (137), high levels of CXCL12 were found in the adrenal gland (Figure 29).



Figure 29: CXCL12 production in s.c. NB tumours

The production of CXCL12 was measured by ELISA in normal nude mouse adrenal gland, as well as in NB8 transduced cell lines, and derived *s.c* tumours. Results are expressed in triplicates as pg of CXCL12 per mg of extracted protein. Error bars indicate S.D. of triplicates.

However, CXCL12 production in NB cell lines and xenografts was low (mean concentration of CXCL12 < 180 pg/mg of protein) and did not vary between either cell lines or derived tumours. Thus, these data suggest that the CXCR7-mediated anti-proliferative effect, as observed in *in vivo* heterotypic conditions, is unlikely due to the presence of its ligand CXCL12. As CXCL11 production was not assessed in cell lines and *s.c.* xenografts, we cannot exclude a putative role of the second CXCR7 chemokine ligand in NB growth regulation, which should be further evaluated.

CXCR7 delays CXCR4-mediated in vivo growth in an orthotopic environment

Orthotopic animal model is a critical and essential tool to investigate the influence of tumour microenvironment in chemokine/receptor-induced proliferative and invasive NB behaviour (146). Indeed, CXCR4 was previously shown to tremendously increase growth of NB cells only by using our CXCL12-producing orthotopic NB mouse model (137). In addition, CXCR7 was shown to drastically reduce NB growth in a heterotypic mouse model (Figure 27), and to affect CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated migration in NB8x4x7 cells (Figure 26). Therefore, we further evaluated the extent to which CXCR7 would affect the *in vivo* CXCR4-mediated growth signaling in a CXCL12-producing orthotopic environment. To that purpose, the NB8x4, NB8x7 and NB8x4x7 cell lines were directly implanted in the adrenal gland of nude mice (seven animals per group), as previously described (146) (Figure 30).



Tumour take

Figure 30: CXCR7 impact on in vivo tumour growth in a NB mouse orthotopic model

NB8 transduced cell lines were orthotopically implanted in the adrenal gland of nude mice. Tumour growth was followed by ultrasound every 10 days. Upper panel: tumour take represented as fraction and percentage of tumour-bearing mice at week 3, 5 and 6. Lower panel: kinetics of tumour volume for each mouse at week 3 and 5. Bar: mean tumour volume. Mann-Whitney test: *p<0.05.

One animal of the NB8x4 group died within 24 h after the procedure, due to perioperative complications. All mice were examined by echography at week 3, 5 and 6 for tumour growth measurement. At week 3, two out of six animals (33%) in the group engrafted with NB8x4 cells developed a tumour at the site of injection, whereas no tumours were detected in the group of mice engrafted with NB8x7 and NB8x4x7 cells. However, at week 5, 43% and 57% of animals engrafted with NB8x7 and NB8x4x7 cells, respectively, presented tumours as compared to the 83% of mice of the NB8x4 group.

Tumours in each group presented a high heterogeneity in their growth behaviour, especially in the group implanted with NB8x4 and NB8x7 cells. Indeed, NB8x4–implanted mice had developed tumours with a volume between 77 and 2400 mm³, while tumours with a volume between 30 and 605 mm³ were detected in the group of NB8x7.

Interestingly, the growth of NB8x4x7 cell-derived tumours was significantly reduced as compared to that of the NB8x4 cell-derived tumour (p<0.05), suggesting that CXCR7 might alter *in vivo* CXCR4-mediated growth promoting effect. Due to excessive volume of tumours in the NB8x4 group, mice had to be sacrificed at earlier time point (week 5) compared to those injected with NB8x7 and NB8x4x7 cell lines (week 6). At week 6, 3/7 mice of the group engrafted with NB8x7 presented a tumour with a mean volume of 353 mm³, while 6/7 mice of the group engrafted with NB8x4x7 harboured a tumour with a mean volume 607 mm³. No macroscopic metastases were observed after tumour resection in each group.

Thus, in contrast with CXCR4, CXCR7 may decrease the ability of NB cells to seed and to proliferate in the adrenal gland. Indeed, CXCR7, in association with CXCR4, delayed the proliferative CXCR4-mediated effect in orthotopic conditions. Therefore, present observations support a functional implication of the global CXCR7/CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in the NB8x4x7 cell line, and suggest a critical role for CXCR7 in regulating the CXCR4-mediated NB growth in a CXCL12-producing orthotopic environment. Importantly, CXCR7 co-expression with CXCR4 did not further induce NB dissemination.

Discussion

Background of the study

The CXCR4/CXCL12 axis has been largely shown to participate in tumour development and progression. Indeed, reports have proposed a predominant role of the CXCR4 receptor and its ligand CXCL12 in mediating invasion of malignant tumour cells to sites of metastasis in several cancer models (31). In NB, CXCR4 receptor expression was shown to correlate with poor prognosis (136;137;157). Nonetheless, the specific involvement of the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in cell proliferation, survival, and invasion is still under debate. Even though the CXCR4 receptor has been previously demonstrated as an essential mediator of aggressive NB cell dissemination to CXCL12-producing bone marrow (138), contradicting reports have been published on the relative contribution of the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in NB growth and survival (137;142-145).

The identification of CXCR7, as a second receptor for CXCL12, has added considerable complexity and also new perspectives for the implication of the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in tumour biology. Although several hypotheses on the role of CXCR7 and possible interactions between the two CXCL12 receptors have been proposed in different tumour systems (22), the implication of the CXCL12/CXCR7 axis and its impact on CXCR4 functionality in NB is still unknown.

Distinct expression patterns for the CXCR7 and CXCR4 receptors in NB tumours

The pattern of CXCR4 expression in many tumour types, including NB, has been already shown to be related to advanced stage disease (136;137). In the present study, we reported the pattern of CXCR7/CXCL12 expression in NB, by using an array of different clinical stage, histological type of tumours and control tissues (Table 1). Our TMA analyses revealed a weak CXCR7 expression in NB (Figure 5). Moreover, in contrast to breast, lung and hepatocellular carcinomas (33;167), CXCR7 was not expressed in NB vasculature but rather preferentially associated to its neural compartment. Furthermore, we observed a strong CXCR7 expression in tumour ganglion cells in 77% of GGNB and in all GGN tissues, while 75% of UnNBs presented a poor neuroblast-associated CXCR7 staining. Thus, our data reveal that

CXCR7 expression is specifically associated to mature neural cells in stroma-rich GGNB and GGN tumours.

The presence of neuroblastic maturation toward ganglion cells and a high proportion of Schwannian stroma are recognized as a favourable histological feature and good prognosis (152). The CXCR7 receptor expression significantly increased in tumours from less than 1 year-old patients, whom are known to present tumours with the potential to regress spontaneously, or to mature into benign differentiated tumours, such as GGNs (85). Despite these observations, the TMA analyses did not allow to assign CXCR7 a statistically significant favourable prognosis value. Indeed, no correlations between MYCN status, overall or eventfree survivals, and CXCR7 expression were noted (Figure 6). The absence of significance may be due to the low levels of CXCR7 expression, as well as a limited panel of matured tumour tissues included in the TMA. On the other hand, CXCR7 intensity staining associated to tumour ganglion cells in differentiated tumours was higher compared to neuroblastassociated staining in undifferentiated NBs. However, as assessing positive percentage of cells is more precise than quantifying associated immunostaining intensity in TMA analyses, percent of CXCR7 positive cells rather than CXCR7 staining intensity was evaluated in this study. Although this method is more relevant, it might explain as well the lack of significance in investigating the putative CXCR7 prognostic value.

As previous studies have reported that the CXCR4 receptor expression is associated to undifferentiated and high stage NB tumours (136;137), our data revealed an inversely correlated expression pattern for the CXCR4 and the CXCR7 receptors.

Interestingly, the TMA analyses also revealed a strong CXCL12 expression in endothelial and stromal cells in NB tumours (Figure 7). As both CXCR7 and CXCR4 receptors are expressed in tumour neural cells, these data suggest a paracrine role of the chemokine ligand in NB. Moreover, CXCL12 expression levels in tumour endothelial cells slightly increased in patients over one year-old, whom are known to present most aggressive NBs as compared to infants (85). Although endothelial-associated CXCL12 expression did not vary in the different NB clinical stages (Table 3), our data suggest an implication of the ligand in NB aggressive behaviour. In particular, a putative implication of the ligand in NB angiogenesis is likely and should be further investigated, as already reported in the context of ovarian and colon cancers (168;169). In addition, neural-associated CXCL12 expression, albeit low

compared to ligand expression levels in the endothelial and stromal compartments, enhanced in metastatic samples as compared to primary NB tumours (PTs), and in PTs as compared to control tissues (Table 2). Although neural CXCL12 expression in tumour cells was found independent of NB stages, we cannot exclude a putative autocrine function of the ligand in NB progression, which should be further evaluated.

Taken together, TMA analyses suggest a complex contribution of the two CXCR7 and CXCR4 receptors in NB pathogenesis, which may be tightly modulated by a permanent cross-talk with their common ligand CXCL12, highly produced by tumour microenvironment.

Differential expression of the two CXCL12 receptors in NB cell lines

To further corroborate our TMA analyses, we next assessed the expression pattern of both CXCL12 receptors in a panel of well-characterized N-, I- and S-type NB cell lines (90). RT-PCR analyses revealed that *CXCR7* expression was detected in 6/14 NB cell lines (Figure 8). Moreover, CXCR7 cell surface expression was very weak in most NB cell lines (Figure 10). These results supported our TMA analyses showing that some of undifferentiated tumours (UnNBs) poorly expressed CXCR7.

In contrast, *CXCR4* expression was detected in almost all NB cell lines, and heterogeneous CXCR4 surface expression levels were observed in selected RT-PCR-positive NB cells, as already detailed elsewhere (157). Altogether, these observations showed a low and more discrete CXCR7 expression in NB cell lines, as compared to CXCR4.

Furthermore, CXCR7 was detected in N-type and S-type NB cell lines, rather than in the most undifferentiated I-type cells. Although most NB cell lines originate from the more aggressive clones *in vitro* (especially N-type cell lines), our data suggest an association of CXCR7 with neuronal and glial/schwannian lineage specific differentiation *in vitro*.

CXCR7 association with NB differentiation

Interestingly, a link between CXCR7 expression and cell maturation/differentiation has already been reported in immune cells. Indeed, CXCR7 expression was proposed to correlate with dendritic cell maturation, and described as a potential maker of

differentiating memory B cells (73). In the context of cancer, CXCR7 expression has been shown to drastically increase in FCS-induced differentiation of glioma cells *in vitro* (76).

Together with the particular CXCR7 expression pattern observed on mature tumour cells, our data suggest an association of CXCR7 with NB differentiation. To further evaluate the putative implication of the CXCR7 receptor in NB differentiation, we quantified its expression upon RA and BrdU-induced differentiation of the IGR-NB8 and SK-N-Be(2c) cell lines in vitro. In agreement with a previous report, treated NB cells elicited morphological changes, and global reduced proliferation (without enhanced apoptosis) starting from the third day after exposure to both RA and BrdU treatments (158) (Figures 11-12). Characteristics of differentiating NB cell profile was further confirmed by assessing the expression pattern of neurone specific enolase (NSE) and vimentin, two early neuronal and glial markers, respectively (159;163). As already noted elsewhere (158), dysregulation of both marker expression was observed later than the occurrence of morphological changes, which was however fully acquired at day 30 of treatment (Figure 13). Together, these observations further confirm the potential of IGR-NB8 and SK-N-Be(2c) cell lines to differentiate toward different lineage in vitro. A weak induced CXCR7 expression was observed by quantitative real-time PCR analyses in NB cells exposed to RA, but not to BrdU, suggesting that CXCR7 is associated with neuronal rather than glial differentiation (Figure 14). These data thus correlated our TMA analyses showing that tumour ganglion cells, rather than schwannian stroma, specifically expressed CXCR7 (Figure 5).

However, CXCR7 could be neither detected at the surface, nor in the intra-cellular space of NB cells during all the differentiation induction experiment. In addition, treatment with both RA and BrdU did not further enhance CXCR7 expression at the surface of the CXCR7-positive IMR32 cell line (data not shown). These observations suggest that the receptor expression may be modulated by potential post-translational modifications, or that the putative induced protein expression is too low to be detected by the antibody used in this study.

In addition, CXCR7 expression was particularly found in mature neural cells, such as ganglion cells, in GGNBs and in GGNs (Figure 5). As we drove immature NB cell line subtypes to early neuronal fate, we cannot exclude a later induction of CXCR7 expression during final stages of NB differentiation.

Our TMA analyses revealed an enhanced CXCL12 expression in the stroma of differentiated tumours, as compared to undifferentiated NBs (Figure 7). Consequently, we asked whether the presence of the ligand could have an impact on *CXCR7* expression during *in vitro* differentiation. Even in presence of CXCL12, no further increased of the receptor expression was noted in RA/BrdU-treated NB cells (Figure 15). The potential role of CXCL12 in NB differentiation in the early steps of NB differentiation may then require further investigation.

M.J. Bissell and others have proposed that « three-dimensional (3D) context may produce distinct cellular morphology and signaling events, as compared with a rigid 2D culture system, which may thus result in important changes on the fate of the culturing cells », especially in differentiation processes (170-172). Moreover, it has been proposed that a 3D environment may play a pivotal role in regulating gene expression (173). Importantly, a recent study reported that the expression of *CXCR4* in human mesenchymal stromal cells was tightly linked to the cell culture context, as a markedly difference in the receptor expression was found between the 3D and monolayer cultures (174). Therefore, the lack of induced CXCR7 expression in RA/BrdU-treated NB cells may also results from an inappropriate culture environment. Additional experiment in 3D culture conditions, such as in soft agar, might be considered to further evaluate the putative association of CXCR7 in NB differentiation.

Interestingly, exogenous CXCR7 did not induce differentiation of slow proliferatingtumours in our heterotypic mouse model, as no ganglion-like cells and no differentiating neuroblasts were detected in *s.c.* tumours derived from CXCR7-overexpressing NB8x7 cells (Figure 28). These observations suggest that CXCR7 may not directly induce NB differentiation or maturation by its own. However, additional *in vivo* experiment should be performed using NB cell lines expressing endogenous CXCR7 expression levels, to further corroborate these observations.

In conclusion, further investigation will be necessary to determine whether the CXCR7 receptor (or the CXCR7/CXCL12 axis) is associated to, or sufficient to induce NB cell

differentiation/maturation, and whether it might represent a neural and/or differentiation marker for NB.

Individual role of the CXCR7 receptor in NB

Our data showed distinct expression pattern for the CXCR7 and the CXCR4 receptors in NB tissues and cell lines, suggesting distinct and probably opposed roles for the two CXCL12 receptors in NB aggressive behaviour. Thus, we examined in an initial step the function of CXCR7 compared to CXCR4 in NB by overexpressing either CXCR7 or CXCR4 receptor in the CXCR4/CXCR7-negative IGR-NB8 cell line (the NB8x7 and NB8x4 cell lines, respectively) (Figures 17-18).

CXCR7 and CXCR4 signaling cascade

We first assessed the ability of each chemokine receptor to activate ERK 1/2 cascade in the NB transduced cell lines (Figures 19-20). We showed that CXCR7 was able to induce downstream signaling pathway on its own, as the ERK 1/2 cascade was activated in the CXCR7-expressing NB8x7 cell line upon either CXCL12 or CXCL11 stimulation. In NB8x4 cells, a CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated ERK 1/2 pathway activation was also highly detected, as previously demonstrated (137).

It has been shown that activation of Akt mediates diverse cellular functions, including cell proliferation, survival, and its signaling network is considered as a key determinant of the biological aggressiveness of tumours (166). Activation of Akt has been reported in NB upon stimulation of NB cells with insulin growth factor 1 (IGF-1) (154). Here, neither the CXCR4/CXCL12 nor the CXCR7/CXCL12/CXCL11 axes were able to signal through the Akt pathway in NB8x7 and NB8x4 cells, respectively (Figures 22-23).

Cell signaling is a complex network, which in many systems turns out to be cell typedependent. It has been shown that activation of CXCL12–induced Akt and ERK 1/2 cascades in HeLa cells were independent and arised from different signaling pathways (175). In addition, other results obtained with human glioblastoma and glioma cells showed that ERK 1/2 activation did not require that of the PI3K/Akt pathway (76;176). Consequently, the lack of Akt activation upon CXCL12 or CXCL11 binding to CXCR7 (or CXCR4) in NB may be a feature of NB cell lines.

Ligand-dependent role for the CXCR7 receptor in NB growth and chemotaxis

As CXCR7/CXCL12 and CXCR7/CXCL11 axes were able to activate ERK1/2 pathway, we examined whether CXCR7 would elicit particular functions in response to its two ligands, especially in NB growth and migration processes.

We showed that the presence of either CXCL12 (Figure 24) or CXCL11 (data not shown) did not influence CXCR7-expressing NB8x7 cell proliferation in 2D culture conditions. In contrast, CXCL12 highly increased growth of NB8x4 cells, as previously noted (137). Our data were further supported by a recent study showing that proliferation of CXCR7-positive glioma cells was not affected by CXCL12 (76). Similarly, the CXCR7/CXCL11 axis, albeit functional, was not shown to be implicated in rhabdomyosarcoma and glioblastoma cell proliferation *in vitro*, as detailed elsewhere (177).

In addition, we observed that CXCR7 ectopic expression did not favour migration of NB cells toward CXCL12, in contrast to CXCR4 (137) (Figure 26). Inversely, a very recent study reported that CXCR7 enhanced chemotaxis of CXCR7-expressing NB cells in a conditioned medium obtained from CXCL12-producing mesenchymal stromal cells (147). However, it was not clear whether additional factors released by stromal cells were required for truly activating CXCR7/CXCL12-mediated NB chemotaxis. Our mouse orthotopic model is a powerful tool to examine specific NB organ-specific dissemination, upon engraftment of malignant NB cells into CXCL12-producing mouse adrenal gland (137;146). Using such model, we did not observe any macroscopic metastases upon engraftment of NB8x7 cells. Thus, our data suggest that the CXCR7/CXCL12 axis may not promote NB cell migration *in vivo*, even in presence of specific stromal factors.

In parallel, CXCR7 might not promote NB chemotaxis in presence of its other ligand CXCL11 (preliminary data, not shown in this report). Although under current investigation, these preliminary data are nonetheless consistent with a recent study proposing that the CXCR7/CXCL11 axis may not directly favour chemotaxis in various tumour cell lines (177).

Altogether, our analyses suggest that the CXCR7/CXCL12 and the CXCR7/CXCL11 axes do not mediate NB growth in 2D culture, or chemotaxis *in vitro*.

Opposite ligand-independent functions for the CXCR7 and CXCR4 receptors in NB

Interestingly, our data also showed a functional role of the CXCR7 receptor, independently of its ligands CXCL12 and CXCL11. Indeed, as shown by our 2D culture system assay, CXCR7 slightly enhanced CXCR7-expressing NB8x7 cell growth in stress condition (2% serum), in absence of its ligands (Figure 24). This observation is consistent with previous reports showing a growth promoting effect of CXCR7 independently of its ligand in breast and lung tumour cell lines (22;53). Surprisingly, CXCR7 alone was shown to significantly reduce clonogenicity of NB cells in a 3D culture system (Figure 25). Thus, different effects were noted in 2D and in 3D, further highlighting the critical impact of the culture system in investigating chemokine receptor function. Supporting in vitro 3D analyses, CXCR7 drastically reduced both kinetics and volume of CXCR7-expressing NB8x7 cell-derived tumours, in our subcutaneous model of injection in nude mice (Figure 27). Such effect was likely independent of CXCL12, as the ligand was only poorly produced by s.c xenograft (Figure 29). A ligand-independent proliferative role for CXCR7 has been recently demonstrated in a prostate cancer model (178). Although CXCR7 rather reduced NB cell proliferation in our model, s.c NB8x7 cell-derived tumours presented an undifferentiated phenotype, with proliferation index and vascularisation rate similar to those of NB8pMigr/NB8x4 cell-derived xenografts (Figure 28). Thus, we cannot totally exclude the possibility that the NB8x7implanted mice would have later developed tumours similar to the other groups, what would have suggested a role for CXCR7 in regulating tumour take rather than overall tumour growth.

In contrast to CXCR7, CXCR4 significantly increased *in vitro* proliferation/survival in absence of its ligand, as previously detailed (137). In 3D, CXCR4 was also shown to enhance clonogenic abilities of CXCR4-expressing NB cells in absence of CXCL12. Supporting our *in vitro* observations, CXCR4 has been proposed elsewhere to regulate *in vivo* growth of colon cancer cells independently of CXCL12 (74). However, we did not observe a particular proliferative-promoting role for CXCR4, upon *s.c.* engraftment (non producing CXCL12 environment) of NB cells (Figure 27), further supporting our previous *in vivo* study showing a critical and exclusive NB growth promoting role for CXCR4 in a CXCL12-producing and orthotopic environment (137).

Distinct roles for the two CXCL12 receptors in NB

Taken together, our data suggest that CXCR4 and CXCR7 may display two distinct roles in NB, either in presence and in absence of their common ligand CXCL12. As shown in Figure 31, CXCR7 decreases NB growth and chemotaxis, in contrast to CXCR4. In addition, CXCR4 has been linked with NB aggressive behaviour, while CXCR7 may be associated to NB differentiation.



Figure 31: Putative roles for the CXCR7 and CXCR4 receptors in NB

(A) In contrast to other cancer models, CXCR7 displays anti-tumorigenic properties in NB and may be implicated in NB differentiation. (B) CXCR4 promotes NB proliferation, survival in presence and in absence of CXCL12, and is required for CXCL12-induced NB chemotaxis.

Impact of CXCR7 on CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated signaling in NB

We further examined the function of CXCR7 by focusing more precisely on its impact on CXCR4-mediated signaling. To that extent, we co-expressed CXCR7 and CXCR4 in the CXCR4/CXCR7-negative IGR-NB8 cell line (NB8x4x7 cells). As a second model for our study, CXCR7 was also ectopically expressed in the SH-SY5Y cell line (SHSYx7 cells), which expresses already high endogeneous levels of CXCR4 (Figures 17-18).

CXCR7, in association with CXCR4, affects ERK 1/2 cascade activation

Both receptors were functional in NB8x4x7 cells, as specific CXCR4/CXCL12-, CXCR7/CXCL12 and CXCR7/CXCL11-mediated ERK 1/2 activations were reported in those cells (Figures 19-20). Interestingly, we observed a shorter signal with an enhanced intensity for the CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated ERK 1/2 activation in the NB8x4x7 cell line, when compared

to the signal measured in the CXCR4-expressing NB8x4 cell line. Similar observation was also noted for the CXCR7/CXCL11-mediated ERK 1/2 activation in NB8x4x7 cells as compared to NB8x7 cells. Thus, our data highly suggest that, in association in NB8x4x7 cells, the CXCR7 and CXCR4 receptors may display reciprocal modulation of the ERK1/2 pathway in response to their ligands.

In contrast, only the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis was able to signal through ERK 1/2 pathway in the SHSYx7 cell line. Indeed, CXCR7 alone could not activate ERK 1/2 cascade in those cells, either in presence of CXCL12 or CXCL11. However, SHSYx7 cells displayed a particular and functional behaviour *in vitro*, as compared to control SHSYpMigr cells (Figures 24-26), supporting that the CXCR7 receptor is functional in those cells but may signal through other downstream signaling cascade. In addition, a modulation of the CXCL12-induced ERK 1/2 activation was observed in the CXCR7/CXCR4-expressing SHSYx7 cell line, as compared to that of CXCR4-expressing SHSYpMigr cell line. Such modulation suggests that CXCR7 may also affect CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated signaling in those cells. However, the impact of CXCR7 was different to that observed in NB8x4x7 cells, as ERK 1/2 activation was only slightly weakened in SHSYx7 cells.

Although both NB8x4x7 and SHSYx7 cell lines expressed similar CXCR4 expression levels, discrepancy in ERK 1/2 activation between those cell lines might result from the endogenous CXCR4 expression in SHSYx7 cells, as compared to the exogenous CXCR4 levels in NB8x4x7 cells. In addition, it could be due to a different pattern of CXCR7 expression in those cells, as higher CXCR7 expression levels were observed in NB8x4x7 cells as compared to SHSYx7 cells (Figures 17-18).

CXCR7 affects CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated growth promoting effects in vitro

A significant reduction of the CXCR4-mediated NB cell proliferation was observed in 2D culture, in the CXCR7/CXCR4-expressing SHSYx7 cell line, only in the presence of the ligand (Figure 24). A decrease of CXCR4-mediated clonogenicity was also observed in SHSYx7 cells in a 3D soft agar assay (Figure 25). However, such alteration was observed in presence and in absence of CXCL12. Thus, the regulation of CXCR4-mediated growth promoting effect by CXCR7 might not necessarily require the presence of CXCL12 *in vitro*.

Interestingly, the ectopic expression of CXCR7 further enhanced CXCR4–mediated growth promoting effect in the NB8x4x7 cell line, in presence and in absence of CXCL12, as

compared to the NB8x4 cell line in our 2D culture system. However, such additive growthpromoting effect was not observed in our 3D culture model (Figure 25) nor *in vivo* (Figure 27), suggesting that such 2D culture system may affect chemokine receptor function(s), as already mentioned in this report. Importantly, and in contrast to the SHSY transduced cell model, 3D soft agar assay revealed that CXCR7 was not sufficient to affect CXCR4-mediated growth of NB8x4x7 cells in absence of the ligand. An increase of CXCR4 expression together with a decrease of that of CXCR7 was quantified in the NB8x4x7 cells, as compared to NB8x4 and NB8x7 cells, respectively (Figures 17-18). Therefore, these observations suggest a predominant role of the CXCR4 receptor over that of CXCR7 in absence of CXCL12 in the NB8x4x7 cells, which would explain why NB8x4x7 cells behave as similarly as NB8x4 cells *in vitro*.

CXCR7 impairs CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated NB chemotaxis

As the role of CXCR4 in enhancing motility of NB cells has been previously described (137), we asked whether CXCR7 could also regulate CXCR4-mediated NB function *in vitro*, such as chemotaxis, in presence of CXCL12. Indeed, CXCR7 significantly altered the CXCR4-mediated chemotaxis of both CXCR7/CXCR4-expressing NB8x4x7 and SHSYx7 cell lines toward CXCL12, further suggesting the existence of a putative competition between the two receptors for their common ligand (Figure 26).

CXCR7 delays CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated growth promoting effects in vivo

Using our mouse orthotopic model, we also showed that CXCR7 delayed tumour take and growth of NB8x4x7-derived tumours, as compared to NB8x4-derived tumours (Figure 30). Our TMA analyses revealed a high ligand expression in the vascular and stromal structures of control tissues, such as the normal adrenal gland of patients (Figure 7). Similarly, strong CXCL12 expression was detected in the adrenal gland of nude mice (Figure 29), as previously described (137). Thus, these data suggest that a regulation of the CXCR4mediated growth promoting effect by CXCR7 in NB8 transduced cell model may occur and may be dependent on the presence of CXCL12 *in vivo*.

Many studies agree that signals from the tumour microenvironment may play pivotal contributions to cancer progression (8;16;17). For example, hypoxia-induced pathways have been reported to enhance the function of the CXCR4 receptor in lung and breast tumours, as

well as in hematopoietic malignancies, by up-regulating its expression (50). In hepato-and rhabdomyo-sarcomas models, a dysregulation of CXCR7 expression was also induced in hypoxic conditions (77;167). Moreover, cytokines (such as IL-17, IL-1 β and IFN- γ) have been shown to dysregulate CXCR7 expression in brain endothelial cells, and to influence receptor function *in vivo* (179). In contrast to orthotopic conditions, no CXCR7-mediated regulation was observed when the NB8x4 and the NB8x4x7 cell lines were subcutaneously engrafted in mouse flanks (Figure 27). Thus, regulation of CXCR4 signaling by CXCR7 may be tightly dependent on the presence of CXCL12 and additional stromal factors. As we also showed a critical and exclusive NB growth promoting role for CXCR4 in a CXCL12-producing and orthotopic environment (137), these remarks suggest a complex role for CXCR7 and CXCR4 in NB tumorigenesis, in which receptor expressions and associated function(s), may be influenced by stromal stimuli other than the ligand.

Finally, CXCR7 in association with CXCR4 did not enhance the invasive potential of NB8x4x7 cells compared to NB8x4 cells *in vivo*, as no metastases were detected in our orthotopic mouse model. In contrast to other tumour models (75;77), cooperation of the two CXCL12 receptors in enhancing NB dissemination is then unlikely.

Two hypothetic models for the negative regulation of the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis-mediated signaling by CXCR7 in NB

In this, study, we showed that CXCR7 was sufficient to affect CXCR4-mediated signaling and functions, especially in presence of CXCL12. Two models have been proposed in the literature and may uncover mechanisms implicated in the regulation of CXCR4 signaling by CXCR7 in NB.

CXCR7 as a ligand scavenger in NB?

It has recently been hypothesized that CXCR7 may not promote classical G proteincoupled receptor (GPCR)-mediated functions in response to its ligands (72;180). Indeed, some « altered » GPCR responsiveness can occur as a result of the sequestration/internalization of the receptor, that « enables either its recycling to a responsive form or facilitates receptor loss by lysosomal degradation » (66). In particular, Luker *et al* proposed that a balance between constitutive internalization and recycling of the receptor CXCR7 to the cell surface occurred after binding to CXCL12, in a dose-dependent manner (68). In this context, CXCR7 was shown to control CXCL12 distribution by sequestrating the ligand present in the extracellular space. Such scavenger function for CXCR7 resulted in limiting acute CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated signaling (68;69). For instance, recent studies showed a critical role for CXCR7, as a ligand scavenger, in controlling cell migration in a zebrafish model (69-71). Moreover, the scavenging role of CXCR7 has been clearly demonstrated to regulate migratory advantage provided by CXCR4 in CXCR4/CXCR7-expressing primary T cells (180). As CXCR7 was shown to affect CXCR4-mediated chemotaxis of NB8x4x7 and SHSYx7 cells (Figure 26), a role for CXCR7 as a CXCL12 scavenger is likely in those cells. In addition, CXCR7 was proposed to delay CXCR4-mediated NB8x4x7 orthotopic growth (Figure 30), supporting that the CXCR7/CXCL12 axis may limit acute CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated growth promoting effect *in vivo*, thus further suggesting a role for CXCR7 as a ligand scavenger in NB8x4x7 cells.

Interestingly, ligand binding to the "decoy receptor CXCR7" has been shown to activate MAP kinase pathways, such as ERK1/2, through β -arrestin rather than G protein signaling (67) (Figure 3). Moreover, CXCR4 is known to predominantly signal through classical G-mediated pathways (31) (Figure 2). In this study, different CXCR7/CXCL12-mediated ERK 1/2 cascade activations were noted in the NB8x7 and NB8x4x7 cell lines, as compared to the signal mediated by the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in NB8x4 cells (Figure 19). These observations suggest that the CXCL12-induced ERK1/2 activation in those cells might not be mediated by G-proteins, but rather by other actors, such as β -arrestins, further supporting a scavenger role for CXCR7 in NB8x7 and NB8x4x7 cells.

However, the CXCR7/CXCL12/CXCL11 axes did not activate ERK 1/2 in SHSYx7 cells, suggesting that another mechanism may occur in those cells (Figure 19-20). Moreover, *in vitro* soft agar assay showed that CXCR7 regulated CXCR4-mediated SHSYx7 cell growth in absence of CXCL12 (Figure 25), further excluding a unique ligand scavenger function for the CXCR7 receptor in those cells.

Heterodimerization of CXCR7 and CXCR4 in NB cell lines?

Evidences to date suggest that many, if not all, GPCRs function as either mono- or hetero-oligomers. Such oligomeric complexes have been shown to involve mechanistic implication on receptor efficacy and represent a key paradigm in GPCR biology (181). There is now a body of evidence that GPCR heterodimerization can alter G protein specificity, thus influencing activation of specific downstream pathways (182). Combined CXCR4/CXCR7 expression has been detected in T- and B-cell subsets, endothelial cells, human renal progenitor cells, as well as in primary human tumours and tumour cell lines (53;60;75;76). Importantly, it has been hypothesized that CXCR7, once engaged in heterodimers with CXCR4, may regulate CXCR4 functions through an allosteric mechanism (independently of CXCL12), further affecting ligand binding to CXCR4 and/or its downstream signaling (180). However, the direct impact of CXCR7/CXCR4 heterodimer activity in enhancing or conversely decreasing CXCR4-mediated proliferation/survival/migration in tumours is still elusive (183). As CXCR7 affects CXCR4-mediated signaling in SHSYx7 cells independently of CXCL12, we postulate that the negative regulation of CXCR4-induced signaling by CXCR7 in NB might also result from the heterodimeric association of both receptors in those cells.

In addition, it has been proposed that heterodimers "can synergistically increase signaling", "or conversely, negatively interact" thus decreasing the response initially mediated by interaction of respective monomers with their ligand(s) (184;185). Constitutive association of CXCR4 and CXCR7 as heterodimers has been also reported to alter CXCR4 signaling, in a CXCL12 dependent manner (70;180;183). As CXCR7 modulated CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated ERK 1/2 activation in the SHSYx7 cells, it further supports an association of CXCR7 and CXCR4 as heterodimeric complexes in those cells (Figure 19). In such context, the putative heterodimeric form of these receptors may also influence efficacy of the CXCR7 receptor in response to CXCL12 or CXCL11, which may explain why both CXCR7/CXCL12 and CXCR7/CXCL11 axes failed to activate ERK 1/2 cascade in SHSYx7 cells.

Two distinct or combined models?

In this study, an "antagonist effect" between the two CXCL12 receptors in NB was strongly suggested. However, whether CXCR7 modulates CXCR4 signaling as a result of their heterodimeric expression or/and by scavenging the ligand needs further analyses. Our data suggest that the modulation of the CXCR4-mediated signaling by CXCR7 might be NB cell-line dependent, as important variations between the NB8 and the SHSY transduced cell lines were noted. In regards to results obtained in this study, we hypothesize that CXCR7 may modulate CXCR4 function(s) as detailed in the two following non-exhaustive models:

✓ <u>CXCR7 as a ligand scavenger (model A, Figure 32)</u>: The two CXCL12 receptors are coexpressed at the surface of NB cells where they individually mediate their own signaling activation cascade in response to specific stimuli (ligand, stromal factors, and stress culture conditions). In such model, CXCR7 would modulate CXCR4/CXCL12 signaling by acting as a ligand scavenger. This model may be proposed for the regulation of the CXCR4-mediated signaling by CXCR7 in the NB8x4x7 cell line.



Figure 32: Regulation of CXCR4-mediated NB signaling in vitro and in vivo: model A

i) Upon co-expression, the two CXCL12 receptors CXCR7 and CXCR4 may form monomers (or homodimers), thus mediating their own function(s). Expression of one receptor may modulate that of the other, as observed in the NB8x4x7 cell line (Figures 17-18). In absence of the ligand, both receptors may individually mediate opposite growth-related function *in vitro*, with a predominant CXCR4-mediated proliferation/survival promoting effect. ii) CXCR7 presents higher affinity for CXCL12 than CXCR4. Thus, in presence of the ligand, CXCR7 may act as a ligand scavenger, preventing CXCL12 binding to CXCR4 and thus resulting in limiting CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated chemotaxis *in vitro*. CXCR4 on its own may additionally elicits a ligand-independent NB growth promoting role. iii) In orthotopic conditions, additional stromal factors may modulate CXCR4, CXCR7, or both receptor expression levels, which in turn may favour CXCR4-mediated NB growth, rather than CXCR7-mediated anti-proliferative function.

✓ <u>Heterodimerization of the two receptors (model B, Figure 33)</u>: The two CXCL12 receptors are co-expressed as heterodimers at the surface of NB cells, influencing the individual efficacy, function(s) and ligand selectivity of each receptor. Modulation of the CXCR4 (or CXCR7) signaling would be a direct result of the heterodimeric association of the two receptors. This model may be proposed for the regulation of the CXCR4-mediated signaling by CXCR7 in the SHSYx7 cell line.



Figure 33: Regulation of CXCR4-mediated NB signaling in vitro: model B

i) Upon co-expression, CXCR7 and CXCR4 may form heterodimers at the surface of NB cells. Such chemokine receptor complex may impair CXCR4-mediated growth promoting effect, in absence of the ligand, as observed in SHSYx7 cells. ii) In presence of the ligand, the "CXCR7-CXCR4" complex may be internalized, thus limiting CXCR4/CXCL12-mediated NB proliferation/chemotaxis. As heterodimerization has been proposed to modulate ligand selectivity (183), whether CXCL12 preferentially binds to CXCR7 or to CXCR4 will need further investigations.

In this study, we noted that the expression of CXCR4 also affected the CXCR7/CXCL11-mediated ERK 1/2 activation, especially in NB8x4x7 cells (Figure 20). However, CXCL11 is not a ligand for the CXCR4 receptor, and CXCR3, the other known CXCL11 receptor, is not expressed by NB8x4x7 cells (Figure 21). Except if CXCR4 may elicit remote regulator function on CXCR7 via a more complex signaling network, the model A

cannot provide by itself a suitable explanation for such observations, as the two receptors would not be physically associated at NB8x4x7 cell surface.

Therefore, we cannot exclude the possibility that a more global regulation mechanism may occur in NB cells which may be a combination of these two models.

Conclusion and perspectives

In this study, we propose that CXCR4 and CXCR7 may display two distinct roles in NB: CXCR4 favours NB growth/survival and chemotaxis, while CXCR7 decreases NB growth and may be associated to NB differentiation. Importantly, we postulate that CXCR7, in association with CXCR4, may elicit anti-tumorigenic function by regulating CXCR4-mediated signaling, potentially as a heterodimeric partner or/and as a ligand scavenger.

It has been shown that the two CXCL12 receptors, when co-expressed, may form homodimers as efficiently as heterodimers (180). Thus, whether the different CXCR7 and CXCR4 expression levels detected in NB8x4x7 and SHSYx7 cells may differently influence their conformational association at NB cell surface should be further investigated. Experimental procedures, such as immunoprecipitation and bioluminescence resonance energy transfer (BRET) assays, will help to determine whether CXCR7 and CXCR4 efficiently form hetero- or homo-dimers in NB cell lines. Furthermore, it has been proposed that CXCR4/CXCR7 heterodimers result in attenuation of classical CXCL12-mediated G-activated signaling, by predominantly activating β -arrestin-dependent pathways (64;183). Ligand scavenger function of CXCR7 has also been shown to result from β -arrestin activation (67). Thus, extending our analyses on the activation of the p38 and Jun N-terminal kinases (two β arrestin-dependent pathway mediators) in NB cells expressing CXCR7, CXCR4 or both receptors, in response to CXCL12 (and CXCL11), may help to further understand mechanisms mediated by individual CXCR7, CXCR4 or by potential heterodimeric complexes of both receptors. In this study, we reported that the IMR-32 NB cell line expresses endogenous levels of both CXCR7 (moderate) and CXCR4 (high) receptors (Figure 10). Thus, the IMR-32 cell line may be a suitable model to further investigate the consequences of CXCR4/CXCR7 co-expression on CXCL12/CXCL11-induced responses in NB.

As postulated in this report, 3D culture systems may be essential tools to go on investigating chemokine receptor function(s) *in vitro*, and particularly to further clarify the putative association of CXCR7 with NB differentiation processes.

Finally, our orthotopic studies suggest a critical role for stromal factors, together with CXCR7, in mediating regulation of CXCR4-mediated growth-promoting signals *in vivo*. Elucidating other chemokine (such as CXCL11), cytokine (such as TNF- α , IFN- γ) and growth factor (such as TGF- β , IGF, VEGF) productions in either normal mouse adrenal gland or after implantation of CXCR4/CXCR7-expressing tumour cells will be essential to further characterize the CXCR7/CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in NB progression.

Altogether, our preliminary findings open new research perspectives for the complex role of the CXCR7 and CXCR4 chemokine receptors and their common ligand CXCL12 in the malignant behaviour of NB. Elucidating the contribution of the CXCR7/CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in NB growth and differentiation, and implicated mechanisms, may help to reveal news targets for novel therapeutic approaches.

Acknowledgement

First of all, I would like to thank my thesis director, Dr. Nicole Gross, for having given me the opportunity to carry out my PhD in her laboratory. She brought to my work both scientific support and human input, which were particularly impressive for me.

Furthermore, I would like to acknowledge all the other members of the thesis committee. First of all, I would like to thank Prof. Sergio Fanconi, who has agreed to be the co-Director of this thesis. I am very grateful to Prof. Curzio Rüegg for having given me the opportunity to participate at the progress reports of his laboratory, and for his continuous and valuable support and advices during my thesis. I also sincerely thank Dr. Marcus Thelen for having provided many tools which were indispensable for my work, for having taught me helpful tricks about the CXCR7 receptor, and particularly for his useful scientific input and feedback on this project.

I would also like to warmly thank all my colleagues in the Onco-hematology lab for listening and maternal care they gave during difficult periods of my thesis. My gratitude goes to Dr. Marjorie Flahaut-Chételat and Dr. Annick Mühlethaler-Mottet, for their kindness, their patience, their appreciable support and advices. A special thank goes to Katia Bourloud-Balmas and Katya Nardou-Auderset, for their availability, their essential help in performing *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments, their precious practical advices, and their support. Warm thanks to Dr Emma Garcia about whom I greatly appreciated the generosity, enthusiasm and for all unavoidable "chocolate-break" during rough time. Thanks to Dr. Jean-Marc Joseph for his support and for his help, especially for orthotopic injections. Thanks to Dr. Roland Meier for the support he gave me at the beginning of my thesis, and for having introduced me to the world of chemokine and their receptors. I would also like to thank Lucienne Lagopoulos, Dolores Mosig, Nadja, Gisèle and Nicolas for their kindness and their listening.

Finally, I want to more particularly acknowledge Aurélie Coulon, my lab acolyte, who coached me during the first steps of my thesis and made me discover the life in Lausanne. Beyond the work in the lab, we have developed a true and indispensable friendship. Thanks O. !

Among all the people I have crossed during my work, and who helped me with their precious expert eye, I would like to mention and thank Dr. Hervé Sartelet, from the institute of Pathology in CHU of Montreal, for having carried out all TMA analyses; Prof. Gilles Vassal, from the Institut Gustave Roussy in Paris, for having provided all TMA tools; Véronique Noguet, Dr. Pu Yan and Dr Maria-Chiara Osterheld, from the institute of Pathology at CHUV, for their valuable help in histological analyses; Dr. Alexandre Sarre, from the Cardiovascular Assessment Facility at CHUV, for having performed echographies on mice; and Jean-Christophe Stehle, from the mouse pathology of Lausanne, for all immunohistochemical analyses on mouse tissues.

I would like to warmly thank all the persons I have met in Lausanne, my friends, my "popiets", with whom I spent wonderful time here in Switzerland, and who supported me all that time.

My biggest thank belongs to Pierre for having encouraged me and giving me selfconfidence during all this work, and for his indispensable presence.

References

- (1) Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 2000 January 7;100(1):57-70.
- (2) Zimonjic D, Brooks MW, Popescu N, Weinberg RA, Hahn WC. Derivation of human tumor cells in vitro without widespread genomic instability. Cancer Res 2001 December 15;61(24):8838-44.
- (3) Liu J, Desai KV, Li Y, Banu S, Lee YK, Qu D, Heikkinen T, Aaltonen K, Muranen TA, Kajiji TS, Bonnard C, Aittomaki K, von SK, Blomqvist C, Hopper JL, Southey MC, Brauch H, Chenevix-Trench G, Beesley J, Spurdle AB, Chen X, Czene K, Hall P, Nevanlinna H, Liu ET. Germ-line variation at a functional p53 binding site increases susceptibility to breast cancer development. Hugo J 2009 December;3(1-4):31-40.
- (4) Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011 March 4;144(5):646-74.
- (5) Bissell MJ, Radisky D. Putting tumours in context. Nat Rev Cancer 2001 October;1(1):46-54.
- (6) Bissell MJ, Labarge MA. Context, tissue plasticity, and cancer: are tumor stem cells also regulated by the microenvironment? Cancer Cell 2005 January;7(1):17-23.
- (7) Whiteside TL. The tumor microenvironment and its role in promoting tumor growth. Oncogene 2008 October 6;27(45):5904-12.
- (8) Itano N, Zhuo L, Kimata K. Impact of the hyaluronan-rich tumor microenvironment on cancer initiation and progression. Cancer Sci 2008 June 16.
- (9) Radisky D, Muschler J, Bissell MJ. Order and disorder: the role of extracellular matrix in epithelial cancer. Cancer Invest 2002;20(1):139-53.
- (10) Dranoff G. Cytokines in cancer pathogenesis and cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 2004 January;4(1):11-22.
- (11) Szlosarek P, Charles KA, Balkwill FR. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha as a tumour promoter. Eur J Cancer 2006 April;42(6):745-50.
- (12) Knupfer H, Preiss R. Significance of interleukin-6 (IL-6) in breast cancer (review). Breast Cancer Res Treat 2007 April;102(2):129-35.
- (13) Fidler IJ. The organ microenvironment and cancer metastasis. Differentiation 2002 December;70(9-10):498-505.
- (14) Fidler IJ. The pathogenesis of cancer metastasis: the 'seed and soil' hypothesis revisited. Nat Rev Cancer 2003 June;3(6):453-8.

- (15) Liotta LA, Kohn EC. The microenvironment of the tumour-host interface. Nature 2001 May 17;411(6835):375-9.
- (16) Chambers AF, Groom AC, MacDonald IC. Dissemination and growth of cancer cells in metastatic sites. Nat Rev Cancer 2002 August;2(8):563-72.
- (17) Radinsky R, Ellis LM. Molecular determinants in the biology of liver metastasis. Surg Oncol Clin N Am 1996 April;5(2):215-29.
- (18) Stuelten CH, Busch JI, Tang B, Flanders KC, Oshima A, Sutton E, Karpova TS, Roberts AB, Wakefield LM, Niederhuber JE. Transient tumor-fibroblast interactions increase tumor cell malignancy by a TGF-Beta mediated mechanism in a mouse xenograft model of breast cancer. PLoS ONE 2010;5(3):e9832.
- (19) Vicari AP, Caux C. Chemokines in cancer. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 2002 April;13(2):143-54.
- (20) Baggiolini M, Dewald B, Moser B. Human chemokines: an update. Annu Rev Immunol 1997;15:675-705.
- (21) Proudfoot AE. Chemokine receptors: multifaceted therapeutic targets. Nat Rev Immunol 2002 February;2(2):106-15.
- (22) Sun X, Cheng G, Hao M, Zheng J, Zhou X, Zhang J, Taichman RS, Pienta KJ, Wang J. CXCL12 / CXCR4 / CXCR7 chemokine axis and cancer progression. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2010 December;29(4):709-22.
- (23) Rossi D, Zlotnik A. The biology of chemokines and their receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 2000;18:217-42.
- (24) Mellado M, Rodriguez-Frade JM, Manes S, Martinez A. Chemokine signaling and functional responses: the role of receptor dimerization and TK pathway activation. Annu Rev Immunol 2001;19:397-421.
- (25) Thelen M. Dancing to the tune of chemokines. Nat Immunol 2001 February;2(2):129-34.
- (26) Rot A, von Andrian UH. Chemokines in innate and adaptive host defense: basic chemokinese grammar for immune cells. Annu Rev Immunol 2004;22:891-928.
- (27) Somasundaram R, Herlyn D. Chemokines and the microenvironment in neuroectodermal tumor-host interaction. Semin Cancer Biol 2009 April;19(2):92-6.
- (28) Balkwill F. Chemokine biology in cancer. Semin Immunol 2003 February;15(1):49-55.
- (29) Homey B, Muller A, Zlotnik A. Chemokines: agents for the immunotherapy of cancer? Nat Rev Immunol 2002 March;2(3):175-84.
- (30) Payne AS, Cornelius LA. The role of chemokines in melanoma tumor growth and metastasis. J Invest Dermatol 2002 June;118(6):915-22.

- (31) Balkwill F. The significance of cancer cell expression of the chemokine receptor CXCR4. Semin Cancer Biol 2004 June;14(3):171-9.
- (32) Taichman RS, Cooper C, Keller ET, Pienta KJ, Taichman NS, McCauley LK. Use of the stromal cell-derived factor-1/CXCR4 pathway in prostate cancer metastasis to bone. Cancer Res 2002 March 15;62(6):1832-7.
- (33) Miao Z, Luker KE, Summers BC, Berahovich R, Bhojani MS, Rehemtulla A, Kleer CG, Essner JJ, Nasevicius A, Luker GD, Howard MC, Schall TJ. CXCR7 (RDC1) promotes breast and lung tumor growth in vivo and is expressed on tumor-associated vasculature. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007 October 2;104(40):15735-40.
- (34) Rubie C, Oliveira V, Kempf K, Wagner M, Tilton B, Rau B, Kruse B, Konig J, Schilling M. Involvement of chemokine receptor CCR6 in colorectal cancer metastasis. Tumour Biol 2006;27(3):166-74.
- (35) Zlotnik A. Chemokines in neoplastic progression. Semin Cancer Biol 2004 June;14(3):181-5.
- (36) Robledo MM, Bartolome RA, Longo N, Rodriguez-Frade JM, Mellado M, Longo I, van Muijen GN, Sanchez-Mateos P, Teixido J. Expression of functional chemokine receptors CXCR3 and CXCR4 on human melanoma cells. J Biol Chem 2001 November 30;276(48):45098-105.
- (37) Civenni G, Sommer L. Chemokines in neuroectodermal development and their potential implication in cancer stem cell-driven metastasis. Semin Cancer Biol 2009 April;19(2):68-75.
- (38) Singh S, Sadanandam A, Singh RK. Chemokines in tumor angiogenesis and metastasis. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2007 December;26(3-4):453-67.
- (39) Folkman J. Tumor angiogenesis. Adv Cancer Res 1985;43:175-203.
- (40) Folkman J. The role of angiogenesis in tumor growth. Semin Cancer Biol 1992 April;3(2):65-71.
- (41) Azenshtein E, Meshel T, Shina S, Barak N, Keydar I, Ben-Baruch A. The angiogenic factors CXCL8 and VEGF in breast cancer: regulation by an array of pro-malignancy factors. Cancer Lett 2005 January 10;217(1):73-86.
- (42) Loberg RD, Ying C, Craig M, Yan L, Snyder LA, Pienta KJ. CCL2 as an important mediator of prostate cancer growth in vivo through the regulation of macrophage infiltration. Neoplasia 2007 July;9(7):556-62.
- (43) Hensbergen PJ, Wijnands PG, Schreurs MW, Scheper RJ, Willemze R, Tensen CP. The CXCR3 targeting chemokine CXCL11 has potent antitumor activity in vivo involving attraction of CD8+ T lymphocytes but not inhibition of angiogenesis. J Immunother 2005 July;28(4):343-51.

- (44) Strieter RM, Kunkel SL, Arenberg DA, Burdick MD, Polverini PJ. Interferon gammainducible protein 10 (IP-10), a member of the C-X-C chemokine family, is an inhibitor of angiogenesis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1995 May 5;210(1):51-7.
- (45) Nagasawa T, Hirota S, Tachibana K, Takakura N, Nishikawa S, Kitamura Y, Yoshida N, Kikutani H, Kishimoto T. Defects of B-cell lymphopoiesis and bone-marrow myelopoiesis in mice lacking the CXC chemokine PBSF/SDF-1. Nature 1996 August 15;382(6592):635-8.
- (46) Grivel JC, Margolis LB. CCR5- and CXCR4-tropic HIV-1 are equally cytopathic for their T-cell targets in human lymphoid tissue. Nat Med 1999 March;5(3):344-6.
- (47) Lataillade JJ, Clay D, Dupuy C, Rigal S, Jasmin C, Bourin P, Le Bousse-Kerdiles MC. Chemokine SDF-1 enhances circulating CD34(+) cell proliferation in synergy with cytokines: possible role in progenitor survival. Blood 2000 February 1;95(3):756-68.
- (48) Lataillade JJ, Clay D, Bourin P, Herodin F, Dupuy C, Jasmin C, Le Bousse-Kerdiles MC. Stromal cell-derived factor 1 regulates primitive hematopoiesis by suppressing apoptosis and by promoting G(0)/G(1) transition in CD34(+) cells: evidence for an autocrine/paracrine mechanism. Blood 2002 February 15;99(4):1117-29.
- (49) Molyneaux KA, Zinszner H, Kunwar PS, Schaible K, Stebler J, Sunshine MJ, O'Brien W, Raz E, Littman D, Wylie C, Lehmann R. The chemokine SDF1/CXCL12 and its receptor CXCR4 regulate mouse germ cell migration and survival. Development 2003 September;130(18):4279-86.
- (50) Burger JA, Kipps TJ. CXCR4: a key receptor in the crosstalk between tumor cells and their microenvironment. Blood 2006 March 1;107(5):1761-7.
- (51) Muller A, Homey B, Soto H, Ge N, Catron D, Buchanan ME, McClanahan T, Murphy E, Yuan W, Wagner SN, Barrera JL, Mohar A, Verastegui E, Zlotnik A. Involvement of chemokine receptors in breast cancer metastasis. Nature 2001 March 1;410(6824):50-6.
- (52) Wang J, Wang J, Sun Y, Song W, Nor JE, Wang CY, Taichman RS. Diverse signaling pathways through the SDF-1/CXCR4 chemokine axis in prostate cancer cell lines leads to altered patterns of cytokine secretion and angiogenesis. Cell Signal 2005 December;17(12):1578-92.
- (53) Burns JM, Summers BC, Wang Y, Melikian A, Berahovich R, Miao Z, Penfold ME, Sunshine MJ, Littman DR, Kuo CJ, Wei K, McMaster BE, Wright K, Howard MC, Schall TJ. A novel chemokine receptor for SDF-1 and I-TAC involved in cell survival, cell adhesion, and tumor development. J Exp Med 2006 September 4;203(9):2201-13.
- (54) Balabanian K, Lagane B, Infantino S, Chow KY, Harriague J, Moepps B, renzana-Seisdedos F, Thelen M, Bachelerie F. The chemokine SDF-1/CXCL12 binds to and signals through the orphan receptor RDC1 in T lymphocytes. J Biol Chem 2005 October 21;280(42):35760-6.

- (55) Tiveron MC, Boutin C, Daou P, Moepps B, Cremer H. Expression and function of CXCR7 in the mouse forebrain. J Neuroimmunol 2010 July 27;224(1-2):72-9.
- (56) Schonemeier B, Kolodziej A, Schulz S, Jacobs S, Hoellt V, Stumm R. Regional and cellular localization of the CXCl12/SDF-1 chemokine receptor CXCR7 in the developing and adult rat brain. J Comp Neurol 2008 September 10;510(2):207-20.
- (57) Gerrits H, van Ingen Schenau DS, Bakker NE, van Disseldorp AJ, Strik A, Hermens LS, Koenen TB, Krajnc-Franken MA, Gossen JA. Early postnatal lethality and cardiovascular defects in CXCR7-deficient mice. Genesis 2008 May;46(5):235-45.
- (58) Yu S, Crawford D, Tsuchihashi T, Behrens TW, Srivastava D. The chemokine receptor CXCR7 functions to regulate cardiac valve remodeling. Dev Dyn 2011 February;240(2):384-93.
- (59) Sierro F, Biben C, Martinez-Munoz L, Mellado M, Ransohoff RM, Li M, Woehl B, Leung H, Groom J, Batten M, Harvey RP, Martinez A, Mackay CR, Mackay F. Disrupted cardiac development but normal hematopoiesis in mice deficient in the second CXCL12/SDF-1 receptor, CXCR7. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007 September 11;104(37):14759-64.
- (60) Mazzinghi B, Ronconi E, Lazzeri E, Sagrinati C, Ballerini L, Angelotti ML, Parente E, Mancina R, Netti GS, Becherucci F, Gacci M, Carini M, Gesualdo L, Rotondi M, Maggi E, Lasagni L, Serio M, Romagnani S, Romagnani P. Essential but differential role for CXCR4 and CXCR7 in the therapeutic homing of human renal progenitor cells. J Exp Med 2008 February 18;205(2):479-90.
- (61) Thelen M, Thelen S. CXCR7, CXCR4 and CXCL12: an eccentric trio? J Neuroimmunol 2008 July 31;198(1-2):9-13.
- (62) Odemis V, Lipfert J, Kraft R, Hajek P, Abraham G, Hattermann K, Mentlein R, Engele J. The presumed atypical chemokine receptor CXCR7 signals through G(i/o) proteins in primary rodent astrocytes and human glioma cells. Glia 2011 November 14.
- (63) Hartmann TN, Grabovsky V, Pasvolsky R, Shulman Z, Buss EC, Spiegel A, Nagler A, Lapidot T, Thelen M, Alon R. A crosstalk between intracellular CXCR7 and CXCR4 involved in rapid CXCL12-triggered integrin activation but not in chemokine-triggered motility of human T lymphocytes and CD34+ cells. J Leukoc Biol 2008 July 24.
- (64) Odemis V, Boosmann K, Heinen A, Kury P, Engele J. CXCR7 is an active component of SDF-1 signalling in astrocytes and Schwann cells. J Cell Sci 2010 April 1;123(Pt 7):1081-8.
- (65) Wang J, Shiozawa Y, Wang J, Wang Y, Jung Y, Pienta KJ, Mehra R, Loberg R, Taichman RS. The role of CXCR7/RDC1 as a chemokine receptor for CXCL12/SDF-1 in prostate cancer. J Biol Chem 2008 February 15;283(7):4283-94.
- (66) Billington CK, Penn RB. Signaling and regulation of G protein-coupled receptors in airway smooth muscle. Respir Res 2003;4:2.
- (67) Rajagopal S, Kim J, Ahn S, Craig S, Lam CM, Gerard NP, Gerard C, Lefkowitz RJ. Betaarrestin- but not G protein-mediated signaling by the "decoy" receptor CXCR7. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010 January 12;107(2):628-32.
- (68) Luker KE, Steele JM, Mihalko LA, Ray P, Luker GD. Constitutive and chemokinedependent internalization and recycling of CXCR7 in breast cancer cells to degrade chemokine ligands. Oncogene 2010 August 12;29(32):4599-610.
- (69) Boldajipour B, Mahabaleshwar H, Kardash E, Reichman-Fried M, Blaser H, Minina S, Wilson D, Xu Q, Raz E. Control of chemokine-guided cell migration by ligand sequestration. Cell 2008 February 8;132(3):463-73.
- (70) Dambly-Chaudiere C, Cubedo N, Ghysen A. Control of cell migration in the development of the posterior lateral line: antagonistic interactions between the chemokine receptors CXCR4 and CXCR7/RDC1. BMC Dev Biol 2007;7:23.
- (71) Valentin G, Haas P, Gilmour D. The chemokine SDF1a coordinates tissue migration through the spatially restricted activation of Cxcr7 and Cxcr4b. Curr Biol 2007 June 19;17(12):1026-31.
- (72) Naumann U, Cameroni E, Pruenster M, Mahabaleshwar H, Raz E, Zerwes HG, Rot A, Thelen M. CXCR7 functions as a scavenger for CXCL12 and CXCL11. PLoS ONE 2010;5(2):e9175.
- (73) Infantino S, Moepps B, Thelen M. Expression and regulation of the orphan receptor RDC1 and its putative ligand in human dendritic and B cells. J Immunol 2006 February 15;176(4):2197-207.
- (74) Kollmar O, Rupertus K, Scheuer C, Nickels RM, Haberl GC, Tilton B, Menger MD, Schilling MK. CXCR4 and CXCR7 regulate angiogenesis and CT26.WT tumor growth independent from SDF-1. Int J Cancer 2010 March 15;126(6):1302-15.
- (75) Zabel BA, Lewen S, Berahovich RD, Jaen JC, Schall TJ. The novel chemokine receptor CXCR7 regulates trans-endothelial migration of cancer cells. Mol Cancer 2011;10:73.
- (76) Hattermann K, Held-Feindt J, Lucius R, Muerkoster SS, Penfold ME, Schall TJ, Mentlein R. The chemokine receptor CXCR7 is highly expressed in human glioma cells and mediates antiapoptotic effects. Cancer Res 2010 April 15;70(8):3299-308.
- (77) Grymula K, Tarnowski M, Wysoczynski M, Drukala J, Barr FG, Ratajczak J, Kucia M, Ratajczak MZ. Overlapping and distinct role of CXCR7-SDF-1/ITAC and CXCR4-SDF-1 axes in regulating metastatic behavior of human rhabdomyosarcomas. Int J Cancer 2010 December 1;127(11):2554-68.
- (78) Scotting PJ, Walker DA, Perilongo G. Childhood solid tumours: a developmental disorder. Nat Rev Cancer 2005 June;5(6):481-8.

- (79) Parkin DM, Kramarova E, Draper D, Masuyer E, Michaelis J, Neglia J, Qureshi S, Stiller CA. International Incidence of Childhood Cancer. IARC scientific publications 1998;2(144).
- (80) Ciccarone V, Spengler BA, Meyers MB, Biedler JL, Ross RA. Phenotypic diversification in human neuroblastoma cells: expression of distinct neural crest lineages. Cancer Res 1989 January 1;49(1):219-25.
- (81) Dyer MA. Mouse models of childhood cancer of the nervous system. J Clin Pathol 2004 June;57(6):561-76.
- (82) Mora J, Gerald WL. Origin of neuroblastic tumors: clues for future therapeutics. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 2004 May;4(3):293-302.
- (83) Nakagawara A, Ohira M. Comprehensive genomics linking between neural development and cancer: neuroblastoma as a model. Cancer Lett 2004 February 20;204(2):213-24.
- (84) Brodeur G, Maris J. Neuroblastoma. Principles and practice of Pediatric Oncology 2006;933-70.
- (85) Brodeur GM. Neuroblastoma: biological insights into a clinical enigma. Nat Rev Cancer 2003 March;3(3):203-16.
- (86) Matthay KK. Neuroblastoma: biology and therapy. Oncology (Williston Park) 1997 December;11(12):1857-66.
- (87) Maris JM, Hogarty MD, Bagatell R, Cohn SL. Neuroblastoma. Lancet 2007 June 23;369(9579):2106-20.
- (88) Shimada H, Ambros IM, Dehner LP, Hata J, Joshi VV, Roald B. Terminology and morphologic criteria of neuroblastic tumors: recommendations by the International Neuroblastoma Pathology Committee. Cancer 1999 July 15;86(2):349-63.
- (89) Yasui Y, Ohta Y, Ueda Y, Hasegawa K, Kihara T, Hosoi M, Miyajima R, Shiga A, Imai K, Toyoda K. Spontaneous ganglioneuroma possibly originating from the trigeminal ganglion in a B6C3F1 mouse. Toxicol Pathol 2009;37(3):343-7.
- (90) Thiele CJ. Neuroblastoma. Human Cell Culture. JRW. Masters and B. Palsson ed. 1999. p. 21-53.
- (91) Seeger RC, Rayner SA, Banerjee A, Chung H, Laug WE, Neustein HB, Benedict WF. Morphology, growth, chromosomal pattern and fibrinolytic activity of two new human neuroblastoma cell lines. Cancer Res 1977 May;37(5):1364-71.
- (92) Hero B, Simon T, Horz S, Berthold F. Metastatic neuroblastoma in infancy: what does the pattern of metastases contribute to prognosis? Med Pediatr Oncol 2000 December;35(6):683-7.

- (93) Sartelet H, Ohta S, Barrette S, Rougemont AL, Brevet M, Regairaz M, Harvey I, Bernard C, Fabre M, Gaboury L, Oligny LL, Bosq J, Valteau-Couanet D, Vassal G. High level of apoptosis and low AKT activation in mass screening as opposed to standard neuroblastoma. Histopathology 2010 April;56(5):607-16.
- (94) Lastowska M, Cullinane C, Variend S, Cotterill S, Bown N, O'Neill S, Mazzocco K, Roberts P, Nicholson J, Ellershaw C, Pearson AD, Jackson MS. Comprehensive genetic and histopathologic study reveals three types of neuroblastoma tumors. J Clin Oncol 2001 June 15;19(12):3080-90.
- (95) Mosse YP, Greshock J, Margolin A, Naylor T, Cole K, Khazi D, Hii G, Winter C, Shahzad S, Asziz MU, Biegel JA, Weber BL, Maris JM. High-resolution detection and mapping of genomic DNA alterations in neuroblastoma. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 2005 August;43(4):390-403.
- (96) Schleiermacher G, Raynal V, Janoueix-Lerosey I, Combaret V, Aurias A, Delattre O. Variety and complexity of chromosome 17 translocations in neuroblastoma. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 2004 February;39(2):143-50.
- (97) Vandesompele J, Van RN, Van GM, Laureys G, Ambros P, Heimann P, Devalck C, Schuuring E, Brock P, Otten J, Gyselinck J, De PA, Speleman F. Genetic heterogeneity of neuroblastoma studied by comparative genomic hybridization. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 1998 October;23(2):141-52.
- (98) Attiyeh EF, London WB, Mosse YP, Wang Q, Winter C, Khazi D, McGrady PW, Seeger RC, Look AT, Shimada H, Brodeur GM, Cohn SL, Matthay KK, Maris JM. Chromosome 1p and 11q deletions and outcome in neuroblastoma. N Engl J Med 2005 November 24;353(21):2243-53.
- (99) Fong CT, White PS, Peterson K, Sapienza C, Cavenee WK, Kern SE, Vogelstein B, Cantor AB, Look AT, Brodeur GM. Loss of heterozygosity for chromosomes 1 or 14 defines subsets of advanced neuroblastomas. Cancer Res 1992 April 1;52(7):1780-5.
- (100) White PS, Thompson PM, Gotoh T, Okawa ER, Igarashi J, Kok M, Winter C, Gregory SG, Hogarty MD, Maris JM, Brodeur GM. Definition and characterization of a region of 1p36.3 consistently deleted in neuroblastoma. Oncogene 2005 April 14;24(16):2684-94.
- (101) Ejeskar K, Aburatani H, Abrahamsson J, Kogner P, Martinsson T. Loss of heterozygosity of 3p markers in neuroblastoma tumours implicate a tumoursuppressor locus distal to the FHIT gene. Br J Cancer 1998 June;77(11):1787-91.
- (102) Guo C, White PS, Weiss MJ, Hogarty MD, Thompson PM, Stram DO, Gerbing R, Matthay KK, Seeger RC, Brodeur GM, Maris JM. Allelic deletion at 11q23 is common in MYCN single copy neuroblastomas. Oncogene 1999 September 2;18(35):4948-57.
- (103) Srivatsan ES, Ying KL, Seeger RC. Deletion of chromosome 11 and of 14q sequences in neuroblastoma. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 1993 May;7(1):32-7.

- (104) Diskin SJ, Hou C, Glessner JT, Attiyeh EF, Laudenslager M, Bosse K, Cole K, Mosse YP, Wood A, Lynch JE, Pecor K, Diamond M, Winter C, Wang K, Kim C, Geiger EA, McGrady PW, Blakemore AI, London WB, Shaikh TH, Bradfield J, Grant SF, Li H, Devoto M, Rappaport ER et al. Copy number variation at 1q21.1 associated with neuroblastoma. Nature 2009 June 18;459(7249):987-91.
- (105) Islam A, Kageyama H, Takada N, Kawamoto T, Takayasu H, Isogai E, Ohira M, Hashizume K, Kobayashi H, Kaneko Y, Nakagawara A. High expression of Survivin, mapped to 17q25, is significantly associated with poor prognostic factors and promotes cell survival in human neuroblastoma. Oncogene 2000 February 3;19(5):617-23.
- (106) Janoueix-Lerosey I, Novikov E, Monteiro M, Gruel N, Schleiermacher G, Loriod B, Nguyen C, Delattre O. Gene expression profiling of 1p35-36 genes in neuroblastoma. Oncogene 2004 August 5;23(35):5912-22.
- (107) Lastowska M, Viprey V, Santibanez-Koref M, Wappler I, Peters H, Cullinane C, Roberts P, Hall AG, Tweddle DA, Pearson AD, Lewis I, Burchill SA, Jackson MS. Identification of candidate genes involved in neuroblastoma progression by combining genomic and expression microarrays with survival data. Oncogene 2007 May 28.
- (108) Kaneko Y, Kanda N, Maseki N, Sakurai M, Tsuchida Y, Takeda T, Okabe I, Sakurai M. Different karyotypic patterns in early and advanced stage neuroblastomas. Cancer Res 1987 January 1;47(1):311-8.
- (109) Kaneko Y, Knudson AG. Mechanism and relevance of ploidy in neuroblastoma. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 2000 October;29(2):89-95.
- (110) Look AT, Hayes FA, Shuster JJ, Douglass EC, Castleberry RP, Bowman LC, Smith EI, Brodeur GM. Clinical relevance of tumor cell ploidy and N-myc gene amplification in childhood neuroblastoma: a Pediatric Oncology Group study. J Clin Oncol 1991 April;9(4):581-91.
- (111) Ho R, Eggert A, Hishiki T, Minturn JE, Ikegaki N, Foster P, Camoratto AM, Evans AE, Brodeur GM. Resistance to chemotherapy mediated by TrkB in neuroblastomas. Cancer Res 2002 November 15;62(22):6462-6.
- (112) Nakagawara A, Azar CG, Scavarda NJ, Brodeur GM. Expression and function of TRK-B and BDNF in human neuroblastomas. Mol Cell Biol 1994 January;14(1):759-67.
- (113) Nakagawara A, Arima-Nakagawara M, Azar CG, Scavarda NJ, Brodeur GM. Clinical significance of expression of neurotrophic factors and their receptors in neuroblastoma. Prog Clin Biol Res 1994;385:155-61.
- (114) Nakagawara A. The NGF story and neuroblastoma. Med Pediatr Oncol 1998 August;31(2):113-5.

- (115) Brodeur GM, Minturn JE, Ho R, Simpson AM, Iyer R, Varela CR, Light JE, Kolla V, Evans AE. Trk receptor expression and inhibition in neuroblastomas. Clin Cancer Res 2009 May 15;15(10):3244-50.
- (116) Nakagawara A, Arima-Nakagawara M, Scavarda NJ, Azar CG, Cantor AB, Brodeur GM. Association between high levels of expression of the TRK gene and favorable outcome in human neuroblastoma. N Engl J Med 1993 March 25;328(12):847-54.
- (117) Hiyama E, Hiyama K, Yokoyama T, Matsuura Y, Piatyszek MA, Shay JW. Correlating telomerase activity levels with human neuroblastoma outcomes. Nat Med 1995 March;1(3):249-55.
- (118) Flahaut M, Muhlethaler-Mottet A, Martinet D, Fattet S, Bourloud KB, Auderset K, Meier R, Schmutz NB, Delattre O, Joseph JM, Gross N. Molecular cytogenetic characterization of doxorubicin-resistant neuroblastoma cell lines: evidence that acquired multidrug resistance results from a unique large amplification of the 7q21 region. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 2006 May;45(5):495-508.
- (119) Chan HS, Haddad G, Thorner PS, DeBoer G, Lin YP, Ondrusek N, Yeger H, Ling V. Pglycoprotein expression as a predictor of the outcome of therapy for neuroblastoma. N Engl J Med 1991 December 5;325(23):1608-14.
- (120) Combaret V, Gross N, Lasset C, Frappaz D, Peruisseau G, Philip T, Beck D, Favrot MC. Clinical relevance of CD44 cell-surface expression and N-myc gene amplification in a multicentric analysis of 121 pediatric neuroblastomas. J Clin Oncol 1996 January;14(1):25-34.
- (121) Goldstein LJ, Fojo AT, Ueda K, Crist W, Green A, Brodeur G, Pastan I, Gottesman MM. Expression of the multidrug resistance, MDR1, gene in neuroblastomas. J Clin Oncol 1990 January;8(1):128-36.
- (122) Gross N, Balmas K, Brognara CB. Absence of functional CD44 hyaluronan receptor on human NMYC-amplified neuroblastoma cells. Cancer Res 1997 April 1;57(7):1387-93.
- (123) Haber M, Smith J, Bordow SB, Flemming C, Cohn SL, London WB, Marshall GM, Norris MD. Association of high-level MRP1 expression with poor clinical outcome in a large prospective study of primary neuroblastoma. J Clin Oncol 2006 April 1;24(10):1546-53.
- (124) Mosse YP, Laudenslager M, Longo L, Cole KA, Wood A, Attiyeh EF, Laquaglia MJ, Sennett R, Lynch JE, Perri P, Laureys G, Speleman F, Kim C, Hou C, Hakonarson H, Torkamani A, Schork NJ, Brodeur GM, Tonini GP, Rappaport E, Devoto M, Maris JM. Identification of ALK as a major familial neuroblastoma predisposition gene. Nature 2008 October 16;455(7215):930-5.
- (125) Janoueix-Lerosey I, Lequin D, Brugieres L, Ribeiro A, de PL, Combaret V, Raynal V, Puisieux A, Schleiermacher G, Pierron G, Valteau-Couanet D, Frebourg T, Michon J, Lyonnet S, Amiel J, Delattre O. Somatic and germline activating mutations of the ALK kinase receptor in neuroblastoma. Nature 2008 October 16;455(7215):967-70.

- (126) Chen Y, Takita J, Choi YL, Kato M, Ohira M, Sanada M, Wang L, Soda M, Kikuchi A, Igarashi T, Nakagawara A, Hayashi Y, Mano H, Ogawa S. Oncogenic mutations of ALK kinase in neuroblastoma. Nature 2008 October 16;455(7215):971-4.
- (127) George RE, Sanda T, Hanna M, Frohling S, Luther W, Zhang J, Ahn Y, Zhou W, London WB, McGrady P, Xue L, Zozulya S, Gregor VE, Webb TR, Gray NS, Gilliland DG, Diller L, Greulich H, Morris SW, Meyerson M, Look AT. Activating mutations in ALK provide a therapeutic target in neuroblastoma. Nature 2008 October 16;455(7215):975-8.
- (128) Ross RA, Spengler BA, Domenech C, Porubcin M, Rettig WJ, Biedler JL. Human neuroblastoma I-type cells are malignant neural crest stem cells. Cell Growth Differ 1995 April;6(4):449-56.
- (129) Ross RA, Spengler BA, Rettig WJ, Biedler JL. Differentiation-inducing agents stably convert human neuroblastoma I-type cells to neuroblastic (N) or nonneuronal (S) neural crest cells. Prog Clin Biol Res 1994;385:253-9.
- (130) Gross N, Meier R. Chemokines in neuroectodermal cancers: The crucial growth signal from the soil. Semin Cancer Biol 2008 October 28.
- (131) Ferrer FA, Pantschenko AG, Miller LJ, Anderson K, Grunnet M, McKenna PH, Kreutzer D. Angiogenesis and neuroblastomas: interleukin-8 and interleukin-8 receptor expression in human neuroblastoma. J Urol 2000 September;164(3 Pt 2):1016-20.
- (132) Cartier L, Dubois-Dauphin M, Hartley O, Irminger-Finger I, Krause KH. Chemokineinduced cell death in CCR5-expressing neuroblastoma cells. J Neuroimmunol 2003 December;145(1-2):27-39.
- (133) Airoldi I, Cocco C, Morandi F, Prigione I, Pistoia V. CXCR5 may be involved in the attraction of human metastatic neuroblastoma cells to the bone marrow. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2008 April;57(4):541-8.
- (134) Del GF, Coco S, Scaruffi P, Stigliani S, Valdora F, Benelli R, Salvi S, Boccardo S, Truini M, Croce M, Ferrini S, Longo L, Tonini GP. Role of CXCL13-CXCR5 Crosstalk Between Malignant Neuroblastoma Cells and Schwannian Stromal Cells in Neuroblastic Tumors. Mol Cancer Res 2011 July;9(7):815-23.
- (135) Goldberg-Bittman L, Sagi-Assif O, Meshel T, Nevo I, Levy-Nissenbaum O, Yron I, Witz IP, Ben-Baruch A. Cellular characteristics of neuroblastoma cells: regulation by the ELR--CXC chemokine CXCL10 and expression of a CXCR3-like receptor. Cytokine 2005 February 7;29(3):105-17.
- (136) Russell HV, Hicks J, Okcu MF, Nuchtern JG. CXCR4 expression in neuroblastoma primary tumors is associated with clinical presentation of bone and bone marrow metastases. J Pediatr Surg 2004 October;39(10):1506-11.
- (137) Meier R, Muhlethaler-Mottet A, Flahaut M, Coulon A, Fusco C, Louache F, Auderset K, Bourloud KB, Daudigeos E, Ruegg C, Vassal G, Gross N, Joseph JM. The Chemokine

Receptor CXCR4 Strongly Promotes Neuroblastoma Primary Tumour and Metastatic Growth, but not Invasion. PLoS ONE 2007;2(10):e1016.

- (138) Geminder H, Sagi-Assif O, Goldberg L, Meshel T, Rechavi G, Witz IP, Ben Baruch A. A possible role for CXCR4 and its ligand, the CXC chemokine stromal cell-derived factor-1, in the development of bone marrow metastases in neuroblastoma. J Immunol 2001 October 15;167(8):4747-57.
- (139) Nevo I, Sagi-Assif O, Meshel T, Geminder H, Goldberg-Bittman L, Ben-Menachem S, Shalmon B, Goldberg I, Ben-Baruch A, Witz IP. The tumor microenvironment: CXCR4 is associated with distinct protein expression patterns in neuroblastoma cells. Immunol Lett 2004 March 29;92(1-2):163-9.
- (140) Vitali R, Cesi V, Nicotra MR, McDowell HP, Donfrancesco A, Mannarino O, Natali PG, Raschella G, Dominici C. c-Kit is preferentially expressed in MYCN-amplified neuroblastoma and its effect on cell proliferation is inhibited in vitro by STI-571. Int J Cancer 2003 August 20;106(2):147-52.
- (141) Carmeliet P. Angiogenesis in cancer and other diseases. Nature Insight 2000;407(6801):249-57.
- (142) Zeelenberg IS, Ruuls-Van Stalle L, Roos E. The chemokine receptor CXCR4 is required for outgrowth of colon carcinoma micrometastases. Cancer Res 2003 July 1;63(13):3833-9.
- (143) Airoldi I, Raffaghello L, Piovan E, Cocco C, Carlini B, Amadori A, Corrias MV, Pistoia V. CXCL12 does not attract CXCR4+ human metastatic neuroblastoma cells: clinical implications. Clin Cancer Res 2006 January 1;12(1):77-82.
- (144) Arscott WT, LaBauve AE, May V, Wesley UV. Suppression of neuroblastoma growth by dipeptidyl peptidase IV: relevance of chemokine regulation and caspase activation. Oncogene 2009 January 29;28(4):479-91.
- (145) Scaruffi P, Morandi F, Gallo F, Stigliani S, Parodi S, Moretti S, Bonassi S, Fardin P, Garaventa A, Zanazzo G, Pistoia V, Tonini GP, Corrias MV. Bone marrow of neuroblastoma patients shows downregulation of CXCL12 expression and presence of IFN signature. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2011 October 12.
- (146) Joseph JM, Gross N, Lassau N, Rouffiac V, Opolon P, Laudani L, Auderset K, Geay JF, Muhlethaler-Mottet A, Vassal G. In vivo echographic evidence of tumoral vascularization and microenvironment interactions in metastatic orthotopic human neuroblastoma xenografts. Int J Cancer 2005 March 1;113(6):881-90.
- (147) Ma M, Ye JY, Deng R, Dee CM, Chan GC. Mesenchymal stromal cells may enhance metastasis of neuroblastoma via SDF-1/CXCR4 and SDF-1/CXCR7 signaling. Cancer Lett 2011 July 7.

- (148) Li JK, Yu L, Shen Y, Zhou LS, Wang YC, Zhang JH. Inhibition of CXCR4 activity with AMD3100 decreases invasion of human colorectal cancer cells in vitro. World J Gastroenterol 2008 April 21;14(15):2308-13.
- (149) Kaighn ME, Narayan KS, Ohnuki Y, Lechner JF, Jones LW. Establishment and characterization of a human prostatic carcinoma cell line (PC-3). Invest Urol 1979 July;17(1):16-23.
- (150) Biber K, Dijkstra I, Trebst C, De Groot CJ, Ransohoff RM, Boddeke HW. Functional expression of CXCR3 in cultured mouse and human astrocytes and microglia. Neuroscience 2002;112(3):487-97.
- (151) Gross N, Beck D, Favre S, Carrel S. In vitro antigenic modulation of human neuroblastoma cells induced by IFN-gamma, retinoic acid and dibutyryl cyclic AMP. Int J Cancer 1987 April 15;39(4):521-9.
- (152) de TC, Beleta H, Diaz R, Toran N, Rodriguez E, Lavarino C, Garcia I, Acosta S, Sunol M, Mora J. The calcium-sensing receptor and parathyroid hormone-related protein are expressed in differentiated, favorable neuroblastic tumors. Cancer 2009 June 15;115(12):2792-803.
- (153) Pahlman S, Ruusala AI, Abrahamsson L, Mattsson ME, Esscher T. Retinoic acidinduced differentiation of cultured human neuroblastoma cells: a comparison with phorbolester-induced differentiation. Cell Differ 1984 June;14(2):135-44.
- (154) Kim B, van Golen CM, Feldman EL. Insulin-like growth factor-I signaling in human neuroblastoma cells. Oncogene 2004 January 8;23(1):130-41.
- (155) Richards KN, Zweidler-McKay PA, Van RN, Speleman F, Trevino J, Zage PE, Hughes DP. Signaling of ERBB receptor tyrosine kinases promotes neuroblastoma growth in vitro and in vivo. Cancer 2010 July 1;116(13):3233-43.
- (156) Hamburger AW, Salmon SE. Primary bioassay of human tumor stem cells. Science 1977 July 29;197(4302):461-3.
- (157) Carlisle AJ, Lyttle CA, Carlisle RY, Maris JM. CXCR4 expression heterogeneity in neuroblastoma cells due to ligand-independent regulation. Mol Cancer 2009;8:126.
- (158) Acosta S, Lavarino C, Paris R, Garcia I, de TC, Rodriguez E, Beleta H, Mora J. Comprehensive characterization of neuroblastoma cell line subtypes reveals bilineage potential similar to neural crest stem cells. BMC Dev Biol 2009;9:12.
- (159) Walton JD, Kattan DR, Thomas SK, Spengler BA, Guo HF, Biedler JL, Cheung NK, Ross RA. Characteristics of stem cells from human neuroblastoma cell lines and in tumors. Neoplasia 2004 November;6(6):838-45.
- (160) Hasegawa G, Minami N, Kushida A, Inuyama H, Koga M, Wakabayashi K, Saito Y. Human neuroblastoma GOTO cells express CD44 and localize it into lipid rafts upon differentiation into Schwannian cells. Cell Biol Int 2005 March;29(3):193-202.

- (161) Sugimoto T, Kato T, Sawada T, Horii Y, Kemshead JT, Hino T, Morioka H, Hosoi H. Schwannian cell differentiation of human neuroblastoma cell lines in vitro induced by bromodeoxyuridine. Cancer Res 1988 May 1;48(9):2531-7.
- (162) Wachs FP, Couillard-Despres S, Engelhardt M, Wilhelm D, Ploetz S, Vroemen M, Kaesbauer J, Uyanik G, Klucken J, Karl C, Tebbing J, Svendsen C, Weidner N, Kuhn HG, Winkler J, Aigner L. High efficacy of clonal growth and expansion of adult neural stem cells. Lab Invest 2003 July;83(7):949-62.
- (163) Hsu WM, Lee H, Juan HF, Shih YY, Wang BJ, Pan CY, Jeng YM, Chang HH, Lu MY, Lin KH, Lai HS, Chen WJ, Tsay YG, Liao YF, Hsieh FJ. Identification of GRP75 as an independent favorable prognostic marker of neuroblastoma by a proteomics analysis. Clin Cancer Res 2008 October 1;14(19):6237-45.
- (164) Boudot A, Kerdivel G, Habauzit D, Eeckhoute J, Le DF, Flouriot G, Samson M, Pakdel F. Differential estrogen-regulation of CXCL12 chemokine receptors, CXCR4 and CXCR7, contributes to the growth effect of estrogens in breast cancer cells. PLoS ONE 2011;6(6):e20898.
- (165) Shim H, Oishi S, Fujii N. Chemokine Receptor CXCR4 as a Therapeutic Target for Neuroectodermal Tumors. Semin Cancer Biol 2009.
- (166) Carnero A, Blanco-Aparicio C, Renner O, Link W, Leal JF. The PTEN/PI3K/AKT signalling pathway in cancer, therapeutic implications. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 2008 May;8(3):187-98.
- (167) Monnier J, Boissan M, L'helgoualc'h A, Lacombe ML, Turlin B, Zucman-Rossi J, Theret N, Piquet-Pellorce C, Samson M. CXCR7 is up-regulated in human and murine hepatocellular carcinoma and is specifically expressed by endothelial cells. Eur J Cancer 2011 July 19.
- (168) Kryczek I, Lange A, Mottram P, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Hogan M, Moons L, Wei S, Zou L, Machelon V, Emilie D, Terrassa M, Lackner A, Curiel TJ, Carmeliet P, Zou W. CXCL12 and vascular endothelial growth factor synergistically induce neoangiogenesis in human ovarian cancers. Cancer Res 2005 January 15;65(2):465-72.
- (169) Guleng B, Tateishi K, Ohta M, Kanai F, Jazag A, Ijichi H, Tanaka Y, Washida M, Morikane K, Fukushima Y, Yamori T, Tsuruo T, Kawabe T, Miyagishi M, Taira K, Sata M, Omata M. Blockade of the stromal cell-derived factor-1/CXCR4 axis attenuates in vivo tumor growth by inhibiting angiogenesis in a vascular endothelial growth factorindependent manner. Cancer Res 2005 July 1;65(13):5864-71.
- (170) Hansen RK, Bissell MJ. Tissue architecture and breast cancer: the role of extracellular matrix and steroid hormones. Endocr Relat Cancer 2000 June;7(2):95-113.
- (171) Levenberg S, Huang NF, Lavik E, Rogers AB, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Langer R. Differentiation of human embryonic stem cells on three-dimensional polymer scaffolds. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003 October 28;100(22):12741-6.

- (172) Li ML, Aggeler J, Farson DA, Hatier C, Hassell J, Bissell MJ. Influence of a reconstituted basement membrane and its components on casein gene expression and secretion in mouse mammary epithelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1987 January;84(1):136-40.
- (173) Winters BS, Raj BK, Robinson EE, Foty RA, Corbett SA. Three-dimensional culture regulates Raf-1 expression to modulate fibronectin matrix assembly. Mol Biol Cell 2006 August;17(8):3386-96.
- (174) Hwang SJ, Song YM, Cho TH, Kim RY, Lee TH, Kim SJ, Seo YK, Kim IS. The Implications of the Response of Human Mesenchymal Stromal Cells in Three Dimensional Culture to Electrical Stimulation for Tissue Regeneration. Tissue Eng Part A 2011 September 13.
- (175) Peng SB, Peek V, Zhai Y, Paul DC, Lou Q, Xia X, Eessalu T, Kohn W, Tang S. Akt activation, but not extracellular signal-regulated kinase activation, is required for SDF-1alpha/CXCR4-mediated migration of epitheloid carcinoma cells. Mol Cancer Res 2005 April;3(4):227-36.
- (176) Barbero S, Bonavia R, Bajetto A, Porcile C, Pirani P, Ravetti JL, Zona GL, Spaziante R, Florio T, Schettini G. Stromal cell-derived factor 1alpha stimulates human glioblastoma cell growth through the activation of both extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1/2 and Akt. Cancer Res 2003 April 15;63(8):1969-74.
- (177) Miekus K, Jarocha D, Trzyna E, Majka M. Role of I-TAC-binding receptors CXCR3 and CXCR7 in proliferation, activation of intracellular signaling pathways and migration of various tumor cell lines. Folia Histochem Cytobiol 2010 January 1;48(1):104-11.
- (178) Singh RK, Lokeshwar BL. The IL-8-regulated chemokine receptor CXCR7 stimulates EGFR signaling to promote prostate cancer growth. Cancer Res 2011 May 1;71(9):3268-77.
- (179) Cruz-Orengo L, Holman DW, Dorsey D, Zhou L, Zhang P, Wright M, McCandless EE, Patel JR, Luker GD, Littman DR, Russell JH, Klein RS. CXCR7 influences leukocyte entry into the CNS parenchyma by controlling abluminal CXCL12 abundance during autoimmunity. J Exp Med 2011 February 14;208(2):327-39.
- (180) Levoye A, Balabanian K, Baleux F, Bachelerie F, Lagane B. CXCR7 heterodimerizes with CXCR4 and regulates CXCL12-mediated G protein signaling. Blood 2009 June 11;113(24):6085-93.
- (181) Breitwieser GE. G protein-coupled receptor oligomerization: implications for G protein activation and cell signaling. Circ Res 2004 January 9;94(1):17-27.
- (182) Mellado M, Rodriguez-Frade JM, Vila-Coro AJ, Fernandez S, Martin de AA, Jones DR, Toran JL, Martinez A. Chemokine receptor homo- or heterodimerization activates distinct signaling pathways. EMBO J 2001 May 15;20(10):2497-507.

- (183) Decaillot FM, Kazmi MA, Lin Y, Ray-Saha S, Sakmar TP, Sachdev P. CXCR7/CXCR4 heterodimer constitutively recruits {beta}-arrestin to enhance cell migration. J Biol Chem 2011 July 5.
- (184) Angers S, Salahpour A, Bouvier M. Dimerization: an emerging concept for G proteincoupled receptor ontogeny and function. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 2002;42:409-35.
- (185) Horiuchi M, Hayashida W, Akishita M, Tamura K, Daviet L, Lehtonen JY, Dzau VJ. Stimulation of different subtypes of angiotensin II receptors, AT1 and AT2 receptors, regulates STAT activation by negative crosstalk. Circ Res 1999 April 30;84(8):876-82.
- (186) Krieg C, Boyman O. The role of chemokines in cancer immune surveillance by the adaptive immune system. Semin Cancer Biol 2009.
- (187) Mantovani A, Locati M, Vecchi A, Sozzani S, Allavena P. Decoy receptors: a strategy to regulate inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. Trends Immunol 2001 June;22(6):328-36.
- (188) feng LY, Ou ZL, Wu FY, Shen ZZ, Shao ZM. Involvement of a novel chemokine decoy receptor CCX-CKR in breast cancer growth, metastasis and patient survival. Clin Cancer Res 2009 May 1;15(9):2962-70.

Annexe: Chemokines and their cognate receptors

Most chemokines can bind multiple receptors, and a single receptor can bind multiple chemokines. Decoy receptors can also interact with multiple chemokines. By contrast, a minority of specific chemokine receptors binds to only one ligand (22;27;130;186-188).

| | Chemokine Receptors | Chemokine Ligands |
|--------------------|---------------------|-------------------------------|
| Specific receptors | CCR9 | CCL25 |
| | CCR6 | CCL20 |
| | CXCR5 | CXCL13 |
| | CXCR6 | CXCL16 |
| | CX3CR1 | CX3CL1 |
| | CXCR4 | CXCL12 |
| Shared receptors | XCR1 | XCL1, XCL2 |
| | CXCR1 | CXCL6,8 |
| | CXCR2 | CXCL1,2,3,5,6,7,8 |
| | CXCR3 | CXCL4,9,10,11 |
| | | CXCL4L1 |
| | CCR1 | CCL3,4,5,7,14,15,16,23 |
| | CCR2 | CCL2,7,8,12,13,16 |
| | CCR3 | CCL5,7,11,13,15,24,26,28 |
| | CCR4 | CCL2,3,5,7,17,22 |
| | CCR5 | CCL3,4,5,8,11,14,16 |
| | CCR7 | CCL19,21 |
| | CCR8 | CCL1,4,17 |
| | CCR10 | CCL27,28 |
| Decoy receptors | CCX-CKR | CCL19,21,25 |
| | | CXCL13 |
| | DARC | CCL2,5,11,13,14 |
| | | CXCL1,2,3,7,8 |
| | D6 | CCL2,3,4,5,7,8,12,13,14,17,22 |
| | CXCR7 | CXCL12,11 |

CURRICULUM VITAE

PERSONAL

| Name: | Julie Liberman |
|-----------------|--|
| Date of birth: | 24.09.1983 |
| Place of birth: | Paray-Le-Monial, France |
| Address: | Avenue de la Vallonnette 17 |
| | 1012 Lausanne, Switzerland |
| Tel.: | Home: 0041 (0)21 311 25 26, Mobile: 0041 (0)76 242 14 61 |
| e-mail: | ju.liberman@gmail.com |

EDUCATION

| 03.2012 | Awarded a doctorate in Life Sciences (PhD) by the Doctoral School of the Faculty |
|-----------|--|
| | of Biology and Medicine, University of Lausanne, Switzerland. |
| 2007-2012 | PhD project entitled "The CXCR7/CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in human neuroblastoma: |
| | involvement in malignant progression". Group of Dr. Nicole Gross, Paediatric |
| | Oncology Research Unit, Department of Paediatrics, University Hospital (CHUV), |
| | University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland. |
| 07.2007 | Awarded the French elite postgraduate diploma "Diplôme d'Ingénieur Chimiste", |
| | and the M.Sc. "Bio-Med", Montpellier, France |
| 2006-2007 | M.Sc. "Bio-Med" in "Biology and Health" (2^{nd} year), at the Ecole Nationale |
| | Supérieure de Chimie de Montpellier and the University Montpellier I&II, |
| | Montpellier, France |
| 2003-2006 | Third to fifth academic years at the Ecole Nationale Supérieure de Chimie de |
| | Montpellier (the Top Graduate School of Chemistry, Montpellier), i.e. a French |
| | highly selective academic institute of science and technology which educates |
| | industry's future top executives, who are both graduate chemists and managers. |
| | Specialization: Biochemistry |
| 2001-2003 | Post-high school advanced mathematics, physics and chemistry classes in highly |
| | selective preparatory classes leading to the competitive entrance examination to |
| | French institutes of science and technology, Lycée La Martinière Monplaisir, Lyon, |
| | France |
| | |

06.2001 French Baccalauréat in sciences, i.e. Honours Class High School Leaving Diploma in chemistry (A), mathematics (A), physics (A), biology (A), English (B), Digoin, France

INTERNSHIPS

2007 (6 months) **M.Sc professional training (2nd year),** in the Group « Tumor identity and Plasticity » of Dr. C. Theillet, Cancer Research Center of Montpellier, Montpellier, France
<u>Objective</u>: Study of the Slug transcription factor involvement in early epithelial

differentiation using a 3D model of mammary morphogenesis

2006 (6 months) Engineer professional training, in the non-governmental organization (NGO) "Archipelagos", a scientific research institute for conservation of the marine and terrestrial environments of the Greek seas and islands, Ikaria, Greece <u>Objective</u>: Analyses of soil and water quality

2005 (4 months) Engineer professional training, in the department of « Agrotechnology & Food Innovations », Wageningen Food & Biobased Research Center, Wageningen University, Wageningen, Netherlands Objective: Purification and characterization of mushroom tyrosinase

2004 (3 months) **Technician professional training,** in the department of « Advanced Methods for Innovation in Science", International Research Center for Agricultural and Development issues (« CIRAD »), Montpellier, France *Objective: Synthesis and HPLC analyses of omega 3-enriched oils*

2003 (1 month) Technician professional training, in the "Laboratory of Aminoacids, Peptides and Proteins" (LAPP), UMR 5810, National Center for Scientific Research (CNRS), Montpellier University I & II, Montpellier, France
 <u>Objective</u>: Solid-phase peptide synthesis, purification and HPLC analyses of peptides

SCIENTIFIC SKILLS

- Molecular biology: Protein and RNA extractions from cultured cells and frozen tissues, reversetranscriptase PCR, real-time PCR (TaqMan© technology), Western Blot, ELISA, DNA cloning and purification, primer design, plasmid construct, lentiviral- and retroviral-mediated infections
- Cell biology:Cell line culture, immunofluorescence staining on living and fixed cells, flow
cytometry and cell sorting, cell viability assay, apoptosis (PI staining) assay,
drug resistance assay, soft agar assay, migration and wound healing assays
- <u>In vivo experiment</u>: Sub-cutaneous and orthotopic tumour resection (mouse models), preparation of paraffin-embedded sections, sectioning of frozen tissues (cryostat)
- Microscopy:
 Leica© DM2000 microscope for natural and fluorescence conditions, camera

 imaging and analysis with LAS 6000 AF software
- <u>Chemistry</u>: Solid-phase peptide synthesis, HPLC, thin layer chromatography, electrophoresis, enzyme kinetics analyses
- <u>Computer skills</u>: Microsoft Office (Word, Excel, Power-Point), Adobe Photoshop, Adobe Illustrator, GraphPad Prism

GRANTS

2007-2012 Research grants from the National Found for Research (FNS), from FORCE Foundation for Children Cancer Research, and from the Hubert Gouin association (CH)

PUBLICATIONS

- Involvement of the CXCR7/CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in the malignant progression of human neuroblastoma. <u>Liberman J</u>, Sartelet H, Flahaut M, Mühlethaler-Mottet A, Coulon A, Nyalendo C, Vassal G, Joseph JM, Gross N. (in submission)
- Functional sphere profiling reveals the complexity of neuroblastoma tumor-initiating cell model. Coulon A, Flahaut M, Mühlethaler-Mottet A, Meier R, Liberman J, Balmas-Bourloud K, Nardou K, Yan P, Tercier S, Joseph JM, Sommer L, Gross N. Neoplasia. 2011 October 13.
- Individual caspase-10 isoforms play distinct and opposing roles in the initiation of death receptor-mediated tumour cell apoptosis. *Mühlethaler-Mottet A, Flahaut M, Bourloud KB, Nardou K, Coulon A, Liberman J, Thome M, Gross N.* Cell Death Dis. 2011 March 3.

CONGRESS PARTICIPATIONS

Abstracts selected for oral presentations:

2010 Swiss Pediatric Oncology group (SPOG) Scientific Meeting, Lugano, Switzerland. "The CXCL12/CXCR4/CXCR7 axis in human neuroblastoma: involvement in malignant progression". J. Liberman
 Annual research day of the young researchers in paediatrics', Montana, Switzerland. "Molecular and Functional Characterization of Neuroblastoma Initiating Cells: Methods

and Issues" A. Coulon, M. Flahaut, A. Mülhethaler-Mottet, <u>J.Liberman</u>, G. Kiowski, L. Sommer and N. Gross

2009 Swiss Pediatric Oncology group (SPOG) Scientific Meeting, Lugano, Switzerland. "The CXCL12/CXCR4/CXCR7 axis in human neuroblastoma: involvement in malignant progression". J. Liberman.

Annual research day of the young researchers in paediatrics' 2009, St Gallen, Switzerland. "The CXCL12/CXCR4/CXCR7 axis in human neuroblastoma: involvement in malignant progression". J. Liberman, R. Meier, T. Sengstag, M. Flahaut, A. Mühlethaler-Mottet, A. Coulon, JM. Josep, N. Gross.

LANGUAGES

| French | Native |
|---------|--|
| English | Fluent (read, written and spoken), TOEIC: 915/990 points |
| Italian | Beginner level |